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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of the directors (the
“Directors”) of HealthyWay Inc. (the “Company”, together with
its subsidiaries, the “Group”), | am pleased to present the annual
report of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2024 (the
“Year").

This is our first annual report since our listing on 30 December
2024 (the “Listing Date"”). The successful listing (“Listing”) of
our shares on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) marked a new chapter of
the Group and has opened up new opportunities for our growth.

As a pioneer of digital health and medical services in China, we
have participated in the major digital transformations of China’s
health and wellness industry over the last two decades. We
are committed to guide and support patients at each stage of
their health and disease management, from initial consultation
to claims processing, and from disease and medical expense
information to treatment options and medicine purchase. We also
strive to reduce the trouble and inconvenience of people seeking
health and medical resources throughout their experience from in-
hospital visits to out-of-hospital healthcare fulfillment.

Last year, our business operations continued to grow. The number
of registered individual users on our platform increased by 10.5%
and the number of our registered physicians increased by 58.8%.
The number of hospitals connected to our platform also increased
by 59.7% in 2024.

We continued to receive awards and accolades from various
organizations and authorities. We were named by the Office
of the Leading Group for Digital Fujian Construction in Fujian
Province (BEEHFTREREREZ /NEI R E) as one of the
Future Unicorn Innovative Enterprises of Digital Economy in Fujian
Province (182 & B F A BB AR B A | %) in 2024.
We were also ranked as one of the Top 100 Medical Services
Companies on China Future Healthcare Rankings (K& E&& — F
[ B8 7 B2 21l %7 AR 75455 10034) in 2024 by VBDATA.cn (EDARAY). In
addition, we were recognized as a Leading Enterprise in Software
Industry of Fuzhou City (f8N T EX{4F ZBEZE (B %) by the Bureau of
Industry and Information Technology of Fuzhou City (&8 L%
FESMEB) in 2024.

CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT
EEHE
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EEHE

The digital health and wellness market in China has been growing
rapidly in the past years, with a compound annual growth rate
(CAGR) of 32.7% from 2018 to 2023. We believe that we are
in a good position to catch the fast growth in demand for such
digital services because we are able to address or alleviate the
following pain points in China’s healthcare system. Our multi-
dimensional service covers the needs of key industry stakeholders
in the health and wellness market in China. Our matrix of traffic
portals also enables us to acquire users from diverse channels, in
an efficient and cost-effective manner. Our strong capabilities to
develop services allow us to address diverse health and medical
demands. Leveraging our large user base, relationships with key
industry stakeholders, innovative technological capabilities, as
well as insights into China’s healthcare system, we have obtained
the opportunities created by synergies between our different
businesses, and developed multiple monetization strategies,
driving our business to grow.

Overall, we had made significant progress in 2024. Looking
ahead, we remain confident with our business performance.
As our business scale continues to expand, we could benefit
from enhanced economics of scale. We also expect to further
monetize our pharmaceutical sales business, content services and
information technology services, and further improve our financial
performance and profitability, maintaining our leading position in
China’s digital health and wellness industry.

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my sincere
gratitude to all our shareholders, business partners, customers,

management team and colleagues for their contributions and
support.

Zhang Wanneng
Chairman of the Board

Hong Kong, 28 March 2025
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW
Overview

We operate a digital health and medical service platform in China.
Since 2001, we have been providing health and medical services
on digital platforms to individual users. In 2015, we expanded our
services to corporations and institutions by providing corporate
and digital marketing services.

In 2024, our business operations continued to expand. The
number of registered individual users on our platform increased
from 186.0 million as of 31 December 2023 to 205.5 million as
of 31 December 2024. The number of our registered physicians
increased from 560 thousand as of 31 December 2023 to 889
thousand as of 31 December 2024. Further, the number of
hospitals connected to our platform increased from 7,365 as of 31
December 2023 to 11,762 as of 31 December 2024.

Our Services

Our services are mainly divided into two business segments,
namely (i) health and medical services, and (ii) corporate and
digital marketing services.

(i) Health and medical services

Health and medical services primarily include medical
support services and value-based medical services.

Medical Support Services

Our medical support services are designed to help individuals
manage their everyday health and wellness, and are further
divided into (i) health membership schemes and (ii) other
medical support services.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEEFNWRD

(ii)

i

In 2024, we provided health membership schemes to (i) 11.1
million (2023: 8.6 million) individual customers, including
both individual customers who directly purchased health
membership schemes from us and individual customers who
obtained health membership schemes via our corporate
customers; and (i) 281 (2023: 278) corporate customers.

Other medical support services comprise (i) medical
consultation services, and (i) supporting services to hospitals.
In 2024, the number of online medical consultations
arranged on our platform was 3.5 million (2023: 4.0
million).

Value-based Medical Services

Our value-based medical services are designed to help
patients and those in need manage specific diseases and
medical challenges, and consist of (i) healthcare service
packages and (ii) pharmaceutical sales business.

In 2024, we provided healthcare service packages to 0.93
thousand (2023: 10.4 thousand individual customers).

Corporate and digital marketing services

Our corporate and digital marketing services segment
primarily comprises (i) corporate services, and (ii) digital
marketing services.

Corporate Services

Our corporate services provide (i) content services and
(ii) information technology services to corporate and
institutional customers. Our content services comprise (i)
wellness content services, (ii) precision content services and
(iii) RWS support services.

HealthyWay Inc. {2 BB HERAT
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The revenue of our wellness content services is primarily
driven by the number of page view of such wellness
content. In 2024, such wellness content had page views of
0.73 billion (2023: 0.8 billion). We also provided precision
content services to 15 (2023: 15) pharmaceutical companies
and three (2023: two) other entities, and RWS support
services to 57 (2023: 30) pharmaceutical companies and
five (2023: three) other entities in 2024. In addition, we
delivered 653 (2023: 450) real world study reports in 2024.

In addition, we provided information technology services
to 433 (2023: 430) corporate and institutional customers
in 2024. We also provided digital marketing services to 96
(2023: 121) advertisers through publishing and posting 805
(2023: 755) original marketing articles or brand-building
advertisements in 2024.

Digital Marketing Services

We help advertisers promote their products, services and
brands on our platform and through other third-party online
media channels. As of 31 December 2024, the number
of paying corporate and institutional customers of our
corporate and digital marketing services amounted to 570
(31 December 2023: 554).

Overall, most of our key operating data set out above continued
to grow and the changes are generally in line with the expansion
of our business operations.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEFWR DM

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

Set out below is a breakdown of our revenue by services, in both

absolute amounts and as a percentage of our total revenue.

5o %5 12 R
L'ON

AT REMIRREEI D H U ARRAD - AEH RN
ERFARRAR B D ELFIR

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BILEE
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 % RMB'000 %
AR¥T R % ARETIT %
Health and medical services BERERSE
Medical support services BETERE
Health membership schemes EEea:tE 120,979 10.1 126,139 10.1
Other medical support services HiBEFRS 5,700 0.5 11,428 0.9
Value-based medical services BEEERE
Healthcare service packages REREGERER 13,185 1.1 65,495 5.3
Pharmaceutical sales business Beduphe K 109,805 9.1 94,390 76
Subtotal N 249,669 20.8 297,452 239
Corporate and digital marketing TEBRBERBFZEHRHE
services
Corporate services S ERE
Content services NA R 576,989 48.0 537,502 432
Information technology services = B BT RTS 296,182 24.7 251,934 20.2
Digital marketing services BFEHm 77,695 6.5 156,362 12.6
Subtotal Nt 950,866 79.2 945,798 76.0
Others Hi 240 0.0 1,208 0.1
Total st 1,200,775 100.0 1,244,458 100.0
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Our revenue slightly decreased by 3.5% from RMB1,244.5 million
in 2023 to RMB1,200.8 million in 2024, primarily due to the
decrease in revenue generated from health and medical services
to 249.7 million in 2024 from 297.5 million in 2023, in particular,
a decrease to RMB13.2 million in 2024 from RMB65.5 million in
2023 for revenue generated from healthcare service packages,
as a result of the Company’s proactive adjustment of the service
structure and categories. Our corporate and digital marketing
services segment, which represents 79.2% of our total revenue,
remained strong. Revenue generated from corporate and digital
marketing services increased from RMB945.8 million in 2023 to
RMB950.9 million in 2024.

Cost of Sales

Our total cost of sales decreased by 1.3% from RMB846.2
million in 2023 to RMB834.9 million in 2024, primarily due to the
decrease in cost of sales for our corporate and digital marketing
services to RMB655.0 million in 2024 from RMB676.6 million
in 2023 as we enjoyed greater economies of scale, which was
partially offset by the increase in cost of sales for our health and
medical services to RMB179.8 million in 2024 from RMB169.3
million in 2023.

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

Our gross profit slightly decreased from RMB398.2 million in 2023
to RMB365.9 million and our gross profit margin in 2024 was
30.5% (2023: 32.0%). Our gross profit margins were primarily
affected by our business mix, pricing policies, and cost structures.

The gross profit of health and medical services decreased from
RMB128.1 million to RMB69.9 million, primarily due to (i) the
increase in cost of sales as a result of increased utilization rate of
our health membership schemes; and (ii) the decrease in breakage
revenue from deposit in inactive HealthyWay mobile application
accounts, which generally has a relatively higher gross profit
margin.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEFWR DM

The gross profit of corporate and digital marketing services
increased from RMB269.2 million in 2023 to RMB295.9 million
in 2024, primarily due to the increase in gross profit margin of
content services, especially real-world study (“RWS") support
services, that resulted from a decrease in average cost per RWS
report and desensitized sample delivered as our RWS support
services further developed and scaled.

Other Net Income

We recorded other net income of RMB2.1 million in 2024 as
compared with other net income of RMB3.9 million in 2023,
primarily due to the decrease in government grants, partially offset
by the decrease in foreign exchange loss and increase in interest
income.

Selling Expenses

Our selling expenses decreased by 4.1% from RMB211.8 million in
2023 to RMB203.2 million in 2024, primarily due to the decrease
in the expenses for marketing campaigns specifically related to
our healthcare service packages, and the decrease in expenses for
promotion of health membership schemes to corporate customers.

Administrative Expenses

Our administrative expenses decreased by 32.3% from RMB79.8
million in 2023 to RMB54.0 million in 2024, primarily due to the
decrease in office expenses, and partially offset by the increase in
staff costs.

Research and Development Costs

Our research and development costs decreased by 6.2% from
RMB103.4 million in 2023 to RMB97.0 million in 2024, primarily
due to the completion of several products, such as the Al disease
prediction platform, in the second half of 2024, and as a result,
technical service fees have decreased.

HealthyWay Inc. {2 BB HERAT
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Finance Costs

Our finance costs increased by 36.4% from RMB3.3 million in
2023 to RMB4.5 million in 2024, primarily because we took more
bank loans and borrowings to support our business expansion.

Changes in Carrying Amount of the Redemption
Liabilities

Changes in carrying amount of redemption liabilities represent the
amount of changes in our obligations arising from the preferential
rights granted to the investors, which was to redeem our shares
for cash upon the occurrence of events beyond the control of both
the investors and us. The preferential rights were terminated upon
Listing of our shares on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
and the relevant redemption liabilities have been re-classified to
equity.

Loss before Taxation

As a result of the foregoing, our loss before taxation decreased
by 17.8% from RMB320.9 million in 2023 to RMB263.8 million in
2024.

Income Tax

In 2024, our income tax expense was RMB5.4 million, while we
recorded income tax credit of RMB7.1 million in 2023, primarily
due to the utilisation of our previously unrecognised tax losses
and other temporary differences, and as a result, such tax credit
available decreased from RMB18.0 million in 2023 to RMB3.0
million in 2024.

Net Loss

As a result of the foregoing, our net loss decreased by 14.2%
from RMB313.9 million in 2023 to RMB269.2 million in 2024.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEFWR DM

Non-IFRS Measure

To supplement our consolidated financial statements, which are
presented in accordance with IFRSs, we also use adjusted net
profit (non-IFRS measure) (as defined below) as an additional
financial measure, which is not required by, or presented in
accordance with IFRSs.

We define “adjusted net profit (non-IFRS measure)” as loss for the
year, adding back changes in carrying amount of the redemption
liabilities and listing expenses. The carrying amount of the
redemption liabilities are non-cash in nature. The listing expenses
are expenses related to our global offering.

The adjusted net profit (non-IFRS measure) can provide useful
information to investors in understanding and evaluating our
consolidated results of operations in the same manner as it helps
our management.

The following table sets forth the reconciliations of our non-IFRS
financial measure.

FEEFRRI IR EERFTE

AT PIRIRBFR M 25 & R Rk & M 15
HE - BIUERAKEHARFNECERREYBRE
HAFE)(ERLTOERBINEE - B
IR 5 ME ERI B K - IR RBIFRR A5 E
ERIFTZ5 -

BT TR EEF R B GERR M B R EERFTE)
EESFAERE - ANEBE S EREEZS N -
Mm% - BEABENREEBIFERSME - EHHE
X REPREEEMOFAX

REREEN B CGEERM B REEAFTE) BB EE
HORMEEENART N - RREEE TR LT
ERMANFAKEEXEREHAERER -

TRERFIVIEBREA B RS
HE o

R TRt EROES

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLEE
2024 2023
2024F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AEREFT
Loss for the year FAEE (269,158) (313,882)
Add: Y
Changes in carrying amount of the redemption &[0 & (E8EAEEE
liabilities 272,772 324,779
Listing expenses EmAX 19,150 28,514
Adjusted net profit (non-IFRS measure) RREFAECGEER M ERE
ERIGHE) 22,764 39,411
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

DISCUSSION OF SELECTED ITEMS IN THE
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

Current Assets and Liabilities

Our net current liabilities of RMB1,721.9 million as of 31
December 2023 was reversed to net current assets of RMB114.4
million as of 31 December 2024, primarily due to the decrease
of redemption liabilities after full conversion of our convertible
redeemable preferred shares at Listing.

Inventories

Our inventories primarily include medicines and health products.
Our inventories decreased from RMB13.8 million as of 31
December 2023 to RMB7.1 million as of 31 December 2024,
primarily due to decreased medicine stock as a result of sale of
significant amount of medicines through our pharmaceutical
wholesale business during the flu season outbreak at the end of
2024.

Contract Assets

Our contract assets represent our right to consideration for work
we have completed but have not reached the time schedule or
condition set forth in the service contract for billing our customers.
Our contract assets decreased to RMBO.1 million as of 31
December 2024 from RMBO0.3 million as of 31 December 2023.

Trade and Other Receivables

Our trade and other receivables increased from RMB132.6 million
as of 31 December 2023 to RMB144.2 million as of 31 December
2024, which is in line with the expansion of our corporate and
digital marketing services.

Prepayments

Our prepayments increased from RMB23.4 million as of 31
December 2023 to RMB27.5 million as of 31 December 2024,
primarily due to the increase in advance payments to content
development suppliers in support of our content services.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEFWR DM

Trade and Other Payables

Our trade and other payables increased to RMB208.6 million as
of 31 December 2024 from RMB193.9 million as of 31 December
2023, primarily due to the increase of our trade creditors from
RMB86.3 million as of 31 December 2023 to RMB121.9 million as
of 31 December 2024 as a result of our business growth, offset by
the decrease in amounts receipts in advance and other payables.

Contract Liabilities

Our contract liabilities remained relatively stable at RMB58.0
million as of 31 December 2024 (2023: RMB57.3 million).

Loans and Borrowings

Our current loans and borrowings decreased to RMB55.5 million
as of 31 December 2024 (2023: RMB88.5 million) as we repaid
certain of our outstanding loans and borrowings.

Redemption Liabilities

Our redemption liabilities arise from the convertible redeemable
preferred shares that we issued to certain pre-IPO investors of our
Company. All preferential rights of the convertible redeemable
preferred shares have been terminated upon Listing on the
Stock Exchange on the Listing Date and the relevant redemption
liabilities have been re-classified to equity.

Contingent liabilities

We did not have any material contingent liabilities as of 31
December 2024 and as of 31 December 2023.

Non-Current Assets/Liabilities

Our total net liabilities of RMB1,652.1 million as of 31 December
2023 was reversed to a total net assets of RMB231.8 million as of
31 December 2024.

Our property, plant and equipment decreased from RMB9.4

million as of 31 December 2023 to RMB8.7 million as of 31
December 2024, primarily due to depreciation.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Our intangible assets increased from RMB39.3 million as of 31
December 2023 to RMB&81.3 million as of 31 December 2024,
primarily because we had made additional investment in software
and dataset to train advanced tools, which could potentially
improve the efficiency of consultation guidance and medical
consultations by reducing response time.

Our goodwill remained stable at RMB8.6 million as of 31
December 2023 and 2024.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

Our cash and cash equivalents increased from RMB168.7 million
31 December 2023 to RMB260.2 million as of 31 December
2024, primarily due to the net cash generated from our financing
activities and from our operating activities, partially offset by the
net cash used in investing activities.

Set out below is a summary of our cash flows.

BEERWR DT

RN EFLEEHREE2023F12A31HHARE
393EETEMERE2024F 12 A31BMARKE
813B BT ' TEHRKMYETF REUREEITA
IIRE - B E T A - #EDUBIB AR 2 R
RIZEMPIEEREERZHME -

B EEERETE - NEE2023F K£20245F12
A31BHAARES6AETT

REBEERUBEIR

BMMIRe MIREEEYWH2023F12A31HAA
E¥168.7EE T INE20244E12 A31 B AR
260288 TERREMORE R REEE
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Year ended 31 December

BZ12A318LEE

2024 2023

2024F 20234

RMB’'000 RMB’'000

AR®T T ARBFIT

Net cash generated from operating activities KEEBMSIRE TR 56,698 3,591

Net cash used in investing activities WEEFARSFE (81,714) (37,711)

Net cash generated from financing activities BE RIS FE 116,552 133,094

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents He RIReSEYIEINFRE 91,536 98,974
Cash and cash equivalents FONEREREASEEY

at the beginning of the year 168,693 6 A19
Cash and cash equivalents FRNASREASEEY

at the end of the year 260,229 168,693
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BEEFWR DM

Our net cash generated from operating activities substantially
increased from RMB3.6 million in 2023 to RMB56.7 million in
2024. Our net cash outflow in investing activities was primarily
attributable to payment for purchase of intangible assets of
RMB75.3 million, and purchase of wealth management products
of RMB17.5 million,partially offset by redemption of wealth
management products of RMB12.1 million. The net cash inflow in
financing activities was primarily attributable to the gross proceeds
of RMB180.5 million from the global offering of our shares and
proceeds of RMB73.5 million from bank loans, partially offset by
repayments of bank loans of RMB106.1 million.

As of 31 December 2024, our total bank loans and borrowings
amounted to RMB56.4 million (2023: RMB89.0 million), among
which RMB55.5 million will be repaid within one year and RMBO0.9
million will be repaid within two years. All loans and borrowings
were denominated in RMB, carrying interest at rates ranging from
3.4% to 14.65% per annum (2023: 3.35% to 11.70%).

Our gearing ratio as of 31 December 2024 was 60% (2023:
499%), which is calculated by dividing total liabilities by total
assets. Our gearing ratio in 2023 was relatively high because
of the RMB1.7 billion redemption liabilities arising from our
convertible redeemable preferred shares. All such shares have
been terminated upon Listing and the relevant redemption
liabilities have since been re-classified to equity.

TREASURY POLICIES AND FOREIGN
EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

We have adopted prudent treasury policies for both long-term
and short-term cash management. While the primary objective
of our long-term investments is to invest in or acquire businesses
that are complementary to our business, we focus on short-term
investment opportunities, which could generate finance income
at a yield higher than current deposit bank interest rates, with
an emphasis on capital preservation. Our short-term investments
usually go to relatively liquid and low-risk financial instruments
issued by either commercial banks or other licensed financial
institutions. We make our investment decisions on a case-by-
case basis, and the investment duration is dependent on the
management’s projection of our cash flow requirement.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Our foreign exchange gain and loss mainly represents gains and
losses caused by the fluctuation of foreign exchange rate between
Renminbi and U.S. dollar. In 2024, we recorded a net foreign
exchange gain of RMB1.0 million (2023: RMB1.2 million). We did
not experience any significant liquidity problems resulting from
currency exchange fluctuations in 2023 and 2024, we did not
hedge our foreign currency exposure in 2023 and 2024.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As of 31 December 2024, we had 399 employees in total. All of
our employees are stationed in China.

In compliance with the applicable labor laws, we enter into
individual employment contracts with our employees covering
matters such as wages, bonuses, employee benefits, workplace
safety, confidentiality obligations, non-competition and grounds
for termination. These employment contracts typically have a term
of three or six years.

To remain competitive in the labor market, we provide various
incentives and benefits to our employees. In addition to base
salary, we also provide performance-based bonus as part of
our compensation for our employees. We review and refine our
remuneration and incentive policies periodically to ensure that our
remuneration to our employees remains competitive and fair.

We also provide internal training for our employees to upgrade
their skills and knowledge. Specifically, we have formulated the
Training Management Norms in order to o build a professional
workforce with strong management capabilities that aligns
with our Group’s development strategy and HR development
requirements. We promote and recommend relevant courses on
our internal platform from time to time. We also upload training
courses to our internal platform and marked such courses as either
compulsory or recommended. Employees are required to take
the compulsory courses independently while the recommended
courses are optional.

During the Year, we did not experience any strikes, labor disputes
or industrial action which had a material effect on our business,
and we consider our relations with our employees to be good.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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OUTLOOK

Looking forward, we expect to further improve our financial
performance and profitability through continuous revenue growth
and improved cost efficiency. Specifically, we expect to drive
our revenue growth by further monetizing pharmaceutical sales
business, content services, and information technology services.
We plan to enhance the synergies created by our business
segments by deepening our connections with more physicians,
and integrating their medical services onto our platform. By
strengthening connections with and growing our physician base,
we could better position ourselves in the pharmaceutical sales
business.

In addition, the market of RWS support services has been growing
rapidly in China in the past years. By further expanding our
cooperation with more physicians, we could broaden our access to
a more extensive range of real-world clinical data covering more
diseases and medical conditions. Leveraging such capabilities,
we expect to generate more valuable insights for pharmaceutical
companies for the study of their drugs in real-world setting.

Furthermore, as our business scale continues to expand, we
could benefit from enhanced economics of scale; hence, further
reducing our costs and expenses. Overall, the outlook of our
business remains positive.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

The biographical details of the Directors and senior management
of the Company are set out as follows:

DIRECTORS
Executive Directors
Zhang Wanneng

Mr. Zhang Wanneng (“Mr. Zhang”), aged 58, is the chairman of
the Board and chief executive officer of the Company. Mr. Zhang
was appointed as an executive Director on 30 May 2023,he is
responsible for the overall management, strategic planning and
decision-making of the Group.

Mr. Zhang is the founder of our Group and has more than 20
years' experience in the digital healthcare industry. Mr. Zhang
started to serve our Group since February 2001 and has been
responsible for forming our business model, supervising and
managing our operation since then. Currently, he also holds
directorships in several subsidiaries of our Group, among others,
Fuzhou Health Road Investment Center (Limited Partnership)* (1&
MR 2 RIS E R NBRAE%)) ("Health Road HealthTech”),
Fujian Health Road Information Technology Co., Ltd.* (f@#&#2EE
2 BAZ BETAR A7) (“Fujian Health Road”), Fujian Health
Road Medical Technology Co., Ltd.* ({5 2 KB BRI
BR2AT]) (“Fulian Health MedTech"”), Fujian Health Road
Health Management Co., Ltd.* (B2 FE 2 IKEEEEER A7)
(“Fujian Health Management”), Yinchuan Borderless Internet
Hospital Co., Ltd.* (3f )2 R G R B2 AR A A]) and Hubei
Health Zhilu Health Technology Co., Ltd.* (#dtfE 5 = B2 R
RBERRATE).

Prior to the founding of our Group, Mr. Zhang worked in Fujian
Shida Computer Company Limited* (BEEEZEMEERNH A
R 2 =]), which is primarily engaged in mobile intelligent terminal
business and Internet of things perimeter security business, until
December 1999.

Mr. Zhang obtained a bachelor’s degree in biological and medical
instruments from Zhejiang University G T AXZ8) in July 1991, a
master’s degree in business administration from Renmin University
of China (FBIARAKXZ) in May 2006, and was accredited as
a senior engineer by the Department of Human Resources and
Social Security of Fujian Province* (f@#E4& AT &R S (RIZEE)
in June 2006.

*  For identification purpose only
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BEERGNEEERRE

Mr. Zhang has been the president of council of the Fujian Alumni
Association of Zhejiang University since February 2017. He has
also taken up social positions such as the deputy chairman of
the Fujian Electronic Commerce Association* (f&32%4 BT 751
@) since April 2015 and the standing director of the First Fujian
Network Information Industry Federation ({82 & HE EXHK A
&) since March 2023. Mr. Zhang was also awarded the honorary
titles of Outstanding Figure on Health Management of China* (-
R FEIRALH AY) from 2008 to 2009 and Outstanding Talent
in the Internet Economy* (B B 4845855 A4) in 2007.

Chen Jing (FR &)

Mr. Chen Jing (“Mr. Chen"), aged 47, is senior vice president of
the Company and was appointed as executive Director on 30 May
2023, primarily responsible for the business expansion, marketing
and investor relations of the Group.

Mr. Chen joined the Group in December 2006. He had served as
the Fujian regional general manager of Fuzhou Health Road from
December 2006 to December 2008 and had been responsible for
the overall business operation and management in Fujian Province.
Mr. Chen held various managerial positions in Fujian Health
Management since January 2009, including: (i) the Guangdong
regional general manager from January 2009 to July 2010,
where he was responsible for business expansion and business
management in Guangdong Province; (i) the Beijing regional vice
president from July 2010 to January 2013, where he was in charge
of the service center and the business operation in Beijing; and
(iii) the general manager of the central China (including Fujian,
Hubei, Hunan, Jiangxi and Henan, which are the core regions of
our operation) from January 2013 to June 2015. From December
2015 to October 2016, Mr. Chen Jing had served as the general
manager of the primary business unit, market service center and
operation center of Fujian Health Road and was responsible for
our business expansion, relationship and service management
for customers and physicians. From October 2016 to February
2022, Mr. Chen Jing served as the vice president of Fujian Health
Road and was responsible for our business expansion, marketing,
customer service and family health care. Since February 2022 to
the present, Mr. Chen Jing has been worked as the senior vice
president of Fujian Health Road and has been responsible for
the business expansion, marketing and investor relations of our
Company. Currently, Mr. Chen Jing also holds directorships in
Fujian Health Road and Fujian Health Management.

Mr. Chen obtained a bachelor’s degree in economics from Xiamen
University (EP9X2) in July 2000.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

Non-executive Directors

Chen Yong (R &)

Mr. Chen Yong, aged 59,was appointed as a non-executive
Director of the Company on 30 May 2023, primarily responsible
for providing insights for the management, operation and
strategic planning of the Group.

Mr. Chen Yong has over ten years’ experience in the healthcare
industry since he joined our Group in April 2010. From April
2010 till December 2013, Mr. Chen Yong served as the general
manager of Fujian Health Management, where he was responsible
for the overall management and daily operation. Mr. Chen Yong
has been serving as a Director of our Company from November
2014 to May 2015 and from March 2022 to the present. Mr.
Chen Yong had also acted as the general manager of Jizhenfang
(Fujian) Network Technology Company Limited* (¥ 3 (t8 1) 48
BRERABARA

business, from May 2015 to December 2019. He has also been

A]), which is primarily engaged in artwork trading

working as the general manager of Fujian Meinian Corporation
Management Company Limited* ({82 B X F L EER AR A
A]), which is primarily engaged in wellness check business, from
January 2020 to the present. Currently, Mr. Chen Yong also holds
directorship in Fujian Health Road.

Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Chen Yong had been serving as a
surgeon, the director of physical examination center in the Second
People’s Hospital of Fujian University of Traditional Chinese
Medicine* (faiZ P 22 K21 E5E — AR EFT) from July 1990
and resigned from such position in September 2010.

Mr. Chen Yong acted as the vice director of the Health
Management Branch of Fujian Medical Association* ({84 2522
eEEEEIEH D) from October 2007 to December 2010.

Mr. Chen Yong obtained a bachelor’s degree in traditional
Chinese medicine from Fujian College of Traditional Chinese
Medicine* (&2 28230, currently known as Fujian University of
Traditional Chinese Medicine) in July 1990.
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Zhang Xiangming (Z [ 88)

Mr. Zhang Xiangming,aged 43, was appointed as a non-executive
Director of the Company on 30 May 2023, primarily responsible
for providing insights for the management, operation and strategic
planning of our Group. Mr. Zhang Xiangming was nominated by
Baidu Inc., one of our shareholders.

Mr. Zhang Xiangming has been serving as the technical director of
Yilai (Hainan) Network Technology Co., Ltd* (B2 2k (&R )4845 R
BBR/AR]) (a subsidiary of Baidu Health (Beijing) Technology Co.,
Ltd.* (AEREJAL B AR A7) since October 2021. From
September 2008 to June 2016, Mr. Zhang Xiangming served as a
senior technologist of Taobao (China) Software Co., Ltd* (BE (F
B) & {5 BR 72 &]). From September 2016 to October 2021, Mr.
Zhang Xiangming served as a senior technical director of Ping An
Health Cloud Company Limited Hainan Branch* (*FZ {5 B B4
R BRABEED A R).

Mr. Zhang Xiangming obtained a bachelor’s degree in measuring
and control technology and instruments from Anhui University of
Science and Technology (Z#3% T K £) in July 2003.

Independent Non-executive Directors
Xu Jing (R )

Mr. Xu Jing (“Mr. Xu”), aged 39, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 30 December 2024,
primarily responsible for supervising our Board and providing
independent judgment.

Mr. Xu had worked at CCB International Capital Limited from July
2010 to September 2013, with his last position as an associate
of the corporate finance division. From September 2013 to May
2015, Mr. Xu worked at SEAVI Advent Ocean Private Equity Ltd.
with his last position as investment manager. Mr. Xu had also
served as the head of capital market in Morris Home Holdings
Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 1575), formerly known as Morris Holdings
Limited) (“Morris”) from May 2015 to May 2017. Mr. Xu had
worked as the chief financial officer of Light Year Green Energy
Limited from May 2017 to October 2018. From October 2018
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to November 2022, Mr. Xu served as the deputy chief executive
officer of Morris. From December 2022 till the present, Mr. Xu has
been serving as the executive director and chief financial officer of
Standard Development Group Limited* (1£#£3% & t2 B AR A 7))
(a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 1867)), where he has been responsible for financial affairs.

Mr. Xu was accredited as a Chartered Financial Analyst by CFA
Institute in January 2014. Mr. Xu was also accredited as a certified
public accountant by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants in March 2016.

Mr. Xu obtained a bachelor’s degree in business administration,
majoring in financial services and minoring in accountancy, from
the Hong Kong Polytechnic University in October 2009, and a
master’s degree in business administration from the Hong Kong
University of Science and Technology in June 2017.

Lu Tao

Dr. Lu Tao (“Dr. Lu”), aged 57, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 30 December 2024, primarily
responsible for supervising our Board and providing independent
judgment.

From September 2016 to the present, Dr. Lu has been serving as
the director of integrated medical center* (& B2/ L E) of
Beijing University of Chinese Medicine (1t FX AP B8 %5 X £2). Dr. Lu
started his career in Columbia University as a postdoctoral scientist
researcher in the department of biological science in 1997, and he
served as a postdoctoral fellow in the department of genetics of
Harvard Medical School in 2001, and subsequently an instructor in
January 2017. After that, he worked as the vice dean of school of
life science in Beijing University of Chinese Medicine from October
2016 to October 2019.

During his career, Dr. Lu has published over 40 articles in Science
Citation Index (SCI) magazine and more than 10 articles in top
international magazines, including but not limited to Nature,
Science, Nature Neuroscience, Neuron, PNAS and Molecular Cell.
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Dr. Lu has also been serving as the vice president of Traditional
Chinese Medicine Equipment Branch of China Medicine
Equipment Association* (Ff BB EXKER SR BEED D) since
May 2021.

Dr. Lu obtained a bachelor’s degree in science majoring in
applied chemistry from Fudan University (f§ B KX Z) in July 1989,
a doctor’s degree in physical chemistry from the Institute of
Photochemistry of Chinese Academy of Sciences (77 B8R} E2 Bz /% ¢
{LERFFFFTFR) in July 1997, and a doctor’s degree in science from
the Institute of Photochemistry of Chinese Academy of Sciences (1
B R P R L B FTAT) in July 1997.

Deng Xiaolan (&BRE/=)

Ms. Deng Xiaolan (“Ms. Deng”), aged 49, was appointed as
an independent non-executive Director on 30 December 2024,
primarily responsible for supervising our Board and providing
independent judgment.

Ms. Deng has been serving as a teacher since September 2006,
an associate professor since 2009, and a professor since 2021 in
School of Economics and Management Fuzhou University ( & /M
K2 B E IR 7)) Ms. Deng was a visiting scholar in Flagler
Business School of the University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill
from September 2010 to September 2011.

Ms. Deng was selected into the 2011 Fujian Province University
Outstanding Young Scientific Research Talent Training Program*
QONFREESREL BT FRMATEAE). In 2020, Ms.
Deng was selected into the accounting talent pool of Fujian
Province (@i & &t AT E).

Ms. Deng obtained a bachelor’s degree in economics from
Fuzhou University (48 /N KX £2) in July 1999, a master’s degree in
management from Fuzhou University in April 2002, and a doctor’s
degree in management from Huazhong University of Science and
Technology GEFEHEKE) in June 2006.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Our senior management are responsible for the day-to-day
management of our business. The table below illustrates the
composition of the senior management of our Company.

Mr. Zhang Wanneng and Mr. Chen Jing are also the senior
management of the Group. See “Executive Directors” above for
details.

Lin Xiaoxia

Ms. Lin Xiaoxia (“Ms. Lin") aged 47, is a vice president of our
Company, primarily responsible for the government affairs,
personnel, administration and national market development of
our Group.

Ms. Lin joined our Group in February 2002 as the vice president
of Fuzhou Renren Jiankang and successively worked as the
manager of customer service center of Fuzhou Health Road from
November 2007 to May 2010, general manager of Fujian Province
in Fujian Health Management from May 2010 to August 2015,
regional general manager of eastern China of Fujian Health Road
from September 2015 to November 2018, director of president’s
office (2% 3t £ {T) of Fujian Health Road from November 2018
to September 2021. Ms. Lin has been the vice president and the
deputy general manager of the operation expansion center of
Fujian Health Road since September 2021.

Ms. Lin obtained a bachelor’s degree in management from Dalian
University of Technology (K& T KE2) in September 2020.
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Mr. Chen Zhoufeng

Mr. Chen Zhoufeng (FRE &), aged 49, is the chief financial officer
and joint company secretary of the Company with effect from 28
March 2025. Mr. Chen Zhoufeng has over 12 years experience in
financial management, and is primarily responsible for financial
operations and capital markets affairs.

Mr. Chen joined the group as the vice president in June 2024.
Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Chen served as vice president
and the chief financial officer of Faithland Development Group
Limited (F EE#ZELEBRAF]), a company principally engaged
in property development, from November 2020 to January
2022, during which he was mainly responsible for capital market
related matters and finance operations. He also served as general
finance manager at Anhui Hengtai Real Estate Development
Co., Ltd (RREEZREHMEREBRE LA, a company
principally engaged in property development, from September
2019 to October 2020, during which he was mainly responsible
for finance operations. From June 2013 to May 2019, Mr. Chen
served as director of capital operation department of financial
management center in Zhenro Group Co., Ltd (IEZ4 £ B AR A
7]) (a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 6158), primarily engaged in property development),
and was mainly responsible for capital operation. Mr. Chen served
as deputy general manager at Fuzhou Wanda Plaza Commercial
Property Management Co., Ltd. (BN EEESREWEEEEGR
A7), a company principally engaged in commercial management
from June 2010 to March 2013, during which he was primarily
responsible for financial management.

Mr. Chen obtained a bachelor’ degree in accounting and a

master’ degree in business administration from Xiamen University
(BPIKE2) in July 1998 and June 2015, respectively.
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Mr. Li Guomin

Mr. Li Guomin (ZBIR) (“Mr. Li"), aged 40, was the chief
financial officer and joint company secretary of the Company,
while he has resigned as chief financial officer and joint company
secretary on 28 March 2025. Mr. Li joined our Group as the
chief financial officer of Fujian Health Road in June 2021. Before
resignation, Mr. Li was in charge of our financial department, and
was mainly responsible for assisting the chairman in formulating
our strategy, financing and capital market operation.

Prior to joining our Group, from July 2009 to June 2016, Mr. Li
worked as the finance deputy manager of Miko International
Holdings Limited CKIEEIFRIEARBIR A7) (a company listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1247),
primarily engaged in clothing production). Mr. Li served as the
financial director of Fujian Leyou Network Technology Company
Limited* (fR 244 h 45 BH B IR A A), which is primarily engaged
in network and information technology, computer software
technology development and website design, from April 2018 to
March 2021.

Mr. Li obtained an associate degree in accounting from Guilin
Space Industry College (FEMMRTHESFERIER), currently
known as Guilin University of Aerospace Technology (FE#Kfifi K
T #E%)) in June 2007, and obtained a bachelor’s degree in
accounting from Xiamen University (EPTKXZ) in June 2021,
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Mr. Chen Chengchun

Mr. Chen Chengchun, aged 41, has been serving as a vice
president of the Company since 28 March 2025, primarily
responsible for physician customers and the development and
operation of medical science popularization business unit of the
Group.

Mr. Chen Chengchun joined the Group in September 2006.
From September 2006 to December 2008, he served as the
technical manager and product manager of Fuzhou Health Road
Information Technology Co., Ltd. (f@M{ERE Z KEERMAR
73 A]), responsible for the development and operation of core
business systems. Since January 2009, Mr. Chen Chengchun has
held various managerial positions in Fujian Health Management,
including: (i) assistant to general manager and general manager of
the internet business unit from January 2009 to December 2013
(BB = 22F), where he was responsible for the development
and operation of the company’s portal website and mobile
application; (ii) general manager of our user center from January
2014 to December 2015, where he was responsible for the
operations of our user center and growing our user base. From
December 2015 to October 2016, Mr. Chen Chengchun served
as the general manager of the health butler business unit and
pharmaceutical business unit of Fujian Health Road, responsible
for the expansion of family customers and pharmacy customers,
and the relevant operations. From October 2016 to March 2025,
Mr. Chen Chengchun served as the vice president of Fujian
Health Road, responsible for products and services development
for hospitals, physicians and family customers, and the relevant
operations. Since September 2019, Mr. Chen Chengchun
has been serving as the general manager of Fuzhou Kangzhi
Technology Co., Ltd. (f@MEEIEHEBR A E)), a subsidiary of the
Group.

Mr. Chen Chengchun obtained a bachelor’s degree in Computer

Science from Fujian Normal University (t2 ZRH&5KE) in July
2006.
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Mr. Zhuang Haifeng

Mr. Zhuang, aged 43, has been serving as the chief efficiency
officer of the Company since 28 March 2025, primarily responsible
for the Group's systems, processes and information technology
with a focus on enhancing the Group's efficiency.

Mr. Zhuang has extensive industry experience since August
2004. From August 2004 to July 2007, he served as the product
department manager of Fuzhou Health Road; from August 2007
to August 2008, he worked as the planning department manager
at Fuzhou Zhonghui Rheumatism and Osteoarthropathy Specialty
Hospital Co., Ltd. (BN ERZEEETERER AR AF); from
September 2008 to February 2010, he served as the planning
department manager at Zhonghe Shengdao (Beijing) Investment
Management Co., Ltd. (FAIBBEJLR)IREBTEAR A
March 2010 to February 2011, he served as the general manager

a)); from

of Xiamen Haorui Tianxiang Animation Culture Communication
Co., Ltd. (EFifEInKEE)E X LERAR AR
2011 to February 2013, he served as the technical deputy general

); from February

manager of the telecom value-added business unit at Fujian Health
Management; from March 2013 to August 2015, he worked as
the product manager for the health and management applications
“Xiaowei (/N#%)" at Fujian Health Management; from September
2015 to August 2016, he served as the enterprise management
department manager of Fujian Health Road; from September 2016
to September 2017, he served as the director of the efficiency
enhancement center at Fujian Health Road; from October 2017 to
February 2022, he served as the general manager of the efficiency
enhancement center at Fujian Health Road; since February 2022,
he has been serving as the chief efficiency officer of Fujian Health
Road.

Mr. Zhuang obtained a bachelor’s degree in electronic information
engineering from Fujian Agriculture and Forestry University (185
EHRAE) in July 2004.
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JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Upon listing, Mr. Li Guomin (“Mr. Li") was appointed as one of
our joint company secretaries while he has resigned as the joint
company secretary on 28 March 2025.

Mr. Chen Zhoufeng was appointed as one of the joint company
secretaries on 28 March 2025. See “Senior Management” above
in this section for more details.

Mr. Tam Chun Wai Edwin (& 1& %) (“Mr. Tam"), aged 43, was
appointed as one of our joint company secretaries in May 2023.

Mr. Tam has over 20 years' experience in accounting, auditing,
corporate and treasury management. Mr. Tam worked in Ernst &
Young from September 2003 to May 2010 with his last position as
audit manager. Mr. Tam joined Greenheart Group Limited (&% /0)
£E B AR (@ company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 0094)) in May 2010 as financial controller,
and was further appointed as vice president financial controller
in April 2013, primarily responsible for financial and accounting
management, operational finance, capital market transactions,
merger and acquisition matters, corporate governance and
compliance affairs. Mr. Tam left Greenheart Group and joined
Noble Partners CPA Company (& {= € & Bl = 75 A7), a certified
public accountants firm, in August 2018.
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Mr. Tam served as the company secretary of Shenglong
EESEERARRDA) @
company listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange (stock code:
8481)) from July 2018 to June 2020. Mr. Tam served as the
company secretary of Byte Metaverse Holdings Limited ( bt #F 7T

Splendecor International Limited ( &%

= §& A R A \)) (previously known as Michong Metaverse
(Chma) Holdings Group Limited K& L F & (P B)ILE BB
% 72 &]), and Nomad Technologies Holdings Limited (a company
listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 8645))
from August 2018 to December 2020. Mr. Tam has also been
serving as the company secretary of Jianzhong Construction
Development Limited GZ2FERERE AR L
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 589)) since
March 2024, Feiyang International Holdings Group Limited (15
BIFRE A (R E) AR 2 A
of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1901)) since January 2019,
Ficus Technology Holdings Limited (M1 E B B IERER A 7))
(previously known as Vision International Holdings Limited (/& #
BB RS B R A B]), a company listed on the GEM of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 8107)) since May 2019, and TL Natural
Gas Holdings Limited (a company listed on the GEM of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 8536)) since May 2019.

7)) (a company listed

) (@ company listed on the Main Board

Mr. Tam has been member of The Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants since February 2008 and became a fellow
member since October 2017, a fellow member of the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants since November 2011 and a
fellow member of The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute
and The Chartered Governance Institute in the United Kingdom
since November 2022.

Mr. Tam obtained a bachelor’s degree in accounting and finance
from the Manchester Metropolitan University in the United
Kingdom in June 2003.
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SREARE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board of Directors (the “Board”) is committed to ensuring the
Company adhere to a good standard of corporate governance.

The Board believes that good corporate governance standards are
essential in providing a framework for the Company to safeguard
the interests of shareholders, enhance corporate value, formulate
its business strategies and policies, and enhance its transparency
and accountability.

The Company has adopted and applied the principles as set out
in the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code") contained
in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules as the basis of the Company’s
corporate governance practices.

As the Company was not listed on the Stock Exchange until
30 December 2024 (the “Listing Date”), the CG Code was
not applicable to the Company for the full year from 1 January
2024 to 29 December 2024, but only from the Listing Date to
31 December 2024 (the “Review Period”). During the Review
Period, the Company has complied with all the applicable code
provisions as set out in CG Code, except for code deviation
mentioned in the sections of “Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer” and “Board Meetings and Attendance”.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix
C3 to the Listing Rules as code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by the Directors.

Specific enquiry has been made of all the Directors and the
Directors have confirmed that they have complied with the
required standard set out in the Model Code from the Listing Date
to 31 December 2024.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Company is headed by an effective Board which oversees the
Group's businesses, strategic decisions and performance and takes
decisions objectively in the best interests of the Company.
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The Board should regularly review the contribution required from
a Director to perform his responsibilities to the Company, and
whether the Director is spending sufficient time performing them.

Board Composition

The Board currently comprises seven Directors, consisting of
two executive Directors, two non-executive Directors and three
independent non-executive Directors.

The composition of the Board is as follows:

Executive Directors
Mr. Zhang Wanneng (Chairman and chief executive officer)
Mr. Chen Jing

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Chen Yong
Mr. Zhang Xiangming

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Xu Jing

Dr. Lu Tao

Ms. Deng Xiaolan

The biographical information of the Directors are set out in the
section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management” on pages 21 to 33 of this Annual Report.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the role of
chairman and chief executive officer should be separated and
should not be performed by the same individual.

Currently, Mr. Zhang Wanneng (“Mr. Zhang") serves as chairman
of the Board and chief executive officer. Mr. Zhang is the founder
of the Group and has been operating and managing the Group
since incorporation. With extensive experience in the digital
healthcare industry, Mr. Zhang is responsible for the overall
management, decision-making and strategy planning of the
Group and is instrumental to the Group’s growth and business
expansion since establishment.
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Since Mr. Zhang is the key reason for the Group’s development
and he will not undermine the Group's interests in any way under
any circumstances, the Board considers that vesting the roles
of chairman and chief executive officer in the same person, Mr.
Zhang, would not create any potential harm to the interest of the
Group and it is, on the contrary, beneficial to the management of
the Group.

In addition, the operation of the senior management and ther
Board, which comprise experienced individuals, effectively checks
and balances the power and authority of Mr. Zhang, as both the
chairman and chief executive officer of the Group. The Board
currently comprises two executive directors (including Mr. Zhang),
two non-executive directors and three independent non-executive
directors and therefore has a fairly strong independence element
in its composition.

The Company is committed to achieving high standard of
corporate governance with a view to safeguard the interests of
our Shareholders. The Board will continue to review and consider
splitting the roles of the chairman of the Board and the chief
executive officer of the Company at a time when it is appropriate
and suitable by taking into account the circumstances of the
Group as a whole.

Board Independence

The Company recognises that Board independence is important to
good corporate governance. The Company has in place effective
mechanisms that underpin an independent Board. The current
composition of the Board comprises one third of the independent
non-executive Directors, and the majority of members of the
Audit Committee are independent non-executive Directors. The
Remuneration Committee and Audit Committee are all chaired
by independent non-executive Directors. The remuneration of
independent non-executive Directors are subject to a regular
review to maintain competitiveness and commensurate with
their responsibilities and workload. The independence of each
independent non-executive Director is assessed upon his/her
appointment and annually. Directors are requested to declare
their direct or indirect interests, if any, in proposals or transactions
to be considered by the Board at the Board meetings and abstain
from voting, where appropriate. External independent professional
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advice is available to all Directors, including independent non-
executive Directors, whenever deemed necessary. The independent
non-executive Directors have consistently demonstrated strong
commitment and the ability to devote sufficient time to discharge
their responsibilities at the Board, and the Company has also
established channels through formal and informal means whereby
independent non-executive Directors can express their views in an
open manner, and in a confidential manner, should circumstances
require. On the basis of the above measures that have been put
into place, the Board is of the view that the above mechanisms
was effective in ensuring that independent views and input were
available to the Board during the Review Period.

Independent Non-executive Directors

During the Review Period, the Board at all times met the
requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment
of at least three independent non-executive Directors, with one
of whom possessing appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from each
of the independent non-executive Directors in respect of their
independence in accordance with the independence guidelines set
out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company is of the view
that all independent non-executive Directors are independent.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

The independent non-executive Directors of the Company are
appointed for a specific term of three years commencing from the
Listing Date, subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at
the Annual General Meeting.

The Articles of Association provides that all Directors appointed to
fill a casual vacancy shall be subject to re-election by shareholders
at the first general meeting of the Company after appointment.

Under the Articles of Association of the Company, at each annual
general meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time being,
or if their number is not three or a multiple of three, the number
nearest to but not less than one-third, shall retire from office by
rotation provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement
by rotation at least once every three years. A retiring Director shall
be eligible for re-election.
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Responsibilities, Accountabilities and Contributions of
the Board and Management

The Board should assume responsibility for leadership and control
of the Company; and is collectively responsible for directing and
supervising the Company’s affairs.

The Board directly, and indirectly through its committees, leads
and provides direction to management by laying down strategies
and overseeing their implementation, monitors the Group's
operational and financial performance, and ensures that sound
internal control and risk management systems are in place.

All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors,
have brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience,
knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and
effective functioning. The independent non-executive Directors are
responsible for ensuring a high standard of regulatory reporting
of the Company and providing a balance in the Board for bringing
effective independent judgement on corporate actions and
operations.

All Directors have full and timely access to all the information
of the Company and may, upon request, seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the
Company’s expenses, for discharging their duties to the Company.

The Directors shall disclose to the Company details of other offices
held by them.

The Board reserves for its decision all major matters relating to
policy matters, strategies and budgets, internal control and risk
management, material transactions (in particular those that may
involve conflict of interests), financial information, appointment
of directors and other significant operational matters of the
Company. Responsibilities relating to implementing decisions of
the Board, directing and co-ordinating the daily operation and
management of the Company are delegated to the management.
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Continuous Professional Development of Directors

All Directors, including executive Directors, non-executive Directors
and independent non-executive Directors, should keep abreast of
their collective responsibilities as Directors and of the businesses
and activities of the Group. Every newly appointed Director
has received a formal and comprehensive induction on the first
occasion of his appointment to ensure appropriate understanding
of the business and operations of the Company and full awareness
of Director’s responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules
and relevant statutory requirements.

Directors should participate in appropriate continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.
All Directors are encouraged to attend relevant training courses at
the Company’s expenses.

The Group provided briefings and other training to develop
and refresh the Directors’ knowledge and skills, and updates
all Directors on the latest developments regarding the Listing
Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements to ensure
compliance and to enhance their awareness of good corporate
governance code.

The Directors are committed to complying with the code provision
C.1.4 on Directors’ training. During the Year, all Directors have
participated in training from the Company’s legal advisers, about
matters relevant to their duties as directors of listed company.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established 3 committees, namely, the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee, and the Nomination
Committee, for overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s
affairs. All Board committees of the Company are established
with specific written terms of reference which deal clearly
with their authority and duties. The terms of reference of the
Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination
Committee are posted on the Company’s website and the Stock
Exchange’s website and are available to shareholders upon
request.
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The list of the chairman and members of each Board committee is
set out under “Corporate Information” on page 2 of this annual
report.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee consists of two independent non-executive
Directors and one non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Xu Jing,
Ms. Deng Xiaolan and Mr. Zhang Xiangming. Mr. Xu Jing is the
chairman of the Audit Committee.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are of no less
exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code. The main
duties of the Audit Committee are to assist the Board in reviewing
the financial information and reporting process, risk management
and internal control systems, effectiveness of the internal audit
function, scope of audit and appointment of external auditors
and arrangements to enable employees of the Company to raise
concerns about possible improprieties in financial reporting,
internal control, or other matters of the Group.

As the Company was listed on the Stock Exchange on 30
December 2024, no meeting was held by the Audit Committee
during the Review Period.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee consists of three members, namely
Dr. Lu Tao and Ms. Deng Xiaolan, independent non-executive
Director, and Mr. Zhang Xiangming, non-executive Director. Dr.
Lu Tao is the chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are
of no less exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code.
The primary functions of the Remuneration Committee include
determining/reviewing and making recommendations to the
Board on the remuneration packages of individual Directors and
senior management, the remuneration policy and structure for
all Directors and senior management; establishing transparent
procedures for developing such remuneration policy and structure
to ensure that no Director or any of his/her associates will
participate in deciding his/her own remuneration, and approving
matters relating to share schemes (if any).
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As the Company was listed on the Stock Exchange on 30
December 2024, no meeting was held by the Remuneration
Committee during the Review Period.

Details of the remuneration of the Directors and the five highest
paid employees are set out in Notes 9 and 10 to the Financial
Statements.

The remuneration of the members of senior management by band
for the Year is set out below:

N E

Remuneration bands

Nil to HK$ 1,000,000 £%1,000,000/8 7T
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Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee consists of three members, namely
Dr. Lu Tao and Ms. Deng Xiaolan, independent non-executive
Director, and Mr. Zhang Xiangming, non-executive Director. Dr.
Lu Tao is the chairman of the Nomination Committee.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are of
no less exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code. The
principal duties of the Nomination Committee include reviewing
the Board composition, developing and formulating relevant
procedures for the nomination and appointment of Directors,
making recommendations to the Board on the appointment and
succession planning of Directors, and assessing the independence
of independent non-executive Directors.

In assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee
would take into account various aspects as well as factors
concerning Board diversity as set out in the Company’s Board
Diversity Policy. The Nomination Committee would discuss and
agree on measurable objectives for achieving diversity on the
Board, where necessary, and recommend them to the Board for
adoption.
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In identifying and selecting suitable candidates for directorships,
the Nomination Committee would consider the candidate’s
relevant criteria as set out in the Director Nomination Policy
that are necessary to complement the corporate strategy and
achieve Board diversity, where appropriate, before making
recommendation to the Board.

As the Company was listed on the Stock Exchange on 30
December 2024, no meeting was held by the Nomination
Committee during the Review Period.

Board Diversity Policy

The Company has adopted the board diversity policy which sets
out the objective and approach for achieving and maintaining
diversity of the Board in order to enhance its effectiveness. In
accordance with the board diversity policy, the Company seeks to
achieve board diversity by taking into account a number of factors,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, professional experience, skills, knowledge and/or
length of service.

Our Directors have an appropriate mix of gender, knowledge and
skills, including overall management and strategic development,
accounting and finance. They obtained degrees in various majors
including accounting, economics, business administration and
medicine. We have three independent non-executive Directors
with different industry backgrounds, representing more than one-
third of the members of our Board. Furthermore, our Board has
a wide range of age, ranging from 38 years old to 58 years old.
We have also taken, and will continue to take, steps to promote
gender diversity at all levels of our Company, including but
without limitation, on our Board. In particular one of our seven
board members is female.

Taking into account our existing business model and specific
needs, as well as the different backgrounds of our Directors, the
composition of our Board satisfies our board diversity policy.

The Nomination Committee will from time to time (i) discuss and

agree on expected goals to ensure board diversity, and (ii) review
the board diversity policy to ensure its continued effectiveness.
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Director Nomination Policy

The Board has delegated its responsibilities and authority for
selection and appointment of Directors to the Nomination
Committee of the Company.

The Company has adopted a director nomination policy (“Director
Nomination Policy”), which sets out the selection criteria and
process and the Board succession planning considerations in
relation to nomination and appointment of Directors of the
Company and aims to ensure that the Board has a balance of
skills, experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to
the Company and the continuity of the Board and appropriate
leadership at Board level.

The Director Nomination Policy sets out the factors for assessing
the suitability and the potential contribution to the Board of a
proposed candidate, including but not limited to the following:

Character and integrity;

o Qualifications including professional qualifications, skills,
knowledge and experience that are relevant to the
Company'’s business and corporate strategy;

o Diversity in all aspects, including but not limited to
gender, age (18 years or above), cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service;

o Requirements of independent non-executive Directors on
the Board and independence of the proposed independent
non-executive Directors in accordance with the Listing Rules;
and

o Commitment in respect of available time and relevant
interest to discharge duties as a member of the Board and/
or Board committee(s) of the Company.

The Director Nomination Policy also sets out the procedures for
the selection and appointment of new Directors and re-election of
Directors at general meetings.
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Dividend policy

As advised by our Cayman Islands legal advisor, under Cayman
Islands law, a position of accumulated losses does not necessarily
restrict our Company from declaring and paying dividends to
our Shareholders out of either our profit or our share premium
account, provided this appears to the Board to be justified by the
financial conditions and the profits of the Company and would
not result in our Company being unable to pay its debts as they
fall due in the ordinary course of business immediately following
the date on which the dividend is proposed to be paid.

As we are a holding company incorporated under the laws of
the Cayman Islands, the payment and amount of any future
dividends will also depend on the availability of dividends received
from our subsidiaries. Any dividends we pay will be determined
at the absolute discretion of our Board, taking into account
factors, including our actual and expected results of operations,
cash flow and financial position, general business conditions and
business strategies, expected working capital requirements and
future expansion plans, legal, regulatory and other contractual
restrictions, and other factors that our Board deems to be
appropriate. Our Shareholders may approve, in a general meeting,
any declaration of dividends, which must not exceed the amount
recommended by our Board. Throughout the Track Record Period,
the Company did not pay or declare any dividend.

Currently, the Company intends to retain most, if not all, of our
available funds and any future earnings to fund the development
and growth of our business. As a result, we have not yet adopted
a formal dividend policy or a fixed dividend distribution ratio with
respect to future dividends.

Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in
the code provision D.3.1 of the CG Code.
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The Board had reviewed the Company’s corporate governance
policies and practices, training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management, the Company’s
policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements, the compliance of the Model Code, and the
Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in this
Corporate Governance Report for the year.

BOARD MEETINGS AND ATTENDANCE

Due to the fact that the Company was listed on 30 December
2024, neither Board meetings nor Board committee meetings
were held throughout the period from the Listing Date to 31
December 2024.

The Board or committee members will circulate the relevant
information provided by the senior management, which sets out
the matters that require to be decided by the Board and the report
concerning the Group’s operation and financial performance prior
to each Board meeting. Schedules for regular Board meetings are
normally agreed with the Directors in advance in order to facilitate
them to attend. Draft agenda of each Board meeting is sent to
the Directors in order to give them an opportunity to include any
other matters in the agenda for discussion in the meeting, and
the chairman of the Board approves the final agenda before each
Board meeting. Notice of regular Board meetings is served to all
the Directors at least 14 days before the meetings. For other Board
meetings and committee meetings, reasonable notice is generally
given.

In respect of regular Board meetings or committee meetings
and so far as practicable in all other cases, meeting papers are
distributed to Directors or committee members at least three days
before the respective meetings to allow them to have sufficient
time to review the relevant documents and prepare for the
meetings. Senior management shall be responsible for preparing
the documents of the Board and committees and submitting
reports upon request from time to time. The Board and each
Director also have separate and independent access to the senior
management where necessary.
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Whenever a substantial Shareholder or a Director has a conflict
of interests which is considered by the Board as material, the
matter will be dealt with by a physical Board meeting rather than
a written resolution.

Relevant senior management would attend regular Board
meetings and where necessary, other Board meetings and
committee meetings, to advise on business developments,
financial and accounting matters, statutory and regulatory
compliance, corporate governance and other major aspects of the
Group.

The Company Secretary is responsible to take and keep minutes
of all Board meetings and committee meetings. Draft minutes are
circulated to the Directors for comment within a reasonable time
after each meeting and the final version is open for Directors’
inspection.

Apart from regular Board meetings, the Board will meet on other
occasions when a Board-level decision on a particular matter is
required. The Directors will receive details of agenda items for
decision in advance of each Board meeting. Board minutes are
kept by the Company Secretary and are open for inspection by
the Directors. Every Board member is entitled to have access to
Board papers and related materials, and has unrestricted access
to the advice and services of the Company Secretary, and has
the liberty to seek external professional advice if so required. The
Board is responsible for maintaining an on-going dialogue with
shareholders and in particular, uses annual general meetings or
other general meetings to communicate with them and encourage
their participation. The Board notes that the Chairman of the
Board and the chairmen or, in their absence, other members of
the Audit Committee, Nomination Committee and Remuneration
Committee of the Company should attend the annual general
meeting to answer questions and collect views of shareholders.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROLS

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the risk management
and internal control systems and reviewing their effectiveness.
Such systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate
the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only
provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss.

The Board has the overall responsibility for evaluating and
determining the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take
in achieving the Company’s strategic objectives, and establishing
and maintaining appropriate and effective risk management and
internal control systems.

The Audit Committee assists the Board in leading the management
and overseeing their design, implementation and monitoring of
the risk management and internal control systems.

The Company’s risk management and internal control systems
have been developed with the following features and processes:

(@) The processes used to identify, evaluate and manage
significant risks by the Group are summarised as follows:

Risk Identification: Identifies risks that may potentially affect
the Group's business and operations.

Risk Assessment: Assesses the risks identified by using the
assessment criteria developed by the management; and
considers the impact and consequence on the business and
the likelihood of their occurrence.

Risk Response: Prioritises the risks by comparing the results
of the risk assessment; and determines the risk management
strategies and internal control processes to prevent, avoid or
mitigate the risks.
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Risk Monitoring and Reporting: Performs ongoing and
periodic monitoring of the risk and ensures that appropriate
internal control processes are in place; revises the risk
management strategies and internal control processes in
case of any significant change of situation; and reports the
results of risk monitoring to the management and the Board
regularly.

(b)  The main features of the risk management and internal
control systems are summarised as follows:

Control procedures have been designed to safeguard
assets against misappropriation and disposition; ensure
compliance with relevant laws, rules and regulations; ensure
proper maintenance of accounting records for provision of
reliable financial information used within the business or
for publication; ensure that unauthorized access and use
of inside information are strictly prohibited; and to provide
reasonable assurance against material misstatement, loss or
fraud.

The Company does not have an internal audit function and is
currently of the view that there is no immediate need to set up
an internal audit function within the Group in light of the size,
nature and complexity of the Group’s business. Nevertheless, the
management of the Group has conducted an annual review of
the risk management and internal control systems for the year
ended 31 December 2024. Such review is conducted annually
and cycles reviewed are under rotation basis. Management
has reported findings and areas for improvement to the Audit
Committee and the Board. The Board and the Audit Committee
are of the view that there are no material internal control defects
noted. All recommendations suggested are properly followed up
to ensure that they are implemented within a reasonable period
of time. The Board and the Audit Committee therefore considered
that the Group’s risk management and internal control systems
are effective and adequate. The Board also satisfied that there are
adequate resources with appropriate qualifications and experience
in its accounting and financial reporting team and that sufficient
training and budget have been provided.
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The Company has developed its Information Disclosure Policy
which provides guidelines and procedures to the Company’s
Directors, senior management and employees in evaluating
and handling confidential information, monitoring information
disclosure, handling market rumors, leakage of information
and responding to enquiries. Control procedures have been
implemented to ensure that unauthorized access and use of
inside information are strictly prohibited. The Group has in place a
restriction-to-access mechanism to ensure that inside information
is restricted to authorised persons on a need-to-know basis in
accordance with the nature of transactions.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing
the financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2024.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement of the independent auditors of the Company about
their reporting responsibilities on the financial statements is set
out in the Independent Auditors’ Report on pages 151 to 157.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The remuneration paid to the external auditor of the Company,
KPMG, in respect of audit services and non-audit services of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 is set out below:
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Fees paid/payable (RVB'000)

Services rendered RAEMRE g ERERARETT)
Audit services EiT RS 2,500
IPO-related services HE R ABEERERE 2,295
Non-audit services IEEET RS 150
Total @et 4,945
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COMPANY SECRETARY

During the Review Period, the Company appointed Mr. Li Guomin
("Mr. Li”) and Mr. Tam Chun Wai Edwin (“Mr. Tam") of Noble
Partners CPA Company as joint company secretaries. Mr. Li has
resigned as the joint company secretary and Mr. Chen Zhoufeng
was appointed as the joint company secretary on 28 March 2025.

The biographical details of Mr. Li, Mr. Chen Zhoufeng and Mr.
Tam are set out under the section headed “Biographical Details
of Directors and Senior Management” in the annual report. Mr.
Li and Mr. Chen Zhoufeng are the previous and current chief
financial officer of the Company respectively and have day-to day
knowledge of the Company affairs. Mr. Tam is not an employee
of our Group and he is responsible for advising the board on
governance matters and providing assistance to Mr. Li/Mr. Chen
Zhoufeng for an initial period of three years from their respective
appointment dates to enable them to acquire the “relevant
experience” under Rule 3.28 of the Listing Rules so as to fully
comply with the requirements set forth under Rules 3.28 and 8.17
of the Listing Rules. The chief financial officer of the Company,
Mr. Li was, and subsequently Mr. Chen Zhoufeng is, the primary
person whom Mr. Tam can contact regularly and work closely for
the purpose of code provision C.6.1 of the Code.

Mr. Tam confirmed that he has complied with Rule 3.29 of
the Listing Rules by taking no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training during the year ended 31 December 2024.

Mr. Li has attended certain relevant training during the Year.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The Company engages with shareholders through various
communication channels.

To safeguard shareholder interests and rights, separate resolution
should be proposed for each substantially separate issue at
general meetings, including the election of individual Director. All
resolutions put forward at general meetings will be voted on by
poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results will be posted
on the websites of the Company and of the Stock Exchange after
each general meeting.
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Convening an Extraordinary General Meeting

Pursuant to Article 9.3 of the Company’s Articles of Association,
The Board may, whenever it thinks fit, convene an extraordinary
general meeting. Extraordinary general meetings shall also be
convened on the requisition of one or more Shareholders holding,
at the date of deposit of the requisition, not less than one tenth of
the paid up capital of the Company having the right of voting at
general meetings. Such requisition shall be made in writing to the
Board or a Secretary for the purpose of requiring an extraordinary
general meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction
of any business specified in such requisition. Such meeting shall
be held within two months after the deposit of such requisition.
If within 21 days of such deposit, the Board fails to proceed to
convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves)
may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses
incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the
Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Putting Forward Proposals at Annual General
Meetings

There is no provision allowing shareholders to move new
resolutions at general meeting under the Cayman Islands
Companies Law or the Articles of Association of the Company.
Shareholders who wish to move a resolution may request the
Company to convene a general meeting following the procedures
set out in the preceding paragraph.

Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may send written enquiries and concerns to the
Company by mail to the Company'’s principal place of business in
Hong Kong at 4/F, Wah Yuen Building, 149 Queen’s Road Central,
Hong Kong.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with
shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
investor understanding of the Group’s business performance and
strategies. The Company is endeavours to maintain an on-going
dialogue with shareholders and in particular, through annual
general meetings and other general meetings,publishing corporate
communications such as interim results and annual results,
financial reports, announcements and circulars. Shareholders
may make enquiries with the Company through channels as
mentioned above, and provide comments and recommendations
to the Directors. Upon receipt of enquiries from shareholders, the
Company will respond as soon as practicable.

The Company has not made any changes to its Memorandum
and Articles of Association since the Listing Date. An up to date
version of the Company’s Memorandum and Articles of Association
is available on the Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s
website.

Communication with Shareholders

The Company has in place a Shareholders’ Communication Policy
to ensure that shareholders’ views and concerns are appropriately
addressed. The policy is regularly reviewed to ensure its
effectiveness. The Board and management maintain a continuing
dialogue with the Shareholders and other stakeholders through
various channels including but not limited to the Company’s
general meetings. The Company encourages all Shareholders
to attend general meeting which provides a useful forum for
Shareholders to exchange views with the Board.

Policies relating to Shareholders

The Company has in place a Shareholders’ Communication Policy
to ensure that shareholders’ views and concerns are appropriately
addressed. As the Company was listed on the Stock Exchange
on 30 December 2024, no review was conducted during the
Review Period. Going forward, the Company will review the policy
regularly to ensure its effectiveness.

The Company has not yet adopted a Dividend Policy on payment
of dividends pursuant to code provision E1.1 of the CG Code.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

About the Report
Report profile

This is the first Environmental, Social and Governance Report
("ESG Report”) issued by HealthyWay Inc. (hereinafter referred
to as “HealthyWay”, “the Group” or “we"), which aims to
disclose to stakeholders the Group’s management policies in
environmental and social aspects and the responsible practices in
2024.

Reporting period

The report is an annual report, and the reporting period is the
Group's environmental and social performance from 1 January
to 31 December 2024. To enhance the readability of the report,
some content or data may relate to previous or subsequent years.

Organization scope of the report

The report covers the Group’s headquarters and all branches and
subsidiaries.

Data description of the report

The data and cases used in the report are from the Group's
internal documents, statistical reports and related summaries and
statistics of responsibility performance.

Basis of preparation

The report is prepared in accordance with the C2 Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Code of the Listing Rules of the
Stock Exchange.

Reporting principles

We have compiled the report in accordance with the “mandatory
disclosure” and “comply or explain” provisions of the
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Code. The
Group gives full consideration to the following reporting principles
to ensure the quality of the information disclosed:
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R HERER®RE

Materiality: The Group has identified key ESG issues through a
materiality assessment, and the relevant process and results have
been disclosed in the report. For detailed information, please refer
to the “Materiality assessment” section of the report.

Quantification: The Group makes quantitative disclosures of
key performance indicators in the “environmental” and “social”
categories that have historical data in accordance with the “Key
Performance Indicators” requirements in the “Listing Rules
Guidance — C2 Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting
Code” of the Stock Exchange. Forward-looking information such as
targets is disclosed as quantitatively as possible, and the statistical
process will be gradually improved in the future to achieve full
disclosure.

Balance: The report disclosures aims to objectively, fairly,
and truthfully reflect the Group’s environmental and social
performance and practices in 2024, and responsibly discloses the
problems encountered and improvement measures.

Consistency: The Group follows a consistent statistical method of
disclosure. For information disclosed for the first time in the report,
the Group will adopt a consistent method of ESG information
disclosure in subsequent years to provide more reference-based
performance disclosure.

Access and response to the report

The report will be published on the website of the Stock
Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and the Group’s official website
(www.jkzl.com). The report is published in both Chinese and
English. If you have any comments or suggestions on the report
or the Group's ESG performance, please send an email to:
jkzljit@jkzl.com.
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Corporate culture awards and honors

No.
iweR

Qualifications/honors

BE RE

Leading Enterprise in Software Industry of
Fuzhou City in 2024
2024 @M T ERIF S BESR b 2

2024 China Top 100 Innovative Medical
Services Companies
2024 P B BT B R RIS TOP100

2024 Future Unicorn Innovative Enterprises
of Digital Economy in Fujian Province
2024 F RIEE M FRIBRF AR B AE

f= 3

Innovative small and medium-sized
enterprises in Fujian
BEABIFA R/

Top 50 enterprises in Fujian Province with
the strongest comprehensive Internet
capabilities in 2024

2024F 1B E B AR S B NRTSOR B

2022-2023 Fuzhou City Enterprise of
Observing Contracts and Valuing Credit
20222023 ERRMTTAREEREE

Fujian Specialized, High-Quality and New
Small and Medium-Sized Enterprises

wBREEERENT/ I E

RIR - HERER®RE

ENLRIRHKE

Acquisition time

EEEE

April 2024

2024541

May 2024

2024454

June 2024

2024F6 A

June 2024

2024%6 A

August 2024

202448 A

November 2024

2024F 11 A

December 2024

202412 A

Awarding organization
TEEE

Bureau of Industry and Information
Technology of Fuzhou City

BN TEMERILRD

VBDATA.cn, VB100

R4 - VB100

Fujian Provincial Data Administration

BRABEBEERR

Department of Industry and Information
Technology of Fujian Province

s TEMESEE

Internet Society of Fujian

wEEEBERE

Fuzhou Administration for Market
Supervision
BINTTMSEEERER

Department of Industry and Information
Technology of Fujian Province

w|EETERMEEE
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2024 China Top 100 Innovative Medical Services 2024 Future Unicorn Innovative Enterprises of Digital
Companies Economy in Fujian Province
20245 B3 B R PRI EETOP100 2024 FRBEBFRBREARKBARIBE

(@2

&

BFERRRZEER

2024 i 15IE4

kR

20245%REf71008- P EET S MO E

Top 50 enterprises in Fujian Province with the strongest 2022-2023 Fuzhou City Enterprise of Observing
comprehensive Internet capabilities in 2024 Contracts and Valuing Credit
2024 F B IEE B PR A ENASOREE 20222023 ERMTTEaREEALE
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Board of Directors’ Statement

The Board of Directors of the Group assumes full responsibility
for the Group’s environmental, social and governance strategy
and reporting, is responsible for evaluating and determining
the Group’s environmental, social and governance risks, and
ensuring that the Group has established appropriate and effective
environmental, social and governance risk management and
internal control systems.

We build smart medical bridges to empower doctors, improve
the overall level of medical care, solve the problem of uneven
resources, pave the HealthyWay for patients, and provide the
public with high-quality and accessible medical services by building
an integrated health management network. Our opportunities
for development come from people’s growing health needs
and their pursuit of a high-quality life. To this end, the Group
pays particular attention to corporate sustainable development,
establishes and improves the ESG governance system, and has the
Board of Directors lead and participate in the review and decision-
making of major ESG matters, including identifying and assessing
ESG risks, formulating ESG strategies and policies, prioritizing ESG
matters, establishing management policies and plans, approving
and reviewing ESG target management, and approving annual
ESG reports.

Based on the external environment and the Group’s development
strategy, during the Reporting Period, the Group identified
key ESG issues based on stakeholder communication, so as to
clarify work priorities, including: information security and privacy
protection, employee well-being, product and service quality,
business ethics, and addressing climate change.
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In the field of environmental, social and governance risk
management, the Board of Directors has taken active measures
to establish a reasonable and efficient risk management and
internal control system for the Group. We are fully aware of
ESG risks closely related to supply chain stability, intellectual
property protection, government regulations, information
security protection, and human resources. We continue to
optimize our internal management mechanisms and information
disclosure, and improve the Company’s environmental, social and
governance capabilities as a whole. We will continue to improve
the Company’s operational management capabilities and adjust its
sustainable development management strategies as appropriate in
response to the demands of all parties, so as to create favorable
conditions for the Company’s better development.

The report provides a detailed disclosure of the progress and
effectiveness of the Group’s ESG efforts in 2024. The Group's
Board of Directors, as the highest responsible and decision-making
body for ESG matters, ensures that there are no false records,
misleading statements or material omissions in the content of
the report, and assumes full responsibility for the authenticity,
accuracy and completeness of its content.

. Sustainable Development Management

We are committed to being a responsible corporate citizen,
abiding by all applicable laws and generally accepted ethical
principles, and advocating corporate social responsibility and
sustainable development in all major aspects of our business.
We believe that ESG corporate sustainable development is
based on the original intention of a better tomorrow for
human society, which is closely related to the development
direction of the Group’s business. Therefore, we attach
great importance to the implementation of the ESG concept
in business management.

HealthyWay Inc. {2 BB HERAT
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We focus on making constructive investments in
environmentally friendly operations, social welfare projects,
and the optimization of corporate governance. Due to
the nature of our business, we do not directly operate
production facilities, and therefore we consider the
environmental, social, and governance risks of our business
activities to be relatively low. We have implemented a series
of strategies and measures to guide the integration of
corporate social responsibility and sustainable development.
In addition, we have established a diverse range of
communication channels to engage with stakeholders in
the healthcare industry and better understand different
environmental and social perspectives. The Board of
Directors has the ultimate decision-making power to review,
approve, implement and update our environmental, social
and governance policies, and is responsible for managing
other significant related matters. These initiatives are
designed to ensure our long-term sustainability on both the
social and environmental fronts.

ESG governance

The Group has established a sound ESG governance
framework. The Board of Directors is the highest responsible
body for ESG management and information disclosure,
and is responsible for reviewing and approving the Group's
ESG strategic planning and objectives, ESG governance
structure and important systems, ESG reports and related
information disclosure. The Board of Directors strengthens
the supervision of ESG matters by ensuring that the Group
has established a suitable and effective environmental, social
and governance risk management system, and improves
major ESG-related decision-making and deployment.

(1)  The ESG Committee under the Board of Directors is
the main committee responsible for overseeing ESG
matters, and consists of three members. The main
responsibilities of the committee include:

o Provide guidance and review on the formulation
of strategies and tactics for ESG matters, and
report and propose to the Board of Directors.
A meeting is held every six months to identify,
evaluate and manage the progress on key ESG
objectives;
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o Assess and determine risks related to
environmental, social and governance;

o Ensure the establishment of appropriate and
effective environmental, social and governance
risk management and internal monitoring
systems;

o Review externally disclosed ESG-related reports
and report to and make recommendations to
the Board of Directors.

(2) Form a Group-level ESG working group at the
management level, whose responsibilities include:

o Keep abreast of the latest ESG-related laws and
regulations, including applicable provisions of the
Listing Rules, keep the ESG Committee informed
of any changes in relevant laws and regulations,
and update our ESG policies in accordance with
the latest regulatory requirements;

o Identify key stakeholders based on our business
operations and understand their concerns about
ESG issues and respond accordingly;

o The person in charge of each entity responsible
for ESG work is responsible for risk assessment
and risk management of ESG matters under this
function, and regularly reports to the leader of
the ESG working group, etc.

We have implemented the ESG strategic approach from
top to bottom in all departments and subsidiaries. The
ESG working group drives implementation, integrates ESG
into the daily business management and operations of all
departments, and continuously improves the effectiveness
of ESG work.
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Stakeholder communication

We are committed to identifying and understanding the

needs and expectations of the Group's key stakeholders.

To this end, we have established regular communication

channels with all parties. We focus on interacting with

our stakeholders, paying comprehensive attention to

and responding to their expectations and suggestions

in a proactive manner. We maintain frequent two-way

communication, so that we can gain a deep insight into the

voices and values of all walks of life. We respond to their

needs through multiple channels, so as to establish a solid

relationship of mutual trust.

Stakeholder
FREEE S

Government agencies

Expectations and demands

HEEER

Comply with national policies and laws
and regulations

Promote local economic development

Drive local employment

Pay taxes in full and on time

RIR - HERER®RE
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Communication
and response methods

EREEEL X

Inspect and supervise

BURF#1E BTBRBOR MOERER wmEREE
R 7 AR B B
mENh T B3R
1R R R
Shareholders Returns Shareholders’ general meeting

Compliant operation

Enhance the value of the Group

Information transparency and efficient
communication

Was Bl

BREE

RAKEER

ERBEARSRER

Group announcements and circulars
Email, telephone communication

and the Group website
Specialized report

BEAE

EEAE R

TH - BEBNREEE
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Stakeholder

Expectations and demands

Communication
and response methods

MEAEES MR ERER BEEEEL N
Partner Operate with integrity Review and evaluation meeting
Fair competition Business communication
Fulfill a contract according to the law Communication and discussion
Mutually beneficial and win-win Negotiation for cooperation
BIERH MK E EEHEFEE
NS s [EE 3
HOEBL AR
EREEY ] JAREE
Customer Quality products and services Customer service centre and hotline
Health and safety Customer opinion survey
Fulfill a contract according to the law Customer communication meeting
Operate with integrity Social media platform
=P 2 E E m B RS B P IRISH O FNEER
=R BEFPER#AE
HOEBR BRBRE R
MIEEE HREEEF e

Environmental protection

Energy conservation and emission

Communicate with local

agency reduction environmental authorities

Use water wisely Submit a report

IRIRHERE BRI EEIRITE IR
BIEMAK RS

Industry Industry standard formulation Participate in industry forums
Promote the development of the industry

7% TTRZESIE DERITHERIE
TREITRER

Employee Safeguard employees’ rights Employee communication meeting
Occupational health and safety Group newsletter and intranet
Remuneration and benefits Employee mailbox
Career development Training and workshops
Humanistic care Employee activity

8T R S ik
BERERLZE B A TR R
HEEA BT
BEIR IEFIE T Y
AXFAE BIES

Community and public Transparent information disclosure Group website

Y S YN B AFERA S E L
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Assessment of important issues

In our daily operations, we always adhere to the principles
of materiality, comprehensiveness and balance, and
maintain close communication with all stakeholders. We
have collected and systematically organized the concerns
and needs of internal and external stakeholders. With
reference to the ESG Reporting Code (ESG#RESFAI)) and
other mainstream ESG disclosure standards, and taking into
account the Group’s business characteristics and operating
model, we have identified the Group’s key ESG issues and
conducted a materiality assessment from the perspectives of
both stakeholders and the Group.

List of ESG important issues

ESGEEMZEBEIIR
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Highly important
BEEE

Product liability

EmEE
Compliant operation

BREE

Development and training

Data security and customer privacy
protection

L2 HEPEBLRE

Technological development and
innovation

g R BRI

Anti-commercial bribery and
anti-corruption

Employment management

EREEE

Inclusive healthcare

BREE REEERERES

Important

BE

Supply chain security Health and safety Intellectual property protection

HEEZ S (eSS HBMERERE

ESG management

ESGEIE

Related

1HE8

Combating climate change Pollutant emissions Waste disposal

FEERIRE L VG RBERL EEEYEIE

Environmental compliance Energy utilization Utilization of water resources
management

RIEEHREE BEIRA A IREIRF A

Social contribution Labour standards

HEERE BT AR
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Compliance Governance, Integrity
Management

Corporate governance and risk control

The Group strictly abides by the Corporate Governance Code
and the relevant provisions of the Listing Rules to establish
a relatively sound and standardized Group governance
structure, forming a supervision and restraint mechanism
that operates efficiently and maintains effective checks and
balances. We actively integrate diverse resources, steadily
improve the effectiveness of corporate governance, and are
committed to continuously improving the effectiveness of
operations and management.

The highest decision-making body of the Group is the
Board of Directors. Under the Board of Directors are the
Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee, Nomination
Committee, and ESG Committee. The Board of Directors
not only determines the strategic direction of the Company,
but also focuses on risk management and internal control
to ensure the stable operation of the Company and pave a
solid path for the development of the Group. Among them,
the ESG Committee is the main committee responsible for
overseeing environmental and social issues.

In 2024, the Board of Directors held 2 meetings, and the
overall attendance rate of the Board of Directors was 100%.

We have adopted a board diversity policy. In accordance
with the board diversity policy, the Group considers a
number of factors, including but not limited to gender,
age, cultural and educational background, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and/or length of service, to
achieve board diversity. We have three independent non-
executive Directors with different industry backgrounds,
representing more than one-third of the members of our
Board. We have also taken, and will continue to take,
steps to promote gender diversity at all levels of the Group,
including but without limitation, on our Board. Among
our seven Board members, one is female, accounting for
14%. Taking into account our existing business model and
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specific needs, as well as the different backgrounds of our
Directors, the composition of our Board satisfies our board
diversity policy. The Nomination Committee will from time
to time discuss and agree on expected goals to ensure board
diversity, and review the board diversity policy to ensure its
continued effectiveness.

The Group adheres to the baseline of the rule of law,
compliance and responsibility, and continues to strengthen
the construction of a comprehensive risk management and
control system. In balancing returns and risks, the Group is
committed to building a robust risk performance evaluation
mechanism to achieve the harmonious advancement of
risk management and business development. To ensure
that risks of all kinds are continuously monitored, the
Group has established a comprehensive risk monitoring
and reporting system. Once an abnormality is detected,
immediate measures are taken and reported. Through this
mechanism, the Group has laid a solid foundation for future
development.

Integrity and anti-corruption

We have formulated the Anti-Corruption and Anti-Bribery
Policy to safeguard the Group from any corrupt practices.
We prohibit employees from receiving or giving any form of
bribes or kickbacks in dealings with suppliers, customers, or
any other third parties. We also organize training sessions
regularly for our employees, regarding our anti-corruption
and anti-bribery policy. Our internal policy requires each
department to perform self-checks on any violations in
key processes and functions on a regular basis, and report
any violations or track possible risks to the office of chief
executive officer and the efficiency centre.

The Group actively combats corruption. In 2024, the Group
conducted a total of 2 anti-corruption training sessions for
employees, including 1 session for the Board of Directors,
with a 100% coverage rate.
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The Group has strengthened its internal control mechanisms
to firmly promote anti-corruption and anti-bribery work in
its business activities, to be honest and trustworthy, and to
establish a business philosophy with law-abiding integrity
and quality service at its core. Combining the actual situation
of the Group, it has strengthened institutional supervision,
promoted institutional anti-corruption, and strengthened
supervision and management of key links and key personnel
in key positions that are prone to corruption, to ensure
a commitment system for the governance of commercial
bribery and strict compliance with fair competition rules. In
2024, the Group had no cases of punishment due to anti-
corruption.

To facilitate the smooth conduct of anti-corruption work,
we have taken the following measures:

(1)  We establish a leading body for the governance of
commercial bribery and carry out work to govern
commercial bribery;

(2)  We establish a reporting mailbox for commercial
bribery prevention work (jkzljt@jkzl.com), and publicize
the reporting hotline (0591-6350 9939);

(3) We establish a whistleblower protection mechanism,
allowing employees to anonymously report corruption.
In the case of a real-name report, the principle of
minimum disclosure is followed during the handling
process, and retaliation is strictly prohibited;

(4) In the process of implementing anti-bribery/anti-
corruption measures, the Group’'s management
department will conduct inspections to promptly
identify the signs of commercial bribery and study and
implement countermeasures and measures to prevent
commercial bribery. A commitment system for the
prevention of commercial bribery is implemented for
personnel in key links and key positions, and personnel
in important positions personally sign an “Anti-Bribery/
Anti-Corruption Commitment” with the Group;
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(5)  We require suppliers and other third parties to sign
an anti-corruption and anti-bribery commitment, and
comply with relevant PRC laws and regulations.

Information security and privacy protection

HealthyWay strictly abides by laws and regulations such
as the Cyber Security Law of the People’s Republic of
China ({(FPEAREME R4 2%)) and the Personal
Information Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China
((FREARKFBEIEAZBIREEL)), and is committed to
protecting data privacy and security. We have formulated
and implemented strict data collection, processing and use
policies for the entire platform. The Group has established
an emergency response team to conduct disaster recovery
drills on important systems and improve the systems. Our
back-end security system is capable of handling malicious
attacks, safeguarding the security of our platform, and
protecting the privacy of our users. We have been certified
with the 1SO27001 information security management
system, with a focus on data security and the protection of
personal information.

To ensure the confidentiality and integrity of our data, we
implement a strict data security program and regularly back
up our data offline to independent and multiple secure
data backup systems to minimize the risk of data loss. We
also frequently review the backup systems to ensure that
they function properly and are well maintained. We have
detailed protocol for maintenance management, risk alert
and monitoring, network security management and disaster
recovery, to ensure our operating continuity.

We have also established a business continuity plan in case
of disaster events, including natural or unnatural disasters
that could lead to various business interruptions, such
as network and data security incidents, network failures,
or physical server room malfunction. In addition, our
maintenance team closely monitors common technical issues
and the usage of resources.
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We have adopted and implemented a robust internal
control system. Our internal control protocols cover the full
lifecycle of data processing, including data collection, data
encryption and transportation, data storage security, data
backup and recovery, data processing and analytics, proper
use of data, data destruction and disposition. We require all
our employees and registered physicians to protect privacy
and personal information of individual users. We protect
the information security of our employees and users by
implementing a series of measures:

»  We strictly prohibit unauthorized, improper collection
or use of personal data or information.

»  We prohibit employees from storing any work-related
files, documents, or data on unauthorized servers or
personal computers.

»  We require employees to acknowledge and sign
confidentiality agreements, which set out their
confidentiality obligations upon their employment.

»  We implement stringent data security monitoring and
alert systems for sensitive data.

In 2024, the Group conducted a total of 2 information
security training sessions, including training on emergency
response plans for major failures and spot checks of antivirus
software and genuine software on office computers. The
Group attaches great importance to information security
and has established a comprehensive emergency response
system for major failures. We organize information security
emergency drills according to a detailed emergency drill
plan to improve the response capabilities of employees.
After the drill, we promptly issue an emergency drill report,
continuously optimize the information security emergency
response mechanism, and ensure that the Group’s
information system can quickly and effectively recover in
the face of major failures, so as to maximize the security
of information assets and business continuity. Through
emergency response plan training, the Group’s IT Resource
Centre tests and verifies the effectiveness of emergency
response plans for major failures, identifies potential
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problems and the room for improvement in a timely
manner, improves the emergency response capabilities of
the team, exercises the emergency response capabilities of
personnel responsible for various systems, and enhances
personnel’s awareness of safety risks. In 2024, the Group
had no information security incidents.

Service First, Win-Win Together
Technological innovation

Internet technology is changing rapidly. The Group has
formulated the Technological Innovation Management
System ((FATEIFTE R HIE ) to more effectively organize,
encourage and manage innovation activities, and enhance
innovation capabilities and core competitiveness.

At the level of technological innovation governance,
the Group has set up a management team, a product
technology committee, a technological innovation working
group, and various business departments to work together.
The management team is responsible for approving the
Group's technological innovation development strategies
and goals, making decisions on major technological
innovation issues, determining key matters such as the
technological innovation management structure and
management system, and providing strategic guidance
and decision-making support for the Group’s technological
innovation. The product technology committee discusses
major technological innovation issues and formulates a
sound management system; and comprehensively identifies
and effectively controls various risks related to the daily
management of technological innovation. The technological
innovation working group establishes and improves external
communication workflows at multiple levels, such as
implementation, system planning, and summary feedback,
to ensure that the Group’s technological innovation
work can fully consider the interests of all parties and
achieve positive interaction between the enterprise and
its stakeholders. Each business department is responsible
for implementing its main responsibilities and submitting
information reports, doing a solid job of daily management
of technological innovation-related work, and ensuring the
effective implementation of technological innovation work.

.
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The Group sets the strategic direction for technological
innovation, regards technological innovation as the core
driving force for the Group's sustainable development, and
is committed to comprehensively improving environmental
friendliness, social contribution and corporate governance
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through technological innovation.

Short-term goals (1-2 years)

RHEEZE0-2F)

Establish a sound technology innovation management system and carry
out at least five ESG-related technology innovation projects.
BUTENRMAFEERE  RREDSEEESGHREANKIMNAIFIEA
H o

Medium-term goals (3-5 years)

HRB 1R (3-5%F)

Achieve remarkable results in technological innovation and develop at least
20 ESG-related technologies or products with independent intellectual
property rights.

FERMAIFE D mESRRERR - WK ED 201888 B T HBEERESG
MR ER °

Long-term goals (more than 5 years)

RHEBR(GFIAL)

Become a leader in technological innovation in the industry and make
significant contributions to solving global environmental and social
problems through technological innovation.

RBITRARMAIFEERE - BBRMEH SR RRNHLEH

BHEEZER -

We invest substantial resources in research and development,
focusing primarily on improving information technologies,
developing new products and services, and enhancing
customer support and user experience. Our research and
development personnel primarily consists of platform
architects, front-end developers, middle-office developers,
data engineers, test engineers, application engineers, and
user interface (Ul) designers. We have a dedicated team of
data engineers who focus on business data model building,
data analysis, and interface development, and maintain and
upgrade our healthcare data processing capabilities.
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Our research and development mechanism enables effective
interaction across departments. In line with our overall
business strategy, the research and development department
is dedicated to technological improvement and technical
service support by studying the latest Internet technologies.
Driven by our research and development mechanism, we
have built the technological structure of our platform,
enabled medical institutions to provide better services, and
further enhanced our Internet-based health and medical
services offerings both online and offline. In addition, our
research and development department formulates new
plans for technological advancement and innovation every
year, in order to execute our business growth strategies.

Create innovative services with high-quality
applications

Al medical assistant

In the context of medical consultation, a personal Al assistant
for physicians is constructed. Through Al, the assistant
communicates with the patient multiple times before the
consultation, simulating the physician’s consultation process
in the form of medical dialogue interaction before the
patient’s visit, collecting the patient’s medical condition
information in advance, and generating a pre-consultation
report and medical condition analysis report in electronic
medical record format to send to the physician, so that the
physician can understand the patient’s condition in advance
and improve the medical experience and efficiency.
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Al health butler

Based on the patient’s health information, past medical
history, health history, living habits, medical records,
consultation records, physical examination reports, etc., the
health management platform intelligently generates the
patient’s health profile. The Al will then formulate targeted
health management plans based on the situation of each
patient, and push relevant health information, to provide
patients with a comprehensive range of health management
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Improve service quality BAREME

Our research and development mechanism enables effective
interaction across departments. In line with our overall
business strategy, the research and development department
is dedicated to technological improvement and technical
service support by studying the latest Internet technologies.
Driven by our research and development mechanism, we
have built the technological structure of our platform,
enabled medical institutions to provide better services, and
further enhanced our Internet-based health and medical
services offerings both online and offline. In addition, our
research and development department formulates new
plans for technological advancement and innovation every
year, in order to execute our business growth strategies.
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Our health management plans are dedicated to providing
one-stop health management services to different individual
and corporate customers. We consistently develop our
healthcare service portfolio in order to strengthen our
service capabilities. We handpick healthcare services
from our service portfolio and group them into different
health membership schemes, in order to satisfy the diverse
demands of individual and corporate customers. Our goal is
to further strengthen and develop the platform’s underlying
technologies, such as machine learning, deep learning, data
mining, natural language processing, algorithm design and
Al model training. We plan to leverage these enhanced
underlying technologies, together with the vast amount of
data we collect, to further strengthen the platform’s digital
capabilities and help individual users track and manage
their health. Meanwhile, we develop more clinical features
for digital tools and services that we provide to physicians.
By integrating Al-driven applications and solutions into our
platform, we are committed to optimizing the usability
and functionalities for users, physicians and other industry
stakeholders associated with our platform. We also
endeavour to support pharmaceutical companies in terms
of research and development of drugs and clinical trials,
and improve the systems we develop for hospitals and
local health authorities to enhance the efficiency of their
management and operations. In 2024, we had no product
returns for safety and health reasons.

We offer one-on-one personalized services. An online
health consultant will be designated to each customer to
provide one-on-one personalized support services. Individual
customers may turn to their designated health consultants
for information when they have any health-related
queries. The designated health consultants offer practical
information to individual customers based on their personal
and/or family health conditions.
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We provide whole-process support services. Individual
customers of our health membership schemes benefit from
the convenience provided by our medical agency services
during the whole process of their medical care experience.
Upon receiving instructions from individual customers,
our healthcare consultants can facilitate their medical care
experience with various services, such as appointment
scheduling, consultation guidance and visit planning, and
reminder services.

We render advanced care coordination services. According
to our individual customers’ medical demands, we can
coordinate all medical resources available on our platform,
and connect individual customers to more advanced medical
resources. We are also able to coordinate medical resources
to meet individual customers’ demands for advanced
medical services such as second opinion, multidisciplinary
team consultation, surgery arrangement, and even overseas
hospital visit. Individual customers who plan to visit unfamiliar
hospitals may request from us medical escort services that
aim to create hassle-free in-hospital experience. We charge
our individual customers separately for extra external cost of
services incurred in provision of advanced care coordination
services.

We deliver the healthcare education. Individual customers
of our health membership schemes could have unlimited
access to a pool of health and medical education resources
on our platform. Our healthcare education resources cover
a wide range of topics such as child health, prenatal care
and chronic disease management. Our healthcare content
is delivered in diverse forms, including live streaming,
video clips, audio clips, and articles. For instance, we have
invited top experts practicing in different medical specialties
to provide real-time exchange sessions, and lecture our
individual customers on a variety of health topics. Individual
customers can either join lectures live via our WeChat public
accounts, or watch video recordings later.
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Quality and safety of our services
Guarantee the quality of service

The Group follows the Measures for the Supervision and
Administration of Online Pharmaceuticals Sales (€ % T 48 4%
HEEEEEEYHA)), attaches great importance to ensuring
the quality of customer service, focuses on customer
satisfaction and customer complaints, and regards them as
key indicators for measuring the quality of our services. We
have formulated the Incident/Failure/Opinion Management
Specification (FEH/H5/E R EIRHE)), which states that
customer satisfaction and the interests of the Group shall be
the guiding principles, and all parties shall actively handle
various customer incidents; defines the types of incidents,
and stipulates the incident reporting process, conditions,
and other matters such as the responsible person, forming a
comprehensive system. We have formulated the Customer
Service Complaint Handling Measures ({ & F R 1% 1% & 2
I ¥t 7% )) to standardize the customer complaint handling
process, clarify the responsibilities and principles for
complaint handling, and enable complaints to be handled
promptly and effectively. The Group classifies complaints as
ordinary complaints, major complaints and crisis complaints.
For ordinary complaints, a complaint handling plan should
be determined and the customer should be responded to
within 24 hours. For major complaints, the corresponding
personnel should be contacted immediately via OA and
telephone. After receiving the feedback, a complaint
handling plan should be determined and the customer
should be responded to within 4 hours. Crisis complaints
need to be reported to the person in charge of the highest
level of management, who will promptly make a judgment
on the crisis, coordinate and mobilize the resources from
relevant departments, and formulate a crisis management
plan.

In 2024, the Group received a total of 18 complaints,
and the complaint handling rate was 100%. During the
Reporting Period, there were no notices or penalties received
regarding any major non-compliance with service-related
laws or regulations or violations of quality and safety laws
or regulations. We have implemented a series of quality and
safety measures to ensure service quality and safety:
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We monitor the quality and safety of our health and medical
services mainly by monitoring physicians and other medical
experts on our platform. Medical consultation services on
our platform are provided by licensed physicians only and
prescriptions shall be issued by the responsible licensed
physicians. Any automatic prescription issuance, such as
artificial intelligence-assisted prescription issuance, is strictly
prohibited. We designate licensed pharmacists in our
pharmacies to review prescriptions and provide guidance to
patients regarding use of prescription drugs. We carefully
monitor external opinions on the quality of services provided
on our platform. We have in place quality and safety
measures regarding the corporate and digital marketing
services provided to corporate and institutional customers.
We have formulated the White Paper on the Standards
for Compiled Article Production ({{&# X E £ EZEA K
£)) and rigorously review the content provided by internal
and external content creators to ensure compliance with
the relevant PRC laws and regulations. We desensitize any
data and privacy accessible to us, in provision of content
services. In case of our information technology services,
we normally provide a warranty period of one to two years
upon delivery of relevant technology infrastructure system to
our customers. Our after-sales specialists provide responsive
warranty services, including on-site maintenance, remote
guidance, free trainings and software updates. In 2024, we
carried out a customer satisfaction survey and achieved a
satisfaction rate of 100%.

Intellectual property protection

Intellectual property is fundamental to our success and
competitiveness, and we devote significant time and
resources to the development and protection of intellectual
property. As of 2024, we had been issued with eight
software copyrights, 211 patents, and 129 registered
trademarks in China. We had also registered 30 domain
names in China, including yihu.com.
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We have taken a series of rigorous measures to
comprehensively protect the intellectual property rights
in the Group’s business. This includes, but is not limited
to, various legal means such as the patent law, trade
secrets, copyright and trademark law, and licensing
agreements. We have also signed confidentiality agreements
with our employees and customers to form a solid
protection network. To further enhance protection, we
have implemented internal policies, strict confidentiality
agreements, and data encryption and security measures.
When employees are hired, they must sign a standard
employment contract that clearly states that any inventions,
trade secrets, and development processes created during the
course of their work belong to the Group.

Supply chain management

We strictly abide by relevant laws and regulations, exercise
strict control over the selection of suppliers related
to our business, and have established a rigorous and
comprehensive system within the Group to ensure a stable,
efficient and clean supply chain. We have formulated the
Supplier Management Measures ((EREIRPE)) to
reduce procurement risks and costs, improve the quality
and stability of resources or services, optimize supplier
compliance management, and standardize the cooperation
and management between government and enterprise
management departments and cost suppliers in various
aspects such as supplier selection, renewal, control and
evaluation, so as to ensure that cooperation with suppliers
meets the Group’s cost control and business development
needs by clarifying access qualifications, evaluation criteria,
performance evaluation, relationship management, violation
handling and assessment requirements. Meanwhile, through
regular assessments and incentives, we promote suppliers’
continuous improvement of cost control capabilities and
service levels, achieving a win-win development for both
parties.
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Our departments of procurement management, IT resources,
technical services, and business management all have
corresponding supplier evaluation standards, management
methods, and reserve systems. We comprehensively evaluate
and select suppliers from multiple dimensions such as
qualification review, service quality, and technical strength
to ensure that the suppliers we introduce have professional
capabilities and service levels. We establish a comprehensive
assessment indicator system, in which cost control indicators
occupy an important position, including but not limited to
the procurement cost savings rate, price competitiveness
analysis, etc. we reward suppliers with outstanding
performance and give them priority for cooperation
opportunities. Meanwhile, we require suppliers who fail to
meet standards to make improvements or be eliminated, and
clearly stipulate the signing and management of subsequent
contracts with suppliers, forming a complete set of control
processes that effectively ensure the smooth progress of
the Group’s related businesses. The Company refers to the
Procurement Management Code, identifies and monitors
suppliers’ environmental and social risks. When selecting
suppliers, it conducts precise assessments based on actual
purchased items, and tries to select items with favorable
prices and environmental protection. The Company’s
purchases of environmentally friendly products will account
for roughly more than 50% of its total purchases in 2024.

The Group attaches great importance to information
security in the supply chain. During the Reporting Period, it
formulated a comprehensive plan for supply chain security
emergency drills and corresponding emergency plans to
continuously strengthen supply chain security management
and emergency response capabilities.

The Group adheres to the integrity and compliance
construction of suppliers and has formulated a supplier
anti-corruption mechanism, covering documents and other
materials related to integrity and self-discipline. Through a
sound supervision and restraint mechanism, we ensure that
the cooperation process between the Group and suppliers
is open, transparent, and honest, and we are committed to
building a long-term, stable, mutually beneficial and win-
win strategic partnership.
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Case: The Pharmaceutical Corporate Cooperation Department held a special anti-corruption propaganda
conference on “Integrity and Self-Discipline, Sticking to the Bottom Line”.

2P ERAFEXRHRARIFEER BTERIRBERFEEHEAS

On 10 April 2024, the Group’s Pharmaceutical Corporate Cooperation Department held a special anti-
corruption propaganda conference on “Integrity and Self-Discipline, Sticking to the Bottom Line”,
and all members of the department participated in the conference. The conference pointed out that
anti-corruption is a solid foundation for the progress of society and enterprises, and required that the
department’s next focus to further improve the system construction, vigorously promote the development
of an honest administration culture, and strengthen accountability. The conference required that the
department’s new marketing personnel sign an anti-bribery commitment letter, which was of great

IV.
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significance for further enhancing the integrity awareness of department personnel.

2024548108 - KEEMCSEEESHRRIBRZEE BFERIRBERIETELE
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#RPIEREAK B

2023
Distribution area B 20234
Total number of suppliers HrEmER 291
Within Fujian Province BEAN 164
Outside Fujian Province BB IN 127

Number of suppliers (Unit: Company)
HERMEE (BN X)

Empowering Growth: The Employee-
Centric Approach

Employment management
Employee employment

In accordance with the Labour Law of the People’s Republic
of China, the Labour Contract Law of the People’s Republic
of China, the Law of the People’s Republic of China on the
Protection of Minors, and the Law of the People’s Republic
of China on the Protection of Women’s Rights and Interests,
the Group strictly enforces an eight-hour workday and five-
day workweek system for all employees, with rest days
and statutory holidays fully compliant with national labour
regulations. Also, we prohibit the use of child and forced
labour and employee discrimination. If such incidents occur,
the Group will immediately assist the victimized employee

.

ETIRX  BEHE

EBREERE
BTEE

REE R ETF(REARLMELEEXH
EARENELBEREXFEARLFE
RAKFE ANREENX AR LB R i
REEE)ERARIBAEREZRWEEHNT
AEBBEEITEISAS/ N - FASKM
TEEEHE - BIARE R AT AE
HBERLEER B - AR BEFEHRAET
MoRFISENME TR B84 - MBHE
HESH - AEESREIRBREREEER

Annual Report 20244 F 3§

79



80

in reporting to the police or relevant labour department in
accordance with relevant national laws and regulations,
and fully cooperate with the investigation. If proven to be
true, the Group will immediately hold the staff accountable
for the violation of the rules. During the Reporting Period,
there were no incidents of child and forced labour, or
discrimination against employees.

The Group adopts dual recruitment channels including social
recruitment and campus employment, under the principles
of openness, equality, voluntariness and consensus, to
recruit qualified professionals, and signs labour contracts
with them. For campus employment, the Group employs
our independent campus recruitment platform as well
as promotional videos and other relevant information to
encourage college graduates to join, expanding the talent
pool in the professional fields of the Group.

The Group upholds a philosophy of workforce diversity,
actively integrating professionals across gender spectrums,
age groups, technical competencies, industry experiences,
and multidisciplinary expertise. We are committed to
creating the optimal structure for the development of the
Group to stimulate the creativity and synergy of our team in
all aspects, promoting steady progress in a complex market
environment. By the end of 2024, there were 28 women
with STEM backgrounds and 206 women engaging in
revenue-generating businesses in the Group.

All our employees are based in China. To ensure compliance
with applicable labour laws, we execute individual
employment contracts with employees, covering salary,
bonuses, benefits, workplace safety, confidentiality
obligations, non-competition, termination procedures, etc.
The Group has established Compensation Management
Regulations (CMR), serving as the guidance for the Group’s
compensation management to govern all compensation-
related policies and practices. Employee compensation
comprises monetary compensation, benefits, and equity.
On top of that, we offer market-competitive remuneration
packages with equity incentive plans for critical talent.
During onboarding, promotions, or salary adjustments, the
Group may grant performance-vested equity awards as
supplemental compensation, contingent upon achieving
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predefined strategic milestones. To incentivize strategic
talent in pursuing self-driven challenges, the Group has
launched strategic talent compensation packages, further
enhancing talent attraction competitiveness, continuously
improving the compensation distribution system, and
practicing the co-development philosophy between the
enterprise and employees.

We highly value all employees’ contributions to our business
and society, and are committed to creating a fair and equal
workplace for them regardless of gender. In 2024, the
Group's workforce profile was as follows:

RIR - HERER®RE

HIERERT  AEEEEMEAT B Rk
B SEEBLEEEATHNE  E—PR
FATWS| N HEEZEFHOMER - B
TEFEE T HRFAKRAESR -

BT+ ERMEREURMER KM
ERER - BN AFMEREBEIEATRTSE
B ITVEIRIE - TRl - 20244F - AEERK
BIERMAT :

Category Unit 2023
H=hl B 20234
Total number of employees Person(s) 396
BTHEH A
Age 30 and below Person(s) 103
FHR 30 AT A
31-40 Person(s) 199
31-408% A
41-50 Person(s) 73
41-50%% A
51-60 Person(s) 15
51-605% A
61 and above Person(s) 6
6155 E A
Number of employees by employee  General staff Person(s) 262
category —mET A
ZEEBRE OB T AR Junior manager Person(s) 72
MREEANE A
Middle manager Person(s) 49
FEEEAS A
Senior manager Person(s) 13
=SREEAE A
Gender Male Person(s) 138
ezl ES A
Female Person(s) 258
z A
Geographical distribution Fujian Province Person(s) 353
Hh i3 55 b BEEA A
Outside Fujian Person(s) 43
S EEpl A
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1

For employees’ resignation (dismissal), the turnover rate' for

the reporting year is as follows:

Category
5l

Employee turnover rate
MEBIR

T:

2023
2023%F
(unit: %)
(BAI 0 %)

27%

Employee turnover rate by age groups 30 and below 13%
RERARNBI DB TIRAE 3058 AT
31-40 12%
31-405%
41-50 2%
41-505%
51-60 0%
51-607%
61 and above 0%
61BRA L
Employee turnover rate by gender Male 16%
RERBIDE B TRAE 5
Female 33%
z
Employee turnover rate by region Fujian Province 24%
R RE|DE B TiRAE BEEAN
Outside Fujian 51%
BIEEIN

Employee turnover rate = Number of resigned employees of this
category in the period/Number of total employees of this category

at the end of period *100%;

HealthyWay Inc. fFE 2R HER DT
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BB REIREE*100% :

BER (BB ERAMEFERAR G0

2024
202445
(unit: %)
(BB : %)

18%

31%

17%

9%

0%

()

14%

19%

13%

46%
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Employee rights and interests

The Group respects and safeguards the rights and
interests of employees, provides fair and reasonable career
development channels, ensures the physical and mental
health of employees, and works together with them for
shared growth.

We conduct an employee satisfaction survey every year
to understand employees’ overall identification with the
Group, their engagement, and their satisfaction with
the working environment, compensation, growth and
promotion. Employees can also express their ideas and
suggestions through the survey. The Group also has built a
staff complaint platform to protect the rights and interests
of employees. Employees can express their opinions
through channels such as internal reporting and anonymous
reporting. While protecting the personal privacy of
employees, we properly handle their demands and opinions
to comprehensively safeguard their rights and interests. In
2024, there were no violations of laws or regulations in the
Group relating to remuneration and dismissal, recruitment
and promotion, working hours, leaves, equal opportunity,
diversity, anti-discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.

Employee care

We are devoted to creating a fair and nurturing working
environment for our employees. We provide equal
opportunities for employees regardless of their race, gender,
religion, age, social origin or other factors, enabling them
to thrive in fulfilling career paths with competitive rewards.
We invest in the personal development of our employees,
marked by regular training sessions that cover wide-ranging
topics such as corporate culture, professional competency,
general skills and leadership cultivation. To promote the
wellbeing of our employees mentally and physically, we
also provide them with welfare and benefits, including but
not limited to complimentary physical examination, team-
building activities, leaves and/or birthday gifts.
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We have institutionalized comprehensive welfare
frameworks for our employees to ensure that they receive
genuine care and support, continuously enhancing
their happiness and sense of belonging. We value the
contribution that every employee makes to our business
and to society. We are intended to create a fair and equal
workplace environment that is not restricted by gender. We
care for our female employees in particular. For example,
we offer all female employees paid leave and exquisite gifts
on International Women'’s Day. The Group understands the
importance of employee needs. Thus, we strive to create
a caring and equal atmosphere and working environment.
We help employees achieve work-life balance by organizing
a variety of staff activities and delivering practical care and
protection. In this way, we can continuously improve their
happiness and sense of belonging, so that they feel at
home at the workplace. We are sure that such initiatives
will further promote our business development while
demonstrating our commitment to social responsibility.

In addition, the Group also further protects the rights and
interests of employees by strengthening the construction
of internal infrastructure. In our office premises or in the
park where the office is located, we have set up nursing
rooms and a chairman’s mailbox to listen to opinions and
suggestions from all employees. On top of that, we open
reading corners to enrich the spiritual life of employees and
provide them with a comfortable reading environment.
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Case: DIY aromatherapy activities for International Women’s Day

P =N\ B ZEFEDIYVEES)

On 7 March 2024, the Group's headquarters organized an aromatherapy DIY activity to enhance
communication and interaction among women and demonstrate the Group’s care for female employees.
At the event, we shared instructional videos on aromatherapy, introduced the methods and processes of
aromatherapy, and provided a manual on aromatherapy procedures, enabling employees to experience a
unique DIY aromatherapy journey.
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Employee growth
Staff training

The Group has established the Training Management
Regulations to further enhance the professional ethics and
conduct, professional competence, and comprehensive
management capabilities of internal employees, so as to
meet the demands of its talent development strategy and
human resource development needs. Training officers
precisely identify training requirements, closely align with the
Group's strategic development plans, and curate and deliver
diversified courses through the OA “Training” platform
on a non-scheduled basis. These courses are meticulously
categorized by content and tailored to job requirements
and position-specific characteristics, available for employees
to self-select based on their learning needs. The Group is
committed to leveraging the corporate culture and essential
general knowledge as the foundation to assist employees in
gaining a comprehensive and in-depth understanding of the
Group.

In 2024, the Group organized employee participation in
the 89th National Pharmaceutical Trading Fair Concurrent
Conference Forums & the 23rd China Pharmaceutical
Product Managers Forum, further enhancing employees’
understanding of the industry and fostering integration into
the innovative healthcare ecosystem.
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The Group attaches great importance to the training
of employees’ abilities. For new employees, we have
restructured onboarding workflows to accelerate role-
specific integration. We have continuously refined the
management rules for various types of training, and added
new rules for external training and on-the-job academic
education, to broaden the channels for employees to
learn and improve. At the same time, we have formulated
new training plans and assessment mechanisms based on
employee feedback to make training more targeted and
effective. To optimize training outcomes, we spare no effort
to ensure the investment of training resources, constantly
enrich the curriculum system, and add special training,
such as laws and regulations, anti-money laundering, etc.,
to further improve the quality of training. In 2024, the
Company’s employee training coverage rate was 94.7%.

In 2024, the training coverage rate of our general staff was
93.5%; the training coverage rate of junior management
was 94.4%; the training coverage rate of middle
management was 100%; and the training coverage rate of
senior management was 100%.

The training of all employees of the Group is detailed as

follows:

Category E
Male =
Female Z

30 and below 30A T
31-40 31-405%
41-50 41-508%
51-60 51-605%
61 and above 61 AL

RIR - HERER®RE

AEEERHBE THRENE - SHHHE
T BAEABEIIRE - BREEIRE
AT TEAESBIEIEERAR - ¥
SNRIBEFIMAERSEHE MR - RETHER
BERREIRE  ARREER TRESEHNE
AETEI MBS - FEIE A HIENE
M - IR B RENREL - BRFIEHRE
BIERRA - THEEREER - ERE
HIFH - WERER - RAEFAET - R
—HRAFIEE - 2024F - RFEBTHFI
BEERIT% -

2024 - RAIEWMEINBIEZERA
935% : MIMEBAENEBIEEZXA
94.4% : FREEABNBEIEEEXR
100% : @ REBAENBIEEXR
100% °

AEE  FEREE THIIERAEBNT

2023 2024

20234 20245
Average training | A\ E e[S el allale)
duration (hours) duration (hours)
FHEIFE FHEHHR
(/NEF) (NEF)

35.25 47.60
35.25 43.47
35.24 43.26
35.08 46.12
34.42 42.36
37.23 48.41
46.53 59.30
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Employee development

The Group values the growth and development of every
employee and has built a comprehensive internal employee
promotion system around diversity and equal opportunities.
The Group has implemented role-specific promotion and
performance evaluation frameworks tailored to market-
facing and product management positions. Under the newly
launched Role Competency Management Measures, we
have defined tiered KPIs for commercial and product teams,
where employees achieving top 30% performance in higher-
tier metrics become eligible for promotion consideration,
ensuring that employee promotions are governed by rules.
At the same time, the Group has introduced the Amoeba
management standard, improved the remuneration
management system, and flexibly carried out various forms
of medium- and long-term incentives. We have carried out
special work on the construction of a performance appraisal
and remuneration system, standardized the original
remuneration management system, strictly implemented the
assessment requirements of the contractual appointment
system, and insisted on giving equal emphasis to incentives
and supervision and constraints. These initiatives can ensure
that every employee can be rewarded and promoted based
on their abilities and efforts in a fair and just environment,
so that they can realize their personal value and inject strong
momentum into the Group's sustainable development.

In order to better provide talent support for the high-
quality development of the enterprise, the Group held a skill
competition related to Al this year to improve employees’
ability in the use of Al.
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Case: Reward Task for Improving Research and Development Efficiency Using Al Tools

In order to further improve the effectiveness of the Group’s technology research and development, the
Efficiency Promotion Center issued a notice regarding the “Reward Task for Improving Research and
Development Efficiency Using Al Tools” on 18 October 2024, encouraging employees of the Group to
conduct in-depth research on related Al methods and implement relevant Al tools in actual development
tasks of the Group. On November 20, the Efficiency Promotion Center announced that a total of 2 people
won the reward. The event received positive responses from employees and effectively promoted the active
exploration of Al tools among staff.
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Furthermore, leveraging large-scale Al models with the
Enterprise WeChat as the interaction platform, the Group
has developed virtual digital employees to assist staff in
delivering enhanced customer service. These digital agents
can emulate real-world workflows across diverse scenarios.
By deploying this platform, digital employees are assigned
to designated roles where they autonomously plan and
execute tasks through the predefined and well-debugged
SOP and the reasoning capabilities of Al models. This
digital workforce platform can significantly enhance service
efficiency and expand customer service coverage.

Workplace Safety
Occupational Health and Safety

We, HealthyWay, care about the occupational safety
and health of our employees, demonstrated by a safe
and comfortable working environment we offer for all
employees in accordance with the laws and regulations
such as the Law of the People’s Republic of China on the
Prevention and Control of Occupational Diseases and the
Production Safety Law of the People’s Republic of China.
To ensure compliance with applicable laws and regulations,
our human resources department, in consultation with legal
counsel, promptly adjusts our human resources policies in
response to major changes in laws and regulations related
to Labour and work safety. In 2024, the Group conducted a
total of 1 emergency response drill for security incidents.

In 2024, the Group held a fire drill at the place where our
headquarters is located, and all personnel working in the
office on that day were required to participate. A total of
five health lectures were held on the topics of cervical and
lumbar spine health care and prevention, how to effectively
manage employee work pressure, and mental health. Over
the past three years, the Group has not had any work-
related fatalities or accidents, and the number of days lost
due to work-related injuries is 0.
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During the Reporting Period, the Group staged special
lectures on popularizing fire safety knowledge, including:

Lectures on the Hazards of Sedentary Work and
Exercise Improvement: We held the lecture on the
Hazards of Sedentary Work and Exercise Improvement,
with 30 participants. During the lecture, the lecturer
explained in detail the adverse effects of sedentary
work on various parts of the body, and demonstrated
a series of simple and easy-to-do office stretching
exercises and yoga moves. These exercises do not
require complicated equipment and can be done
during work breaks to help employees improve their
flexibility, promote blood circulation, and reduce the
harm caused by sedentary work.

Lectures on Diet and Nutrition and Workplace
Health: In view of the fast pace of work and irregular
eating habits of employees, the lecture focused on
how to develop a healthy workplace diet plan. The
trainer explained the role of various nutrients and
guided employees in the proper combination of meals,
including how to choose healthy takeaway food and
prepare nutritious and portable meals for work. Also,
the trainer analysed the health hazards of common
unhealthy eating habits in the workplace, such as
the blood sugar and blood fat problems that can be
caused by excessive intake of high-fat and high-sugar
foods. This can help employees develop good eating
habits to make them refreshed for work.
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Low-carbon Operations, Collective
Climate Action

Environmental protection
Environmental policy

The Group continues to emphasize the importance of
environmental protection in its daily operations and
development process, and actively implements a green and
low-carbon development strategy to minimize the negative
impact of business development on the environment while
also leveraging its positive influence. We strictly abide by
laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
Group's development, such as the Environmental Protection
Law of the People’s Republic of China and the Energy
Conservation Law of the People’s Republic of China, and
continuously improve the Group’s environmental protection
benefits.

Energy management

In 2024, all 10 office premises and 7 pharmacies operated
by the Group were leased properties, of which the office
premises were situated within well-maintained commercial
complexes or buildings. The energy use involved includes
gasoline for official vehicles and electricity for office use.

Indictor Unit

B By

Total electricity consumption MWh
BEEE JEEL B
Electricity intensity MWh/person
RAERE KEE, A
Gasoline consumption Litre
FURERE It
Comprehensive energy consumption MWh
FREIRER JKFLEF
Comprehensive energy consumption density MWh/person
FaRRERTE JKEEF, A

RIR - HERER®RE

I EREE  BRILEERX

RERE
REBR

AEBERFRELEMBERBIET @ FERHA
RERENERN BERETHEERER
B BEREXBERURETRKNAR
FE ARFERENTE - BRET(PE
ARKAMBERFREENKHEARKLMBEE
MR X)EHEBERBEATENERE
B TERSSERZRIRREN R ©

REREE

HAEST - 20245 - AEBEN 0@ RIGH
H7RERE  HEEE  HPRAGmEi
RMETHHERE, AER - RAEEIRE
REeRABETVAMPLAE

2023 2024
20244

20234
250.00 230.41

0.63 0.57
908.56 349.882
260.88 233.52

0.66 0.59

The decline in gasoline consumption in 2024 compared to 2023
is primarily attributed to the Group’s vigorous promotion of green
transportation initiatives and reduced use of official vehicles during
the reporting period.

2024 UME2023F TRNRE - TEERAR/E

BEPRARKBANEEREHT RO RBE
RIEM °
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We actively promote green office practices, energy
conservation and emission reduction, and low-cost
operations. For the main energy-consuming facility, the
air conditioner, the temperature in summer is strictly set
to a minimum of 26°C or higher. Employees are required
to turn off air conditioners in a timely manner when they
get off the work or leave the room with the air conditioner
for more than half an hour. Unattended operation of the
air conditioner is strictly prohibited, and natural ventilation
for cooling is encouraged. We continue to promote the
Company’s goal of energy conservation and emission
reduction efforts and have set an energy target for the next
three years that does not exceed the total amount of energy
to be used in 2023 under stable operation.

In addition, we take the following measures:

1) We strive to minimize negative impacts on the
environment by helping our employees develop a
mindset of environmental protection and sustainability
through the promotion of environmental concepts.

2)  From time to time, different campaigns are launched
to increase environmental awareness among

employees in everyday life.

3)  We are exploring new ways and technologies to make
our operations as environmentally friendly as possible.

. Encourage green travel;

o When purchasing new official vehicles, priority is
given to new energy vehicles;

o Keep lighting fixtures and lamps clean and
maximize their energy efficiency;

o Gradually replace the lamps in the business
premises with high-efficiency lamps such as LED

lamps;

o Support material reuse and recycling of waste
materials;
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o Support reducing the consumption of office
supplies;

o Install energy-saving light bulbs;

o Place stickers to remind employees to turn off
the lights when leaving the office;

o Place stickers to remind employees to save
water;

o Encourage employees to avoid printing on paper
and to print on both sides when necessary;

o Set guidelines for employees on the temperature
used for air conditioning.

Water resource management

We have formulated the Water and Energy Management
System. We mainly use water for daily life. We give full play
to the efficiency of water resource utilization and regulate
the energy use. The Group mainly uses municipal water
supplies and has no problems sourcing water. We also take
adequate measures to reuse water resources in the day-to-
day management. We continue to promote the Company’s
water conservation efforts and set water resource targets.
Under stable operation, the water consumption target
for the next three years will not exceed the total water
consumption in 2023, to further enhance the Company’s
water resource management capability.

1) Implementing various internal policies and measures
in the workplace, aimed to reduce our water
consumption, energy consumption, and our overall
carbon footprint.

2)  Strengthening water resource management and post
water conservation reminders in all bathrooms.

3)  Using water-saving sanitary ware and faucets.

BRIR - dEREREE
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The Group’s water consumption statistics are as follows:

Indicator BE

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RE - HBREREE

REBEFKEGFAT

2023
20234

Total water consumption (metric tons) HFEKE (RHE) 2,300
Water consumption intensity (metric tons/person)  #E/KZE (AHE,A) 5.81
Waste discharge management BEEDHHRER

The Group's waste includes expired drugs, other hazardous
waste and non-hazardous waste. The Group has formulated
the Solid Waste Management Regulations to ensure that
solid waste generated in the office, living and production
processes can be handled in a reasonable and legal
manner, achieving the goal of protecting the environment.
Among them, hazardous waste is placed at the designated
collection point of the building, and the disposal of waste
must be entrusted to a qualified waste disposal company
for legal recycling. Non-hazardous waste is managed and
regularly removed by the logistics department to the landfill,
and then disposed of by the local sanitation department.
We implement strict waste sorting measures at our business
premises, post related notices and carry out publicity
campaigns from time to time.

We continue to promote the Company’s waste processing
efforts and have set a per capita hazardous waste emission
intensity target for 2023. Under stable operation, our per
capita hazardous waste emission intensity for the next three
years will not exceed that of 2023, further enhancing the
Company'’s waste management capabilities.

With regard to packaging, the Company’s packaging
mainly consists of plastic bags and the amount generated is
relatively small, so we do not believe that it has any impact
on the Company’s operating business.
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Indicator Unit 2023
BE B 20234
Non-hazardous waste Ton 38
BEBEZEY A

Non-hazardous waste intensity Ton/person 0.1
BEBRRYEE LEVN

Hazardous waste kg 91
BEEEY TR

Expired medicines disposal volume Kg 42
BHRERRIEE T

Other hazardous waste Kg 49
Hib G EREEY T

Hazardous waste intensity Kg/million RMB in revenue 0.07
BEBRENEE T/ BSLEKRA

RIR - HERER®RE

Combating climate change

We are well aware of the importance of addressing climate
change in relation to the issue of climate change. We
have responded positively to the guidelines of the TCFD
framework and comprehensively carried out the review and
assessment of climate risks. The Group has developed a
series of strategies to address the risks and opportunities we
may encounter, and has delved into management indicators
and targets to respond to the challenges and opportunities
brought about by climate change.

Governance

The Group’s ESG Committee is responsible for assisting the
Board of Directors in monitoring, reviewing, and dealing
with issues related to sustainable development, including
climate change. We also review the Group’s annual
performance and progress towards achieving targets for
addressing climate change, ensuring the effectiveness of
climate-related risk management. The ESG Committee
will regularly monitor and review the climate change skills
and capabilities of committee members, and will annually
request and monitor committee members’ understanding of
climate change risks and opportunities.

e RIRE L

EREE(CEE  RIFRNEHRREREE
MEE M EGEETCFDIERAIES - 2EF
FRRIRER A FREFE - KECHE AR
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The council of the Group’s ESG Committee is primarily
responsible for the collection and review of quantitative
and qualitative information on the Group’s environmental
and social aspects. The Board of Directors and the council
of the ESG Committee have formulated response measures
and plans in respect of identified climate risks and
opportunities, such as plans for energy consumption and
pollution emissions in respect of transformation risks. The
ESG Committee regularly monitors and reviews the climate
change skills and competencies of the Committee members
and annually requests and monitors the Committee
members’ understanding of climate change risks and
opportunities.

Strategy

With reference to the risk categories recommended by the
TCFD, the Group, based on our own business type and
operations, conducts risk identification and analysis from the
perspectives of national policies, industry trends, stakeholder
concerns, etc. and studies relevant response strategies to
reduce the adverse impact of climate change on the Group's
business and finances. The Group has conducted an ESG-
related risk assessment, which includes identifying the
Group's potential climate-related risks such as flooding,
extreme weather, rising temperatures or other physical risks,
as well as transition risks caused by changes in the market,
regulation, policy, and other aspects. The effectiveness of
the measures taken is regularly evaluated. As the company
primarily operates an online platform, and given the nature
of its business, we believe that climate change will not have
a negative impact on the company’s operations or finances.
In the future, we will continue to monitor the impact of
climate change on our finances and anticipate short-,
medium-, and long-term changes in financial performance
and cash flow.
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Risk Management

The Group has formulated the Emergency Plan for
Extreme Weather to clarify the responsibilities and tasks of
organizations at all levels in response to extreme weather,
ensuring that emergency response work can be carried out
quickly, orderly and efficiently. An emergency response
center for extremely bad weather has been set up to be
responsible for unified command, coordination, and dispatch
of emergency response work. All relevant departments and
units should establish corresponding emergency response
teams with definite responsibilities and tasks, ensuring the
smooth implementation of the plan.

Based on the company’s characteristics, we have added
the potential impact of climate risks on the value chain in
operations to the climate-related risk box below to assess
the company’s climate resilience. In the future, we will
further improve our climate-related scenario analysis.

Risk category Climate-related risk

2\ e 2 ) RIRAERA R
Physical Acute Major extreme weather events such

risk as hurricanes, torrential rain, and
lightning strikes can disrupt the power
supply, causing power facility failure
and sudden power outages on medical
platforms. This adds to disadvantages.
Impact cycle: short-term, medium-term,

long-term

BiRRER =M

B o EIMANEE -
FEBH  EH - PH - RH

EAERRANEEERE N
B B R - BESEARETL
WIS DRI - AR A RAR

BRIR - dEREREE

R EE

SEGIE(RHRRESIAR) - BESRE
BERRRHRREH P OB E IR - 5
RAE - BF  SMSFHRESREEIE -
@B s RRESF L ARG
1B 0 AERSRETE - SHREEM
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£7%5 - HERTARM BN E i -

BPRBABNREE - & T RIEBEERR
EAT AR RERR AT L E1E 2 h EE N
FE  KHERRIMRIREE - KK - M
R~ EEREEBOBROMN -

Countermeasure

PEL1E e

Equip with a standby generator of
sufficient capacity, and regularly maintain
and test it to ensure that it can be started
quickly when a power outage happens;
Install an uninterruptible power supply
(UPS) system to provide temporary power
support for critical equipment, ensuring
the safe storage of data, and normal
shutdown of equipment.
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RIE #HE8KRER

wE

Risk category Climate-related risk Countermeasure
JER e 28 ) RIRAERA R FE¥ 1R e
Chronic Relatively longer-term climate model (1) Strengthen infrastructure construction,
shifts. For example, prolonged periods upgrade and transform the data center,
of high temperatures, will make it install efficient cooling systems and
difficult for data centers on medical temperature monitoring equipment
platforms to dissipate heat, leading to to ensure normal operation in high-
equipment performance degradation, temperature environments; Adopt a
rising failure rates, and even data redundant network communication
loss. This will affect the continuity and architecture and add backup lines and
stability of medical services. equipment to improve the disaster
Impact cycle: short-term, medium-term,  resilience of the network.
long-term
=1k RARPNRGEEAEE - finFak (WIRERREER - BEIET OET
e KR ﬂ?‘*ﬂﬁ%ﬂﬁﬂ%b%ﬂl FHRBGE - RERBNR S ROAE
HNEE - EHRENEE CHPEER F o OBDBIRRE - MRESBRETRERSE
Tt EEEBEL ?/%%FHE%%E’\JE 17  SRATIHRRERIBERE - 186
BUHEMBE - PR MRE - IR BRI AE
TERY - BH - Tl kB
Transition  Policy and As the policy continues to be promoted  Pay close attention to policy developments
risk law and implemented, regulatory agencies and regulatory changes, and flexibly
will inevitably introduce more stringent adjust strategies to adapt to the new
restrictions on greenhouse gas situation; participate in policy discussions
emissions and strengthen transparency and formulation to strive for a policy
requirements for corporate emissions. environment favorable to the Group.
Impact cycle: short-term, medium-term,
long-term
Value chain impact level: operations
BRI E R BERMZER BEBCRNTEHRENE R - BERE

S L1 B R 03 2 R B
6 - AN CE P RREREER -
R N L
EERVERE : @8

FEDBEBUREREAER B - &)

AR RIS ABER S - R - %E%
BAECR T RANEIE - AFEE BEF A
E"]L—tﬁﬁi&iﬁ °
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BRIR - dEREREE

Climate-related risk Countermeasure
RIRAERA R B FE¥ 1R i

Technology ~ When introducing new technologies To ensure technical maturity and
or equipment, potential technical risks equipment stability, it is recommended to
and cost issues need to be carefully establish a solid cooperative relationship
addressed. with a professional supplier to obtain
Impact cycle: short-term, medium-term,  continuous technical support and update
long-term services while regularly carrying out
Value chain impact level: operations comprehensive maintenance and detailed

inspection work.

Bt SIAFRIR R B - FEERYERE RERRMKAEREGETE  ZHRE
BRI R B AN B AN R R FHERELIBENAIERR - LAES
FERH EH - - kB S8 B BT ST FE AN SE RTARTES o S BRMETT
BEBYEER  EZ 2EMAEENMBENRELIE -

Market With the guidance of the policies and Innovate procurement strategies, promote
market, and the growing increase in green procurement, reduce resource
awareness of low-carbon environmental ~ consumption, and further reduce the
protection, the market may shift to the procurement volume of non-green
use of greener products or services. resources.

Impact cycle: short-term, medium-term,
long-term
Value chain impact level: downstream

M5 BEZEBRMTIZN 518 - AREMRRR  RIAEEFIRERE - #HERERE
BREE SR - WIS ERER O RLERER  WE— TR ERE
BARBHEmMIRTE BIRNRIES o
FERH EH - - kB
BERYEER : M

Reputation As all parties concerned attach Keep paying attention to the expectations
increasing importance to addressing of stakeholders, and respond positively
the climate crisis, failure to meet and carry out activities related to
expectations or actions that violate addressing climate change.
guidelines for addressing climate
change could damage the brand image.

Impact cycle: short-term, medium-term,
long-term
Value chain impact level: operations
2E FHERDIN BT O HR: - BB R

BEESEETERIEERESNERE
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Goals and indicators

In order to effectively reduce the adverse impact of
extreme weather on the production and life of the Group’s
projects, meteorological monitoring and early warning
will be strengthened to keep abreast of the occurrence,
development and changing trends of extreme weather.
Organizations and units at all levels should establish and
improve channels for the dissemination of early warning
information to ensure that early warning information is
communicated to the relevant personnel in a timely and
accurate manner. Precautions should be taken in advance
and the investigation and rectification of potent dangers
should be made, so as to ensure the normal operation of
various facilities and equipment. The Group actively carries
out energy conservation and emission reduction actions, and
formulates emission management plans to reduce energy
and resource consumption in office and operation processes,
thereby minimizing greenhouse gas emissions and waste
generation. We accurately capture and continuously monitor
various indicators closely related to climate risks, such as
direct greenhouse gas emissions (Scope 1) and indirect
greenhouse gas emissions (Scope 2), to provide solid data
support for addressing climate change. In order to more
effectively monitor and manage these indicators, we regularly
collect and thoroughly analyze relevant data to provide a
scientific basis for decision-making in our environmental
protection work.
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Indicator Unit

B B

Total GHG emissions (Scope 1 and Scope 2) tCO,e
RERBHNEE(HE - RBE) WE—_SUbIREE
GHG emissions (Scope 1)3 tCO,e
AERBYNEE— ME—StIRE 2
GHG emissions (Scope 2)* tCO,e
mERESE N E W —E(LREE
GHG emissions intensity (Scope 1 and Scope 2)  tCO,e/person
RERBHGRE (HE — R&BE ) WE_SUbIREE
GHG emissions (Scope 3)° tCO,e
AERBYNEE = ME—S(tiRE 2

N

RIR - HERER®RE

2023
20234

145.31
2.73
142.58
0.37

763.06

Greenhouse Gas Emissions (Scope 1) refer to direct emissions
generated from operations owned or controlled by the Group.
Greenhouse Gas Emissions (Scope 2) denote indirect emissions
arising from the Group’s purchase of electricity.

Greenhouse Gas Emissions (Scope 3) specifically pertain to emissions
from the Fuzhou off-site data centre, which stores users’ sensitive
data and other data. While we own the equipment and facilities of
the data centre, and our on-site employees manage and maintain
the daily operations, the premises of the data centre are not owned
by us. We pay a fixed monthly management fee to a third party for
the use of the premises, electricity, internet, and other services. Due
to the greenhouse gas-intensive nature of the data centre (Scope
3) emissions are calculated by multiplying the rated power of the
equipment, the estimated usage time during each period, and the
power usage effectiveness (PUE) of the data centre’s electricity
consumption for the relevant periods.
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VL.

Empowering Communities for a Better
Life

We continuously contribute to public health by promoting
healthy living with our unique capabilities in the digital
healthcare platform. With the core concept of advocating
a healthy lifestyle, we work more to inject health vitality
into the community through diverse methods such as
donating high-tech medical equipment and providing free
medical consultations. In particular, we regularly organize
free health check-up services for the elderly, and invite
authoritative experts from Grade Il A hospitals to give
lectures on common health problems among the elderly,
such as hypertension and diabetes, to safeguard their
health with professional knowledge. We cooperate with
the local government in Fuzhou to donate medical supplies
to local communities to protect public health. We have
also developed an online healthcare service platform and
integrated it into a government WeChat public account.
The platform can provide the general public with a range of
contactless medical services, such as fever clinics, medical
diagnosis, online tracking service for confirmed patients, and
self-quarantine guidance.
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Reference for General ESG Disclosures
Listing Rules of the HKEX — Appendix C2 “ESG

Reporting Code”

Aspect
J=JET]

BEPSY : SRR E

ESG—RFEESER
BERBARB AL HRA - MRCQURE - &

ERERBRETAD

Content
AR

Part B: Mandatory disclosure rules

Location in this report

ERERULE

Board of Directors Statement

Board of Directors Statement

CHboy « [ MR BLAREE 15X

BExgEH BExgBH
Reporting principle About this report
bE ¥R Bl BARARE
Scope of reporting About this report
b R0 ] BARARE

Part C: “disclose or else” provision

A1 Emissions

Al BERYD

General disclosure

Information on:

(@) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer

relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges

into water and land, and generation of hazardous and

non-hazardous waste.

— MR ER

BRAERIOREREBEEN - FVK R BT - BERE

EREBYNEESH

(@ BER: &k

(b) BETFHBITABEATZEAEEEERBRIINEER o

V. Low-carbon Operations,
Collective Climate Action
f o EiREE - BAREEX

A1.1 Types of emissions and respective emission data.

AT BRI SR RARB R B -

V. Low-carbon Operations,
Collective Climate Action
h-RiGEE - B HEERXR

A1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2)
greenhouse gas emissions in total (in tonnes) and, where
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume,
per facility). [Deleted on 1 January 2025]

A1.2 B (HEN) RevREE (HBE2)R=REHEME (A
WEETE) R (ER) BE (WA SES BN - B8R
&) o [A2025%F1 A 18 MIER]

A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tons) and, where
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume,
per facility).

A FMEXEEEEYRE CANEE) R(ER)wE
(WMABESSEA - BIERETE) -

V. Low-carbon Operations,
Collective Climate Action
- ERGES - Rt EEX

A1.4 Total hazardous waste produced (in tons) and, where
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume,
per facility).

AlLAPMESBREEZEMAE CANSE) R (ER)7E
(WMABESEN - BHERHBE) ©

V. Low-carbon Operations,
Collective Climate Action
f o REGES - BALEE
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RE - HBREREE

Aspect

B

A1.5 Description of emissions target(s) set and steps taken
to achieve them.
A1 SHFTRT S MPERE B 12 R AEEIE L B RFTEER

}/me ©

Location in this report

EREFLE

V. Low-carbon Operations,
Collective Climate Action
f o EiREE  BEREEX

A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous
wastes are handled, and a description of reduction
target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.
Al6HMERIEEE REEEEMN T E - R Fra L8
R B R R ERE L B TR 225 o

V. Low-carbon Operations,
Collective Climate Action
h o REGES - B HtEE

A2 Use of Resources

A2 BIR{E A

General disclosure

Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy,
water and other raw materials.

— MR IR

BRERER(BIEEIR - K REAMRME)HBER -

V. Low-carbon Operations,
Collective Climate Action
h o EiGEE - R EERXR

A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type
(e.g. electricity, gas or oil) in total (kWh in’000s) and
intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).
A2 VERIEID B E R EERIR(INE - Raoh) E5%
BEUTETESFE) LEE(MAGEREN - §IAR
HER

V. Low-carbon Operations,
Collective Climate Action
f o EEREE - RgHtEE

A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per
unit of production volume, per facility).
A22BFKENEE (MAGES B - BIEREAE) -

V. Low-carbon Operations,
Collective Climate Action
o ERGES - RAR e

A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and
steps taken to achieve them.

A2 3HEALPRRT ML BV EEIRfE Bz st 8 B iR M i B L B
IRPTERERE) 2288

V. Low-carbon Operations,
Collective Climate Action
f o EiREE - BEREEX

A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing
water that is fit for purpose, water efficiency target(s) set
and steps taken to achieve them.

A2 A3t SKEGE KR ERIAEAIERE - LA RPrET 2 A9 A
KR B AR R E RS L B R ATERER Y 2P 58 o

V. Low-carbon Operations,
Collective Climate Action
o ERGEE - RAR e

A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products
(in tons) and, if applicable, with reference to per unit
produced.

A2 SR FT AR B EEM R B S (LAMERTE) R (WER) &
EEBMGE -

V. Low-carbon Operations,
Collective Climate Action
ho B - R e

A3 Environment and
natural resources

A3 BRIE N RARER

General Disclosure

Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impacts on
the environment and natural resources.

—RE IR ER
BIRBEITABRBERRABEREXNEANZENEGR

V. Low-carbon Operations,
Collective Climate Action
o EEGES - RAR e

A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of business
activities on the environment and natural resources and
the actions taken to manage them.

A3 NI E BB EIRIR R AAE RN ERZE KRB R
ERBBETZENITE o

V. Low-carbon Operations,
Collective Climate Action
f o EiRESE - BEHREEX
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Aspect
J=JET]

A4 Climate change
A4 RIREAE

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RIR - HERER®RE

Content
RE

General Disclosure

Policies on identification and mitigation of significant
climate-related issues which have impacted, and those
which may impact, the issuer. [Deleted on 1 January 2025]
—REERR REHE L RIS HBITAEATENE
ARIEEBAEEABER © [1R202591 7 1B MER]

Location in this report

EREFULE

A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related issues
which have impacted, and those which may impact,the
issuer, and the actions taken to manage them. [Deleted on
1 January 2025]

A4 IR R R AT e e HEITAEET ENEARIRE
SR - MEHTTE - [R2025F1 A1 B MIE]

B1 Employment
B1 E(%

General Disclosure

Information on:

(@) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer

relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and

promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity,

diversity, anti-discrimination, and other benefits and

welfare.

—RRIREE

ERAFRARE BREREA - TIERS - R - T5%

2 Zioft - REBGAREMFEREFR -

(@ BX: K

(b) BETFHBITAREATENBBEZLROINER -

IV. Empowering Growth: The
Employee-Centric Approach
m- 8BTIRAE  BEHER

B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type (for
example, full- or part-time), age group and geographical
region.

B1.13ZIERI - EFBIAE (A BaREk) - FiAR Mtz
ElomEE B -

IV. Empowering Growth: The
Employee-Centric Approach
M- BIRXE  EEHEE

B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and
geographical region.

B1.2# 1Rl ~ iR KimE D HEBIRKLLE -

IV. Empowering Growth: The
Employee-Centric Approach

m-BITAK  EHER
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RE - HBREREE

Aspect
J=JET]

B2 Health and Safety
B2 fi@FiL 2

Content
RE

General Disclosure

Information on:

(@) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer

relating to providing a safe working environment and

protecting employees from occupational hazards.

—ARBEE

BRRHL 2 TERBERRERER LB E NI

(@ BE: K&

(b) BETFHBITABEAZEEBEERAIIEER

Location in this report

EREFLE

IV. Empowering Growth: The
Employee-Centric Approach
M- BIAXR  REIER

B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in
each of the past three years including the reporting year.

B2 1IBE=F(BRERFE)BFRTUTHRNARLL

IV. Empowering Growth: The
Employee-Centric Approach
M- BIAKN  BREERE

B2.2 Lost days due to work injury.
B2 2 THBIEKTIERE -

IV. Empowering Growth: The
Employee-Centric Approach
m- BIRA  BEHHER

B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety
measures adopted, and how they are implemented and
monitored.

B2 3 FTER AN A BB R (2 FR BB 22 2 457 - LA MABRATERTT I

BERETE-

IV. Empowering Growth: The
Employee-Centric Approach
M- BLAR - EEEHE

B3 Development and
training

B3 E&E K iEd

General Disclosure

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills

for discharging duties at work. Description of training

activities.

Note: Training refers to vocational training. It may include internal
and external courses paid by the employer.

—RRIE

BEARTTHE B BT TIERE VA R AR BV BUR - HH iR

FES -

i HIEREEEY - A eREREENENRINEREE o

IV. Empowering Growth: The
Employee-Centric Approach
M- BETARAK  BEEHERE

B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender

and employee category (e.g. senior management, middle
management).

B3. 1M RIREEFHAI(INERERE PREEES)E
DHXIEEBDL -

IV. Empowering Growth: The
Employee-Centric Approach
M- BILAXR  EEERE

B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee
by gender and employee category.
B3.2iZM R KRB B HERIZ D - BREETHX AT
g o

IV. Empowering Growth: The
Employee-Centric Approach
M- BETARAK  BEEHER
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RE - HBREREE

Aspect
J=JET]

B4 Labour standards
B4 &5 TR

Content
RE

General Disclosure

Information on:

(@) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer

relating to preventing child and forced labour.

—RHEE

BRADIEE TSR b THY

(@ BX: Kk

(b) HETHBEITABEAZENEBEELIROIFER -

Location in this report

EREFULE

IV. Empowering Growth: The
Employee-Centric Approach
M BIAKR  EEERE

B4.1 Description of measures to review employment
practices to avoid child and forced labour.
B4. 1t i AT HEHSIE PR A AR R EE T 58 IS5 T o

IV. Empowering Growth: The
Employee-Centric Approach
m- BETRA  BEEHRE

B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices
when discovered.

B4 2 7E 343 MR IBE RN JH R B RIS AT ERER K 2588, -

IV. Empowering Growth: The
Employee-Centric Approach
m- 8BIRAE  BEHER

B5 Supply chain
management
B5 R EIE

General Disclosure

Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the
supply chain.

— MR FE

EIRMHEENIRE R S RRBUE -

lIl. Service First, Win-Win

Together
= BBEL - BFHE

B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region.
BS. 1%t @ & L FE R 2L -

lIl. Service First, Win-Win
Together
= RBEL BFHER

B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging
suppliers, number of suppliers where the practices are
being implemented, and how they are implemented and
monitored.

B5.2# A REEE AL IE R BV B - (AIE B ITR B O H
JEREE - ARBBEIINMITRERAE -

IIl. Service First, Win-Win
Together

= BBEL BFHE

B5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental
and social risks along the supply chain, and how they are
implemented and monitored.

B5.3% A BRI (B R S EREHRIR ML SRRV E
Bl ARAERANTIT R EERTTE

lIl. Service First, Win-Win

Together
= BBEL - BFHE

B5.4 Description of practices used to promote
environmentally preferable products and services when
selecting suppliers, and how they are implemented and
monitored.

BS.4fi it FE BRI (B (R (2 % A IRIREE o AR TS HO18
Bl ARABRAENIT R EERIDE o

lIl. Service First, Win-Win
Together
= REBEL BFHER
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RE - HBREREE

Aspect
=]

B6 Product
responsibility
B6 EmE 1L

Content
nE

General Disclosure

Information on:

(@) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer

relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling and

privacy matters relating to products and services provided

and methods of redress.

—RRIREE

BRMRHERMRENEERL S - BE - RELILE

FEARBRITER

@@ BE: X

(b) BFHBITAGEATENRBERZLROINER -

BT

Location in this report
EREPNE

lIIl. Service First, Win-Win
Together

= BRBEL - BFHE

B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject
to recalls for safety and health reasons.

B6.1E Eak B B X AEmART A% 2 EIZFIEAMADI
BEDL

lIl. Service First, Win-Win

Together
= BBEL - BFHE

B6.2 Number of products and service-related complaints
received and how they are dealt with.

B6. 21X ERENNEE fn S RISV IR 8L B LA R B T 0% o

lIl. Service First, Win-Win
Together
= RBEL BFHER

B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and
protecting intellectual property rights.
B6.3%a il B4 & N AR IR AN B ERE A 1B -

IIl. Service First, Win-Win
Together

= BRBEL BFHE

B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall
procedures.
B6.AtELE Ein e B M EmEWIEFF

lIl. Service First, Win-Win

Together
= BBEL BFHE

B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy
policies, and how they are implemented and monitored.
B6.54 il H B B ERMRIE RALBIEER - A RABHERITRE
BIE -

lIl. Service First, Win-Win
Together
= REEL BFHER
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Aspect
J=JET]

B7 Anti-corruption
B7 RES

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RIR - HERER®RE

Content
RE

General Disclosure

Information on:

(@) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer

relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.

—RHEE

BRADTIERERS - $h3 - BGFROEREER -

(@ BX: Kk

(b) HETHBEITABEAZENEBEELIROIFER -

Location in this report

EREFULE

Il. Compliance Governance,
Integrity Management

= RREA  BEEE

B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt
practices brought against the issuer or its employees during
the reporting period and the outcomes of the cases.

B7 1 RERANE BT AN A EER LW EEFANETH
FARMHIBIE MFFAGER ©

Il. Compliance Governance,
Integrity Management
—ARER BEKE

B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle-
blowing procedures, and how they are implemented and
monitored.

B7. 24t by #6E be M B AR /T - A SMBBIIT R BT
% e

Il. Compliance Governance,
Integrity Management
— - AHRER  WELE

B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to
directors and staff.
B7. 3fEilES K B TIREMRE)515I -

Il. Compliance Governance,
Integrity Management

= ARER - e

B8 Community
investment

B8 itRINE

General Disclosure

Policies on community engagement to understand the
needs of the communities where the issuer operates

and to ensure its activities take into consideration the
communities’ interests.

—RIE

R E2ER T REEMETERENBRAERE
B EE LR NFHIBOR

VI. Empowering Communities
for a Better Life
Nt R ERAR

B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education,
environmental concerns, labour needs, health, culture,
sport).

BN I ERERE(INHE - BIREH BIH Kk - &
Bk 888) -

VI. Empowering Communities
for a Better Life
N oetRERAR

B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the
focus area.

BS2MEE T8l FTB A B R (& M) -

VI. Empowering Communities
for a Better Life

e EERAER
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RE HEREAR

Aspect
J=JET]

wE

Content
RE

Part D: Climate-related disclosures

D&+ RIRIERIHER

Location in this report

EREFLE

D-I Governance

Governance structure overseeing climate-related risks and

V. Low-carbon Operations,

D-IARIE opportunities CoIIective Climate Action
B B BB REEHARERMEEH RS RRGESE - FARIEER
The role of management processes, monitoring and V. Low-carbon Operations,
procedures in the monitoring, management and oversight | Collective Climate Action
of climate-related risks and opportunities h o EEGES - B HEE
EREEANER EENEEREEERRNEENE
BRE - EEEEIEFTNAE
D-Il strategy Climate-related risks and opportunities V. Low-carbon Operations,
D-lI%E B IR FERE R A i Collective Climate Action

T ECGES - B HEE

D-lll Risk Management
D-lllz e B 1

Financial position, financial performance and cash flow

BMIEIR - BBRALBASRE

V. Low-carbon Operations,
Collective Climate Action
f o EiGEE - REHEERXR

D-IV Indicators and

targets
D-IVIEIREE B 12

Greenhouse Gas (GHG) Emissions
BEREEPEN

V. Low-carbon Operations,
Collective Climate Action
h - RiGEE - R HEERXR

Climate-related transition risks

RIRIER S AR

V. Low-carbon Operations,
Collective Climate Action
f o RERES - B HEE

Climate-related physical risks

RARAERIYIE R

V. Low-carbon Operations,

Collective Climate Action
f o EiREE - R EE
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The Directors present their report and the audited financial
statements of the Group for the Year.

GLOBAL OFFERING

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 18
November 2014 as an exempted company with limited liability.
The Company issued 25,000,000 ordinary shares with nominal
value of US$0.00002 each (the “Shares” and each a “Share”)
and an aggregate nominal value of US$500.0 through global
offering at the offer price of HK$7.80 per Share. The Shares were
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on 30 December
2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company primarily
engaged in the provision of corporate and digital marketing
services and health and medical services. The Company mainly
operates its business through three segments: (i) corporate and
digital marketing services segment is engaged in the provision of
corporate and digital marketing services which mainly consists
of content services, information technology services and digital
marketing services; (ii) the health and medical services segment
is engaged in the provision of health and medical services which
mainly consists of medical support services and value-based
medical services; (iii) the others segment is engaged in the sales
of health services and products through various online and
offline channels, such as service of visiting patients on behalf of
customers and sales of nutritional supplements. The Company
mainly conducts its business in the domestic market.

There were no significant changes in the nature of the Group'’s
principal activities during the Year.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Further discussion and analysis of the activities as required by
Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, including
a description of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the
Group and an indication of likely future development in the
Group's business, can be found in the Chairman'’s Statement and
Management Discussion and Analysis set out on pages 5 to 20
of this annual report. This discussion forms part of this directors’
report.

ESEHRE

EXREAKEAFENRE MEECHHRE

BIREE

KRB 2014F11 A1sHERS B S M
BERRERAR - ARFBBERBEREE
B IR 1n7.80/% JT 8 1725,000,000 % & i E (&
0.00002% 7T & 48 T {E500.0F oAy E i@ A% ([ 45
NERIREG ) - B 2024412 A30 B fEH# B
FERLET ©

FEER

ARARB—FREERAT - TERFRHEEER
BRBFEHRG MERERRY - ARFTER
BEDBLEREE  (VDERREEEFEHR
B EREEERG R B FEHRYE - 26
AT 5 B ART M B F & SHRTS ¢ (2
FERRSE D BN ERERRERERY - T2

oh

BRSO RS REEBERRS ¢ (EbD
ZiaiR b MR T RBIEF 2 RIRG M E M0
IR EREP RSB ARSE RIFEE B HRE - K
RAEBEBAMSRRER

2!
«= .

WAEE - AEEMIBELHREL B EARE -

E 3 e

BRRAGHIMKRSRENBEZS RHNE—F
A am R AT (B FE AN 5 B AT I e X 2 AL B S T
PIRENBA - AR BN RE XS R AIREE R
MR BN A FRESE20EMNEFEREREE
Bl bt - EHENGEXKESTSHREN
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHRE

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND COMPLIANCE
WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group is committed to conducting its business in an
environmentally conscious manner and minimizing the adverse
effects caused by its operations on the environment. The Group
continues to make endeavors in saving energy and reducing
unnecessary waste by adopting various green measures in its
workplace. Such measures include using of energy-efficient
light tubes, encouraging use of recycle papers and both sides of
papers for printing and copying and keeping office temperature
at reasonable level. The Group will review the environmental
policy from time to time and will consider implementing further
environmentally friendly measures and practices in the operation
of the Group's business.

The Board paid attention to the Group’s policies and practices on
compliance with all significant legal and regulatory requirements
essential to is business operations. The Group would seek
professional advice from its external legal advisers and consultants
to ensure transactions and business to be performed by the Group
are in compliance with applicable environmental policies, laws and
regulations. During the Year, as far as the Company is aware, it
has complied in all material respects of the laws or regulations that
have a significant impact on the Group'’s business and operation.

A report on the environmental, social and governance aspects
prepared in accordance with Appendix C2 to the Listing Rules is
set out in pages 53 to 110 of this report.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH THE GROUP’S
EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS, SUPPLIERS AND
OTHER STAKEHOLDERS

The Group believes that employees are instrumental to the
success of the Group and that their industry knowledge and
understanding of the market will enable the Group to maintain
the competitiveness in the market. The Group has developed a
desirable working environment and provided a variety of benefits
and career development to its employees.

HealthyWay Inc. {2 BB HERAT

BREBRREBTEEER

AEBBHIARROTARRES  TERERIE
LEHRFERN TN E - NEBEETETFS
PIERENE BAR 55 - BMAOBREERLE DT LR
HRE - 2 EEMEIRERDNEREE - SBERS
RN EEITEIRF - ARESHRAEREES
IEKE o REBEB TR REBRE - UiFERE
AEBEGEETERE —PRREEEER -

EEeWIASERHETHARBLEZHER
MATEERERMEE ERNBER MME - NEH
#5 SRESNED AR MR EXE R - AR
AEBETNR S REBTEBEANREER &
BRIEER - WAFE - SIARBMRA - HERAE
EATEETHASEXRE L EEAEATENE
IR ©

RE TR ERCQERMNIRE L2 REIAR
EHNRATREZESIET110H -

HAKERES - FF - HEHRAM
M@ EETNEERE

AEBEEREEHASENKNNEREE - WEN
TTRAB R ATIEN T EEEARE R ETIS L%
BHRFED - AEEDSEEENTERE - UAIRE
BREZERNLRBERERES -



Our employees are required to participate in a defined
contribution scheme administered and operated by the local
municipal governments. Our PRC subsidiaries contribute funds
which are calculated on certain percentages of the employee
salary as agreed by the local municipal government to the scheme
to fund the retirement benefits of the employees. There were
no forfeited contributions that may be used by the Group as
employer to reduce the existing level of contributions.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group's loss for the Year and the Group's financial position at
that date are set out in the consolidated financial statements on
pages 158 to 164.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend for
the Year.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last three financial years is set out on page 264
of this annual report. This summary does not form part of the
audited financial statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

The shares of the Company have been listed on the Stock
Exchange on 30 December 2024 and 25,000,000 ordinary Shares
were issued through the global offering on the Listing Date. Save
for the aforesaid, during the Review Period, neither the Company
nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company’s listed securities.

Prior to the Listing, the Company had an authorized share
capital of 464,059,530 ordinary shares of US$0.0001 each and
35,940,470 preferred shares of US$0.0001 each, among which
142,919,560 ordinary shares and 27,621,400 preferred shares
were in issue. Immediately prior to the Listing, the Company
conducted the share subdivision, pursuant to which each share
in our issued and unissued share capital was subdivided into five
Shares. Immediately upon Listing, all of our preferred shares have
been automatically be converted into the ordinary Shares on a
one-to-one basis.

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHE

BAEEEZNMBAETRAEEREENTER
HAEE - HAIP BB A RRBEE W TRAR
BEHEEFLETAEOLLAESIHR - UEHESR
RAER) o ARERE (VR8T ) 8 7] A DARE AR
BAENRFNDRKMK -

FERKRE

RNEBPAFEEHEE L AEBRZB ZHBRR
HRFE 1582 164 MR A BITETRE ©

EETEBIRNAEEZEMRE -

MBERHE

AEEBE—AVBRFENFEREENAGBHE
FRAFRE2648 - ZMEL MEXLEZI G
W28 -

BE HEIEOQAQT LHES

AARIRMDER2024F12 A30B I BT Fh M
25,000,000 BN ETHH BB AREEE
BT o B B ESN - REIEEHAR] - A QRS EAAM
MEBARMEEE - HENERIAR IR EHE
gg’( o

R ETAT » RABIHEE IR A £464,059,5300% &
fi% 1 {60.0001 3£ 7T /9 & i AR 1 35,940,470 A% & %
E{50.0001 ETTHME LR - HH142,919,5600% &
AR 227,621,400 B EARE BAT o B8 LAl -
RATBETRMD A - Bt - BAIWBEBEITRARE
TTRAPERBRDDIFAARRD o B LEHeE -
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EEEHRE

USE OF PROCEEDS

The shares of the Company (the “Shares”) were listed on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) on 30 December 2024 (the “Listing Date").
The gross proceeds raised from the issue of new Shares in the
Company's global offering was HK$195 million (equivalent to
approximately RMB180.47 million). The net proceeds as at 31
December 2024 (after offsetting costs directly attributable to
the issue of new Shares and settled on or before 31 December
2024) were approximately RMB165.95 million, and the total net
proceeds (after deducting underwriting commissions and all other
related expenses, whether or not they had been settled on or
before 31 December 2024) were approximately HK$109.4 million
(equivalent to approximately RMB101.25 million and representing
a net price of HK$4.376 per Share). As of 31 December 2024,
none of the net proceeds has been used.

Below summarize the intended use of the net proceeds. The net
proceeds will be used in the manner consistent with the proposed
allocations and expected timeline as disclosed in the prospectus
and set out below. For details, please refer to the section headed
“Future Plans and Use of Proceeds” in the prospectus of the
Company dated 18 December 2024.

Allocation

Net Proceeds as at

R8s AE

AN FRAD (TR 1) A2024412 308 ([ £ E
HDEBBMEZIMBRAR([BRAT])ERE
e NARERBENRO T EENMEHRIELRE
RI1SEBAET(HERHARKE180478ET) -
2024512 4318 - PSR IEF 58 (FOBRFT AR (0 3%
THERGIMN2024F 12 831 B Z AT EE R
) B ARE165.95E &0 © MATEFIEFREE
B(INkEAERe RATEEMERRY - Twesd
BER2024F 12 A31B R R E ) A R10948 S
BIL(REROARKI01 258B T MFEBAER
B 174.376/87T) - 2024512 A318 « HEFT
BRIEFHECLAWER -

TREIIMEFBFEOERTREOE - ISR
HFBEFAAAKEERERRENEZESEERE
HRER 5 WHEHIAT - FIEBELEARFA
Hi/20245012 A 18 B B ERR ARG BI KR FTi5
SRIBR® & e

Unutilised Utilised
Net Proceeds as at

Utilised
Expected
timelines for use

31 December 31 December

Proposed Usage of the Proceeds 2024 2024  of the Proceeds
20245128318 142024512A318
HEBA NABR BRARENE
RERZ REHENDE FeRRFR FERERE NREHRE
(HK million) (HK million) (HK million)
(BBAT) (BBET) (BBET)
Business expansion 66.19 0 66.19 By December 2027
FHER 2027412840
Strategic investments or acquisitions 22.97 0 22.97 By December 2027
BR R AR 20274512 840
Research and development 15.86 0 15.86 By December 2027
e 2027412 A A0
Working capital and general corporate purposed 438 0 438 By December 2027
2ERSRREEAR 2027612 AF1
Total 5t 109.4 0 109.4
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the Year are set out in Note 11 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital during
the Year are set out in note 27(c) to the consolidated financial
statements.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group and
the Company during the Year are set out in note 27(d) to the
consolidated financial statements. As at 31 December 2024, the
reserves of the Company available for distribution, as calculated
in accordance with statutory provisions applicable in the Cayman
Islands was approximately RMB2,851.8 million (2023: RMB851.7
million).

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the Year, sales to the Group's five largest customers
accounted for 30% of the total sales for the year and sales to the
largest customer included therein amounted to 12%. Purchases
from the Group's five largest suppliers accounted for 41.88% of
the total purchases for the Year and purchases from the largest
supplier included therein amounted to 11.53%.

None of the directors of the Company or any of their associates
or any shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the
directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s share capital)
had any beneficial interest in the Group's five largest customers or
suppliers.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this report
were:

Executive Directors
Mr. Zhang Wanneng (Chairman and chief executive officer)
Mr. Chen Jing

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Chen Yong
Mr. Zhang Xiangming

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Xu Jing

Dr. Lu Tao

Ms. Deng Xiaolan

The biographical details of the Directors are set out in “Biographical
Details of Directors and Senior Management” in this report.

In accordance with articles of association of the Company,
directors will retire by rotation and, being eligible, will offer
themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

The Company has received annual confirmation of independence
from each of the independent non-executive Directors. As at the
date of this annual report, they are considered to be independent.

CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in this annual report, no contracts of significance
in relation to the Group’s business in which the Company,
any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries, or its controlling
shareholders, was a party and in which a Director had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted during or at the
end of the Year.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract
with the Company, and the Company has issued letters of
appointment to each of non-executive Directors and independent
non-executive Directors. The principal particulars of these service
contracts and the letters of appointment are (i) for an initial fixed
term of three years commencing from the Listing Date, and (ii)
subject to termination in accordance with their respective terms.

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a service contract with the Company
which is not determinable within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The Directors’ fees are subject to shareholders’ approval at
general meetings. Other emoluments are determined by the
Company'’s board of directors with reference to directors’ duties,
responsibilities and performance and the results of the Group.

Save for the two non-executive Directors who do not receive any
emoluments pursuant to their respective letters of appointment,
none of the Directors waived his/her emoluments or has agreed to
waive his/her emoluments for the year ended 31 December 2024.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance covering
the liabilities of its Directors and officers in respect of legal actions
that may brought against them. The Company has maintained
appropriate insurance cover for the Directors and officers
throughout the period from the Listing Date to 31 December
2024 and are currently in force.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in this report, no Director nor a connected entity
of a Director had a material interest, either directly or indirectly,
in any transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance
to the business of the Group to which the holding company of
the Company, or any of the Company’s subsidiaries was a party
during the Year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company
were entered into or existed during the Year.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Company is not aware of any tax relief and exemption
available to the shareholders of the Company by reason of their
holding of the Company’s securities

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions
of the Directors and chief executive of the Company in the
Shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO")), as recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company under Section
352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for the Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as
set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules, were as follows:
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(a) Long Positions in Ordinary Shares of the
Company

Interests in Shares of the Company

Name of Director

EEnS

Mr. Zhang Wanneng™

RERELLED REZEGDER R

Mr. Chen Yong® interest in controlled corporation
RELAED MEEHER R

Mr. Chen Jing® interest in controlled corporation
BRER T ES REZEER R

Notes:

M

Nature of interest

EENE

Affluent Base is wholly owned by Mr. Zhang and hence Mr.
Zhang is deemed to be interested in all the Shares held by
Affluent Base.

Best Premier is a limited liability company incorporated in
the BVI. As of the Latest Practicable Date, Best Premier is
wholly-owned by Mr. Chen Yong, one of our non-executive
Directors. Accordingly, Mr. Chen Yong is deemed to be
interested in all the Shares held by Best Premier by virtue of
the SFO.

Jyun Jing is a limited liability company incorporated in the
BVI. As of the Latest Practicable Date, Mr. Chen Jing held
approximately 43.06% of Jyun Jing, hence he is deemed to
be interested in all the Shares held by Jyun Jing by virtue of
the SFO.

interest in controlled corporation
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RADQ TR+ RS
Number of
Shares held/ Approximate %
interested of shareholding
58 /HA
EENROEE BMAOBERESL
295,915,335 33.71%
91,530,500 10.43%
42,774,900 4.87%
Biat -
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(b) Long Positions in the Associated Corporations of
the Company

Name of Director

EEnS HHEBEE &

Mr. Zhang Wanneng Fujian Health Road

RERLRE BRI
Fujian Health MedTech
BERRBERE

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, none of the
Directors nor chief executive of the Company had registered
an interest or short position in the Shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which had been
recorded in the register kept by the Company pursuant to Section
352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the paragraph headed “Directors’ and Chief
Executive’s Interests and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying
Shares and Debentures” above and in the paragraph headed
“Share Option Scheme” above, at no time during the Year were
rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in
or debentures of the Company granted to any Director or their
respective spouses or minor children, or were any such rights
exercised by them; or was the Company, its holding company,
or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a party to any
arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire such rights in any
other body corporate.
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5%, HmtE BORRBES
Beneficial owner 34.67%
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES
OF THE COMPANY

So far as is known to the Directors and the chief executive of
the Company, as at 31 December 2024, the following persons
(other than a Director or chief executive of the Company) had, or
were deemed to have, interests or short positions in the Shares
or underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be
disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO:

Long Positions in Ordinary Shares of the Company:

Long Position in the Shares

Name of Substantial
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A318 ' UTALZ(BEEHARR&ESTHRAER
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RARBDEBRTINER :

RO HNFE
Number of
Shares held/ Approximate %

Shareholder Nature of interest and capacity interested of shareholding
B8 BE

TERREEEB EEMERSH R R B BAOEREDL
Affluent Base Limited Beneficial owner 295,915,335 33.71%
SEARANT] EnEAA

Baidu HK Limited™ Beneficial owner 106,245,100 12.11%
BEEBE)BRARD BEmEAA

Best Premier Group Investment Beneficial owner 91,530,500 10.43%

Limited

EREERERRAR BREAA

May Jyu Limited Beneficial owner 81,012,500 9.23%
FirARAA BEHEAA

Notes: Wizt

(1) Baidu (HK) is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Baidu. By virtue of the
SFO, Baidu is deemed to be interested in all the Shares held by
Baidu (HK).

(2)  May Jyu is a limited liability company incorporated in the BVI. As
of the Latest Practicable Date, May Jyu was wholly-owned by Mr.
Zhang Wande.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has not adopted any share option scheme currently.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association of the Company or the laws of Cayman Island.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

During the Year, the Company did not enter into any equity-linked
agreements in respect of shares of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in
Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct
regarding securities transactions by the Directors. All Directors
have confirmed, following specific enquiry by the Company, that
they have complied with the required standard set out in the
Model Code from the Listing Date to 31 December 2024.

DEED OF NON-COMPETITION

As disclosed in the Prospectus, the controlling shareholders of the
Company (”Controlling Shareholders”) entered into a deed of
non-competition in favour of the Company on 11 December 2024
(the "Deed of Non-Competition”). Each of the Controlling
Shareholders confirmed to the Company that they have compiled
with the Deed of Non-Competition during the period from the
Listing Date to 31 December 2024.

Pursuant to the Deed of Non-Competition, each of the Controlling
Shareholders has irrevocably and unconditionally undertaken to
the Company that, subject to certain exceptions, during the period
that the Deed of Non-Competition remain effective, each of the
Controlling Shareholders shall not, and shall procure that he/it
will not, and will procure his/its close associates associates (other
than any members of the Group) not to, directly or indirectly,
either on his/its own account or in conjunction with or on behalf
of any person, firm or company (except through any member of
our Group), among others, carry on, participate, be interested or
involved in, undertake, acquire or hold (in each case whether as
a shareholder, director, partner, agent, employee, or otherwise,
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and whether for profit, reward or otherwise) any business (other
than our business) or any business (other than our business) that
directly or indirectly competes, or may compete, with (a) the
existing business activities of the Group as set out in the section
headed “Business” in the Prospectus, and (b) any other business
conducted, entered into, engaged in or invested in by any member
of our Group or which our Company has otherwise published an
announcement on the website of the Stock Exchange stating its
intention to conduct, enter into, engage in or invest in from time
to time (the "Restricted Business”) (whether alone or jointly with
another person and whether directly or indirectly or on behalf of
or to assist or act in concert with any other person), or hold shares
or interest in any companies or business that compete directly or
indirectly with the business engaged by the Group.

Our independent non-executive Directors have (i) reviewed
compliance with and the enforcement of undertakings under the
Deed of Non-competition; and (ii) there was no New Business
Opportunities under the Deed of Non-competition reviewed,
considered during the Review Period.

There was no decisions on matters on conflicts of interests
reviewed by the independent non-executive Directors to be
discolsed during the Review Period.

COMPETING INTERESTS

Mr. Chen Yong, our non-executive Director, held 3.33% of
the total shares of Longyan Meinian Onehealth Management
Company Limited* (FEMHRF KEERERBR A A, a company
focusing on health management consultation and physical
examination.

During the Year, save as disclosed above, so far as the Directors
are aware, none of the Directors, Controlling Shareholders and
substantial shareholders of the Company, and their respective
close associates (as defined under the Listing Rules) had held
any position or had interest in any businesses or companies that
were materially competing or might materially compete with the
business of the Group, or gave rise to any concern regarding
conflict of interest.
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COMPLIANCE WITH THE CONTRACTUAL
ARRANGEMENTS

During the Year, the Group has complied with the contractual
arrangements as disclosed in the section headed “Contractual
Arrangements” in the Prospectus (the “Contractual
Arrangements”) and the Foreign Investment Law of the PRC
(HhE AR EMBINE L E L)) (“FIL”) and its accompanying
explanatory notes. The Group will continue to monitor the latest
development of the FIL and its accompanying explanatory notes
and provide timely updates of the latest regulatory development.

During the Year, there is no material change regarding the
Contractual Arrangements.

According to the 2024 Negative List, provisions of VAT services,
which include telecommunication information services under
the Telecommunications Regulations of the PRC ({(FFZFE AR
HMBEZEH)), fall into the “restricted” category and the
shareholding percentage of a foreign investor in companies
engaged in such services (excluding e-commerce, domestic multi-
party communication services, store-and-forward services and call
center services) shall not exceed 50%.

On March 29, 2022, the State Council promulgated the
Decision of the State Council on Revising and Repealing Certain
Administrative Regulations (BI# 5T B8 iME 2 FEE LEZB 51T
BUEMKIRE DY), which amended the then Regulations for
the Administration of Foreign-Invested Telecommunications
Enterprises (NI EEEDEEIEIE)) (the "New FITE
Regulations”) with the amendments taking effect on May 1,
2022. Under the New FITE Regulations, foreign investors are
permitted to hold up to 50% (but no more) equity interest in
entities requiring an ICP License to operate, provided that the
foreign investor satisfies qualification requirements, including
registered capital and other requirements or proof required under
the new FITE Regulations (“VAT Qualification Requirements”).
However, the New FITE Regulations removed the requirements
that the foreign investor would need to have a good track record
and experience in operating VAT businesses overseas.
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Efforts and Actions Undertaken to Comply with the
Qualification Requirements

The Group has committed and will continue to commit financial
and other resources and implement all necessary steps to meet
the VAT Qualification Requirements, for instance:

By March 31st each year, the Ministry of Industry and Information
Technology (MIIT) and the Fujian Provincial Communications
Administration issue annual inspection notices for the VAT
License. The company consistently submits the required annual
inspection materials as mandated to ensure compliance with the
Value-Added Telecommunications Services License requirements.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT
VENTURES, AND FUTURE PLANS FOR
MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL ASSETS

There were no significant investments held by the Company during
the Year, nor were there any material acquisitions and disposals of
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures or any charges on group
assets during the Year. There is no plan authorised by the Board
for other material investments or additions of capital assets as at
the date of this report.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions undertaken by the
Group during the Year are set out in note 30 to the consolidated
financial statements in this annual report. Details of any related
party transactions which also constitute connected transactions
or continuing connected transactions not fully exempt under
the Listing Rules are disclosed below. Unless otherwise stated,
capitalized terms used below shall have the same meanings as
those used in the Prospectus.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the Review Period and up to the date of this annual
report, the Company and the Group had the following continuing
connected transactions:

Wellness Content Cooperation Agreements

As disclosed in the section of continuing connected transactions
of the Prospectus, we started to cooperate with Baidu (one
substantial shareholder of the company listed on the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 9888) and Nasdaq (ticker symbol: BIDU)
on wellness content services in 2018, by providing wellness
content (including but not limited to wellness content related
articles, photos, audio clips, videos/short video clips, live-streaming
lectures, medical encyclopedias and health Q&A) to Baidu and
Baidu’s display of such wellness content in our database on its
online platforms as search results. The currently effective wellness
content cooperation agreements were respectively entered into
between (i) Fujian Health Road and Baidu Netcom (an associate
of Baidu) on 31 December 2023 for a term from 1 January
2024 to 31 December 2024; and (ii) Fuzhou Kangzhi and Baidu
Netcom on 31 December 2023 for a term from 1 January 2024
to 31 December 2024 (the “Wellness Content Cooperation
Agreements”). The parties expect to renew the agreements upon
their respective expiry.

Reasons for the Transaction

Baidu Netcom is a subsidiary of Baidu, which is a leading search
engine in China, offering various website accesses to a vast base
of potential consumers. By cooperating with Baidu Netcom,
we are able to further broaden our customer base, diversify
our services, enhance marketing of our brand and ultimately
generate income from our wellness content services business.
The transactions contemplated under the Wellness Content
Cooperation Agreements are entered into in the ordinary and usual
course of our business and are on normal commercial terms.

HealthyWay Inc. {2 BB HERAT

REOBERRNREEAFREY - AATRAEEE
ATHERERS

MERNBEEihR

WOBRERFEFAER S —HAEE - RN
2018 F A ER B E (B R AT (BRI (B - 9888) %
MHTES (BRZMRE : BIDU) EH AR —fLE
ERF)ERIEARRE A EEE  ARNABRAEE
REEEREAD (BEETRAREARHEREX
EBAE - BEER - GIEERE - EREEE -
EEANERERE) MAaETEKLFYELE
THEEMBEEANRERNREARRER - BAI
ERRERNREERZRRE)ERIERE 2 KET
EREM(BENBEA)N2023F12A31HEI K
HERNDEERE - HiIRA2024F 118 E2024
F12A318 ¢ ROVEMNEAET EHEMMN20235F
12 A3BEI RIS NE & B - BIfR &2024
F1A1BE2024F 12 A3MB([REREEED
B/ FIHNFTEERBEEAEmEES -

ETRZHNER

BEHEMATERLRRIZAENMNBAR - 12
HEZEBUE A RBRAELEEELR - BBEHEA
EHEAMHAE  RfmE—TRATPER - &
BIRTS - IR TR miE e &R AR EARTR
BERBEEWA - BIERTAFHZEE TERHETTH
RZIREFN— B R AEEGERTIZLEEEE

ERFRETAL



Pricing Basis

The transactions contemplated under the Wellness Content
Cooperation Agreements are priced based on the CPM model,
whereby we charge Baidu Netcom a certain amount of service
fee for every 1,000 page views. Such amount of service fee is
determined based on the real-time quotation provided by Baidu to
all content providers, which fluctuates from time to time. During
the Track Record Period, such amount of service fee we charged
ranged from RMB10.67 every 1,000 page views to RMB27.04
every 1,000 page views. CPM model is a common pricing model
adopted in the industry. Under CPM model, the unit price for
every 1,000 page views is calculated and decided solely by Baidu
based on its big data analysis, which fluctuates from time to
time. Baidu offers standard unit price to all comparable content
providers, including our Company and other Baidu’s independent
third parties. Therefore, our Directors constantly obtain and review
market prevailing price in similar transactions from public resource
and information, and compare those with the fluctuating price
offered by Baidu to its independent third parties and us.

Historical Figures, Annual Cap and Basis of Annual Cap

The historical transaction amount for each of the three years ended
31 December 2021, 2022, 2023 and 2024 was approximately
RMB47.66 million, RMB18.38 million, RMB12.83,million and
RMB 13.93 million respectively. The amount in 2024 was below
the proposed annual cap (RMB14 million) for the year ending 31
December 2024.

Listing Rules Implications and Waiver Applications

Since the highest of the applicable percentage ratios calculated
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules is expected to exceed 0.1%
but less than 5% on an annual basis, pursuant to Rule 14A.76(2)
of the Listing Rules, the transactions contemplated under the
Wellness Content Cooperation Agreements are exempt from
the circular (including the opinion and recommendation from an
independent financial advisor) and the independent shareholders’
approval requirements, but are subject to the annual reporting,
annual review and announcement pursuant to Rules 14A.35,
14A.49, 14A.55 and 14A.71 of the Listing Rules.
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Contractual Arrangements

The Group has entered into the Contractual Arrangements, which
constitutes non-exempt continuing connected transactions under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Reasons for using the Contractual Arrangements

Due to foreign ownership restrictions under the relevant PRC
laws, regulations and regulatory practices, it is not viable for
our Company to (i) hold Fujian Health Road and its subsidiaries
directly through equity ownership to conduct our remote medical
consultation services, or (ii) directly hold more than 50% equity
interests in Fujian Health MedTech to conduct our value-added
telecommunications services businesses. Rather, the Company
control all or part of the equity interests in these entities through
the Contractual Arrangements, through which we are able
to consolidate all the economic benefits of the Consolidated
Affiliated Entities. For details, see “Contractual Arrangements” in
the prospectus.

The following simplified diagrams illustrate the flow of economic
benefits from our Consolidated Affiliated Entities to our Group
stipulated under the Contractual Arrangements as of the 31
December 2024:
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Fujian Health MedTech Contractual Arrangements
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denotes Contractual Arrangements.

denotes the control by Health Road HealthTech over

the Consolidated Affiliated Entities, the Registered
Shareholders or Mr. Zhang (as the case may be)
through the (i) powers of attorney to exercise all
shareholders’ rights in Fujian Health Road or Fujian
Health MedTech (as the case may be).

As of the Latest Practicable Date, the Registered Shareholders are  (2)
the following persons who together hold 100% equity interest of

Fujian Health Road:

Shareholders

Mr. Zhang Wanneng

Health Road Investment Center (i)
Chuanke Comuter (ii)

Shangrao SOA (iii)

Shanghai Jiejia (iv)

Fuzhou Wanjia Kangjian (v)

IR3R

REREKLE

2B 2 BRI E A )
BRRETEH)
BB i)

5 EGY)

RN EBRERV)

> REBRAENTOHEELTRER
FAHE -

[e)  RRAHRH -

— | RRREZ ERER (B RE

RETERNEEREZKIEER
BEEBER(RIERMmE ) #PTA B
RAERN - femEd R BER -
BRBRESRELECRBRME) -

HESBERUTAY  BRBREAUTARE
BREEEZE100%AEN AL ¢

Approximate
percentage of
shareholding
REMIB D

34.66%
46.37%
12.77%
2.67%
1.02%
2.51%

Annual Report 20245 £ 3§ 129



130

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHRE

(i) Fuzhou Health Road Investment Center (Limited Partnership)*
(MR 2B E R L(BRE %)), alimited partnership
established in the PRC on January 4, 2017.

(i) Chuanke Computer System (Beijing) Co., Ltd.* (fEzR&T & i
REGEER) AR AR]), a limited liability company established
in the PRC on December 27, 2011.

(i) Shangrao State Owned Assets Management Group Co.,
Ld* (EEBEMBEEERLLERBERRA
company established in the PRC on January 31, 2008.

, a limited liability

(iv)  Shanghai Jiejia Investment Management Center (Limited
Partnership)* (/8 R EREEEHL(ERAE)), a limited
partnership established in the PRC on February 26, 2016.

(v)  Fuzhou Wanjia Kangjian Investment Center (Limited

Partnership)* (BN EBXREEEZREFR L(ERER)),
partnership established in the PRC on July 3, 2014.

a limited

Fujian Health Road Health Technology Co., Ltd.* (f& {5 2 B2
ERHTARAF), a limited liability company established in the PRC
on October 18, 2021.

Fujian Health Road Information Technology Co., Ltd.* (B FE.2
HEAZ BEIMTBEBR A R), a limited liability company established under
the laws of the PRC on December 10, 2014.

Fujian Health Road Medical Technology Co., Ltd.* (&5 2 ¥
EERIHE AR A F), a limited liability company established in the
PRC on June 1, 2022, directly held by Mr. Zhang as to 50% and
by Health Road HealthTech as to 50% as of the Latest Practicable
Date.
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SUMMARY OF THE MAJOR TERMS OF THE
CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS

Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreements

In respect of the Fujian Health Road Contractual Arrangements
and the Fujian Health MedTech Contractual Arrangements, a
respective exclusive business cooperation agreement was entered
into among (i) Fujian Health Road, the Registered Shareholders
and Health Road HealthTech on February 8, 2023 and (i) Fujian
Health MedTech, Mr. Zhang and Health Road HealthTech on
February 8, 2023 (collectively as the “Holdco Exclusive Business
Cooperation Agreements”), pursuant to which each of Fujian
Health Road and Fujian Health MedTech agreed to engage Health
Road HealthTech as their respective exclusive service provider to
provide them and their respective subsidiaries (if applicable) with
comprehensive technical service, technical consulting and other
services, including operation and business support, technical
service, business consulting, financial consulting, intellectual
property licensing, equipment and assets lease, market consulting,
product research and development, system maintenance,
staff training, public relationship consulting, network support,
management consulting and other related services as requested by
them and their respective subsidiaries (if applicable) to the extent
permitted under the PRC laws, respectively.

Without Health Road HealthTech’s prior written consent, each of
Fujian Health Road and Fujian Health MedTech agreed that it shall
not, and shall procure its subsidiaries not to, (i) receive services
which are identical or similar to the services covered by the Holdco
Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreements from any third party,
or (ii) enter into any similar cooperation with any third party.

In consideration of the services provided by Health Road
HealthTech, each of Fujian Health Road and Fujian Health
MedTech shall pay services fees to Health Road HealthTech,
which, subject to Health Road HealthTech’s adjustment at its sole
discretion, shall consist of all of the consolidated profit of Fujian
Health Road and Fujian Health MedTech and their respective
subsidiaries (net of accumulated deficit in the previous financial
years (if any), costs, expenses, taxes and payments required by
the applicable laws to be reserved or withheld). The service fees
shall be paid annually by Fujian Health Road and Fujian Health
MedTech, respectively.
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The Holdco Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreements shall
become effective upon signing and remain effective until, among
other things, Health Road HealthTech or its designee acquires all
the equity interest in and/or all assets of Fujian Health Road and/or
Fujian Health MedTech pursuant to the relevant Holdco Exclusive
Purchase Option Agreements below. None of Fujian Health Road
or Fujian Health MedTech shall unilaterally terminate the relevant
Holdco Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreements.

In addition, Health Road HealthTech, Fujian Health Management
and Yinchuan Borderless entered into an exclusive business
cooperation agreement on 8 November 2024 (the “Subsidiary
Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement”, together with
the Holdco Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreements, as the
“Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreements”), pursuant to
which Fujian Health Management and Yinchuan Borderless have
engaged Health Road HealthTech as the exclusive service provider
to provide Fujian Health Management and Yinchuan Borderless
with comprehensive services and Fujian Health Management
and Yinchuan Borderless shall pay services fees to Health Road
HealthTech. The key terms of the Subsidiary Exclusive Business
Cooperation Agreement are similar with those of the Holdco
Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreements.

Exclusive Purchase Option Agreements

In respect of the Fujian Health Road Contractual Arrangements
and the Fujian Health MedTech Contractual Arrangements, a
respective exclusive purchase option agreement was entered into
among (i) Fujian Health Road, the Registered Shareholders and
Health Road HealthTech on 8 February 2023 and (ii) Fujian Health
MedTech, Mr. Zhang and Health Road HealthTech on 8 February
2023 (collectively as the “Holdco Exclusive Purchase Option
Agreements”), pursuant to which each of Fujian Health Road,
Fujian Health MedTech, the Registered Shareholders and Mr.
Zhang has granted Health Road HealthTech an irrevocable and
exclusive right to purchase by itself or its designee at any time and
to the extent permitted by the then applicable PRC laws (i) from
each of the Registered Shareholders and Mr. Zhang (as the case
may be) all or any part of their equity interests in Fujian Health
Road and/or Fujian Health MedTech; and/or (ii) from Fujian Health
Road and/or Fujian Health MedTech all or any of its respective
assets or interests in any of its respective assets.
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Without Health Road HealthTech’s prior written consent, none
of Fujian Health Road, Fujian Health MedTech, the Registered
Shareholders or Mr. Zhang shall sell, transfer, pledge or otherwise
dispose of the respective shares or assets with a value of more
than RMB1 million (as the case may be) of Fujian Health Road or
Fujian Health MedTech.

The purchase price payable by Health Road HealthTech or its
designee in respect of the transfer of shares or assets shall be the
nominal value or the lowest price permitted under the PRC laws,
and the Registered Shareholders and/or Mr. Zhang shall return the
purchase price in full to Health Road HealthTech or its designee to
the extent permitted under the applicable then PRC laws.

The Holdco Exclusive Purchase Option Agreements shall become
effective upon signing and remain effective until that (i) Health
Road HealthTech or its designee acquires all the respective equity
interest in and/or all assets of Fujian Health Road and Fujian Health
MedTech and Health Road HealthTech or its designee is permitted
to carry out the respective business of Fujian Health Road and
Fujian Health MedTech under the applicable PRC laws or (ii) the
Holdco Exclusive Purchase Option Agreements are terminated
upon 30 days after Health Road HealthTech issues a unilateral
written notice of termination to the other parties.

Pursuant to the Holdco Exclusive Purchase Option Agreements,
each of Fujian Health Road, Fujian Health MedTech, the Registered
Shareholders and Mr. Zhang has undertaken to perform certain
acts or refrain from performing certain other acts unless they have
obtained prior approval from Health Road HealthTech, including
but not limited to the following matters:

(1) without Health Road HealthTech’s prior written consent,
they shall not supplement, alter or amend the respective
articles of Fujian Health Road and/or Fujian Health MedTech
in any manner, increase or reduce its respective registered
capital, or otherwise change its registered capital structure,
or effect dissolution, liquidation or deregistration of Fujian
Health Road and/or Fujian Health MedTech;
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they shall maintain the respective existence of Fujian Health
Road and Fujian Health MedTech, conduct its business
and affairs prudently and efficiently in accordance with
sound financial and commercial standards and practices,
and procure the respective performance by Fujian Health
Road and/or Fujian Health MedTech of its respective
obligations under the Holdco Exclusive Business Cooperation
Agreements;

they shall take all necessary measures to ensure that Fujian
Health Road and Fujian Health MedTech would hold all
business licenses required for the operation of its respective
businesses in a timely manner and such business licenses
shall remain valid at all times;

without Health Road HealthTech’s prior written consent,
they shall not sell, transfer, pledge or otherwise dispose of
their legal interest in any of Fujian Health Road/Fujian Health
MedTech's assets (tangible or intangible), business or income
of more than RMB1 million, or allow the encumbrance of
any security interest on them, at any time from the date of
the Holdco Exclusive Purchase Option Agreements;

without Health Road HealthTech’s prior written consent,
they shall not incur, succeed to, guarantee or permit to exist
any indebtedness other than (i) indebtedness incurred in the
ordinary course of business and not by way of a loan; and
(ii) indebtedness which has been disclosed to and agreed in
writing by Health Road HealthTech;

they shall operate all of Fujian Health Road/Fujian Health
MedTech'’s business in the ordinary course of business so as
to maintain the value of Fujian Health Road/Fujian Health
MedTech’s assets and not to engage in any act/omission
which might adversely affect Fujian Health Road/Fujian
Health MedTech’s business and the value of its respective
assets;
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without Health Road HealthTech’s prior written consent,
they shall not procure Fujian Health Road or Fujian Health
MedTech to enter into any material contract, except for
contracts entered into in the ordinary course of business
of Fujian Health Road and/or Fujian Health MedTech
and contracts between Fujian Health Road/Fujian Health
MedTech and Health Road HealthTech’s overseas parent
company or a subsidiary directly or indirectly controlled by
Health Road HealthTech’s overseas parent company (for the
purpose of this paragraph, a contract with a value of more
than RMB1 million is considered a material contract);

without Health Road HealthTech’s prior written consent,
they shall not procure Fujian Health Road and/or Fujian
Health MedTech to provide loans, financial assistance or
security of any kind such as mortgages or pledges to any
person or allow a third party to create a charge or pledge
over Fujian Health Road/Fujian Health MedTech'’s assets or
equity;

they shall provide Health Road HealthTech with all
information regarding the operations and financial condition
of Fujian Health Road and/or Fujian Health MedTech on a
regular basis upon Health Road HealthTech’s request;

they shall, at the request of Health Road HealthTech,
purchase and hold insurance from an insurance company
acceptable to Health Road HealthTech in respect of the
respective assets and businesses of Fujian Health Road and
Fujian Health MedTech;

they shall not cause or permit Fujian Health Road or Fujian
Health MedTech to merge or alliance with, or acquire or
invest in, any person without the prior written consent of
Health Road HealthTech;

unless required by the PRC laws, without the written
consent of Health Road HealthTech, neither Fujian Health
Road nor Fujian Health MedTech shall be dissolved or
liquidated. Following a statutory liquidation, the Registered
Shareholders or Mr. Zhang (as the case may be) shall pay
to Health Road HealthTech in full any residual value they
receive or procure such payment.
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(14)

Where such payment is prohibited by the PRC laws, the
Registered Shareholders or Mr. Zhang (as the case may be)
shall pay such income to Health Road HealthTech or Health
Road HealthTech’s designee to the extent permitted by the
PRC laws;

they shall promptly notify Health Road HealthTech of any
litigation, arbitration or administrative proceedings that has
occurred or may occur in relation to the assets, business or
income of Fujian Health Road or Fujian Health MedTech and
take all necessary measures as may be reasonably requested
by Health Road HealthTech;

they shall execute all necessary or appropriate documents,
take all necessary or appropriate actions and file all
necessary or appropriate complaints or defend against all
claims to the extent necessary and appropriate to maintain
Fujian Health Road/Fujian Health MedTech’s ownership of all
of its respective assets;

they shall ensure that Fujian Health Road and Fujian Health
MedTech not pay dividends in any form to its respective
shareholders without the prior written consent of Health
Road HealthTech, but upon written request of Health Road
HealthTech, Fujian Health Road and Fujian Health MedTech
shall immediately distribute all distributable profits to their
respective shareholders;

at the request of Health Road HealthTech, they shall appoint
a party designated by Health Road HealthTech to serve as a
director, supervisor and/or officer of Fujian Health Road and/
or Fujian Health MedTech;

without the written consent of Health Road HealthTech,
Fujian Health Road and Fujian Health MedTech shall not
engage in any business that may or is likely to compete with
Health Road HealthTech or any of its affiliates; and

procure that Fujian Health Road’s subsidiaries and Fujian
Health MedTech's subsidiaries (as the case may be) shall,
where applicable, comply with the undertakings herein as
if such subsidiaries were Fujian Health Road/Fujian Health
MedTech itself.
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In addition, Health Road HealthTech, Fujian Health Road, Fujian
Health Management and Yinchuan Borderless entered into an
exclusive purchase option agreement on November 8, 2024 (the
"Subsidiary Exclusive Purchase Option Agreement”, together
with the Holdco Exclusive Purchase Option Agreements, as the
“Exclusive Purchase Option Agreements”), pursuant to which
Fujian Health Road, Fujian Health Management and Yinchuan
Borderless have granted Health Road HealthTech or its designee
an irrevocable and exclusive right to purchase at any time and
to the extent permitted by the then applicable PRC laws (i) from
Fujian Health Road all or any part of its equity interests in Fujian
Health Management and Yinchuan Borderless and/or (ii) from
each of Fujian Health Management and Yinchuan Borderless all
or any of its assets or interests in any of its assets. The key terms
of the Subsidiary Exclusive Purchase Option Agreement are similar
with those of the Holdco Exclusive Purchase Option Agreements.

Equity Pledge Agreements

In respect of the Fujian Health Road Contractual Arrangements
and the Fujian Health MedTech Contractual Arrangements, a
respective equity pledge agreement was entered into among (i)
Fujian Health Road, the Registered Shareholders and Health Road
HealthTech on February 8, 2023 and (ii) Fujian Health MedTech,
Mr. Zhang and Health Road HealthTech on February 8, 2023
(collectively as the “Holdco Equity Pledge agreements”),
pursuant to which, each of the Registered Shareholders and Mr.
Zhang has pledged all of its/his respective equity interests in Fujian
Health Road or Fujian Health MedTech to Health Road HealthTech
as the first priority security to guarantee performance of their
contractual obligations under the Contractual Arrangements and
all liabilities, monetary debts or other payment obligations arising
out of or in relation to the Contractual Arrangements.

Without Health Road HealthTech’s prior written consent, none
of the Registered Shareholders or Mr. Zhang shall transfer or
otherwise dispose of all of part of the pledged shares.
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Upon the occurrence of an event of default (as defined in the
Holdco Equity Pledge Agreements), unless it is successfully
resolved to Health Road HealthTech’s satisfaction, Health Road
HealthTech may exercise its right of pledge at any time, including (i)
requesting the Registered Shareholders, Mr. Zhang, Fujian Health
Road or Fujian Health MedTech to pay Health Road HealthTech
any due payments, debt or any other payment under the Holdco
Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreements and/or any loan, or
(i) dispose the pledged equity interests in accordance with the
Holdco Equity Pledge Agreements or otherwise as permitted
under the PRC laws, including selling the pledged equity interests
at discount or by way of auction.

The equity pledge under the Holdco Equity Pledge Agreements
takes effect upon the completion of registration with the relevant
administration for industry and commerce and shall remain
valid until (i) all obligations of Fujian Health Road, Fujian Health
MedTech, the Registered Shareholders and Mr. Zhang under
the respective Contractual Arrangements are satisfied in full, or
(i) Health Road HealthTech or its designee acquire all the equity
interest in and/or all assets of Fujian Health Road and/or Fujian
Health MedTech, and Health Road HealthTech and its designees
are permitted to carry out the respective business of Fujian Health
Road and/or Fujian Health MedTech under the applicable PRC
laws.

The registration of the Holdco Equity Pledge Agreements as
required by the relevant laws and regulations has been completed
in accordance with the terms of the Holdco Equity Pledge
Agreements and the PRC laws and regulations on May 12, 2023.

In addition, Health Road HealthTech, Fujian Health Road, Fujian
Health Management and Yinchuan Borderless entered into an
equity pledge agreement on November 8, 2024 (the “Subsidiary
Equity Pledge Agreement”, together with the Holdco Equity
Pledge Agreements, as the “Equity Pledge Agreements”),
pursuant to which, Fujian Health Road agrees to pledge all of
its respective equity interests in Fujian Health Management and
Yinchuan Borderless to Health Road HealthTech as the first
priority security to guarantee performance of its contractual
obligations under the Contractual Arrangements and all liabilities,
monetary debts or other payment obligations arising out of or
in relation with the Contractual Arrangements. The key terms of
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the Subsidiary Equity Pledge Agreement are similar with those
of the Holdco Equity Pledge Agreements. The registration of the
Subsidiary Equity Pledge Agreement as required by the relevant
laws and regulations has been completed in accordance with the
terms of the Subsidiary Equity Pledge Agreement and the PRC
laws and regulations on November 11, 2024.

Voting Proxy Agreements

In respect of the Fujian Health Road Contractual Arrangements
and the Fujian Health MedTech Contractual Arrangements, a
respective voting proxy agreement was entered into between
(i) the Registered Shareholders and Health Road HealthTech on
February 8, 2023 and (ii) Mr. Zhang and Health Road HealthTech
on February 8, 2023 (collectively as the “Holdco Voting Proxy
Agreements”), pursuant to which the Registered Shareholders
and Mr. Zhang have appointed Health Road HealthTech and/
or its designee as their exclusive agent and attorney to act on
their/his behalf on all matters concerning Fujian Health Road
and Fujian Health MedTech respectively and to exercise all of
their respective rights as shareholder(s) of Fujian Health Road
and Fujian Health MedTech, including, among other things: (i) to
attend shareholders’ meetings and sign shareholders’ resolutions;
(i) to exercise all shareholder’s rights in accordance with law
and the constitutional documents of Fujian Health Road/Fujian
Health MedTech, including but not limited to shareholder’s voting
rights, the sale, transfer, pledge or disposal of any or all of its/
his respective equity interests in Fujian Health Road/Fujian Health
MedTech, and to file documents with the relevant companies
registry; and (iii) to nominate, appoint or remove the legal
representatives, chairman, directors, supervisors, general managers
and other senior management members of Fujian Health Road/
Fujian Health MedTech.
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As a result of the Holdco Voting Proxy Agreements, the Company,
through Health Road HealthTech, is able to exercise management
control over the activities that most significantly impact the
respective economic performance of Fujian Health Road and
Fujian Health MedTech. The Holdco Voting Proxy Agreements
shall become effective upon signing and remain effective so long as
the Registered Shareholders and/or Mr. Zhang are shareholder(s)
of Fujian Health Road and/or Fujian Health MedTech, respectively.
During the term of Holdco Voting Proxy Agreements, none of the
Registered Shareholders or Mr. Zhang shall itself/himself exercise
any of its/his rights attached to the respective shares of Fujian
Health Road/Fujian Health MedTech which have been authorized
to Health Road HealthTech or its designee.

In addition, Health Road HealthTech and Fujian Health Road
entered into a voting proxy agreement on November 8, 2024
(the “Subsidiary Voting Proxy Agreement”, together with
the Holdco Voting Proxy Agreements, as the “Voting Proxy
Agreements”), pursuant to which Fujian Health Road has
appointed Health Road HealthTech and/or its designee as their
exclusive agent and attorney to act on its behalf on all matters
concerning Fujian Health Management and Yinchuan Borderless
and to exercise all of its respective rights as the shareholder of
Fujian Health Management and Yinchuan Borderless. The key
terms of the Subsidiary Voting Proxy Agreement are similar with

those of the Holdco Voting Proxy Agreements.

Other Aspects of the Contractual Arrangements
Spouse Consent

The spouse of Mr. Zhang (the individual Registered Shareholder)
has executed a consent letter, pursuant to which she has
unconditionally and irrevocably agreed that Mr. Zhang is entitled
to deal with his own equity interests in the Fujian Health Road
and Fujian Health MedTech in accordance with the Holdco
Exclusive Purchase Option Agreements, the Holdco Equity Pledge
Agreements and the Holdco Voting Proxy Agreements, and has
no objection regarding the relevant contractual arrangements. The
spouse of Mr. Zhang further agrees that (i) any equity interests
held by her spouse as a Registered Shareholder in Fujian Health
Road and a shareholder of Fujian Health MedTech are not their
communal properties; (ii) she does not have any interest in the
equity interests of Fujian Health Road or Fujian Health MedTech,
and will not raise any claim on the equity interest of Fujian Health
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Road or Fujian Health MedTech; (iii) she will not take any measures
that are in conflict with the contractual arrangements executed
by Mr. Zhang; and (iv) she will take all necessary measures to
procure the performance of the relevant agreements underlying
the contractual arrangements executed by Mr. Zhang.

Protection in the Event of Bankruptcy of the Corporate
Shareholders of the Consolidated Affiliated Entities

Each of the corporate shareholders of the Consolidated Affiliated
Entitiy(ies) undertakes to Health Road HealthTech that, in the
event of bankruptcy, liquidation or other circumstances regarding
the corporate shareholder which may affect the exercise of its
direct or indirect equity interest in such Consolidated Affiliated
Entitiy, the relevant corporate shareholder’s successor, liquidator,
and any other person/entity which may as a result of the above
events obtain the equity interest or relevant rights directly or
indirectly, shall not prejudice or hinder the enforcement of the
contractual arrangements.

Dispute Resolution

In the event of any dispute with respect to the construction
and performance of the provisions, each of the Contractual
Arrangements stipulates that:

(@) the parties shall negotiate in good faith to resolve the
dispute;

(b) in the event the parties fail to settle the dispute within 30
days of a negotiation request, any party may submit the
relevant dispute to the Fujian Branch of China International
Economic and Trade Arbitration commission for arbitration,
in accordance with the then effective arbitration rules
of China International Economic and Trade Arbitration
Commission. The arbitration shall be conducted in Fujian
Province. The arbitration ruling shall be final and binding on
all parties;
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(c)  the arbitral tribunal may award remedies over the equity
interest and property interest and other assets of our
Consolidated Affiliated Entities, injunctive relief or order the
winding up of our Consolidated Affiliated Entities; and

(d) upon the request by any party, the courts of competent
jurisdictions shall have the power to grant interim remedies
in support of arbitration pending information of the
arbitral tribunal or in appropriate cases. The courts of Hong
Kong, the Cayman Islands, the PRC and other courts with
jurisdiction, including but not limited to the place where
the principal assets of our Company and our Consolidated
Affiliated Entities are located, shall be considered as having
jurisdiction for the above purposes.

In connection with the dispute resolution method as set out in the
Contractual Arrangements and the practical consequences, we are
advised by our PRC Legal Advisor that:

(@) a tribunal has no power to grant such injunctive relief, nor
will it be able to order the winding up of our Consolidated
Affiliated Entities pursuant to current PRC laws; and

(b) in addition, interim remedies or enforcement orders granted
by overseas courts such as Hong Kong and Cayman Islands
may not be recognizable or enforceable in the PRC.

As a result of the above, in the event that any Consolidated
Affiliated Entity and/or its respective shareholder(s), as the case
may be, breach any of the Contractual Arrangements, we may
not be able to obtain sufficient remedies in a timely manner,
and our ability to exert effective control over our Consolidated
Affiliated Entities and conduct our business could be materially
and adversely affected. See “Risk Factors — Risks Relating to
Our Corporate Structure and Contractual Arrangements — Our
Contractual Arrangements may not be as effective in providing
operational control as direct ownership, and the Consolidated
Affiliated Entities or their respective registered shareholders
may fail to perform their obligations under our Contractual

Arrangements.” in the prospectus for more information.
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Succession

Each of the agreements under the Contractual Arrangements
is binding on the successors of the individual Registered
Shareholders and/or Mr. Zhang (as the case may be). Under the
succession laws of China, the statutory successors include one’s
spouse, children, parents, brothers, sisters, paternal grandparents
and maternal grandparents and any breach by such successors
would be a breach of the Contractual Arrangements. In case of a
breach, Health Road HealthTech can enforce its rights against the
SUCCessors.

In the event of death, incapacity, divorce, succession, bankruptcy
or other circumstances which may affect an individual Registered
Shareholder’s holding of Fujian Health Road or Mr. Zhang’s
holding of Fujian Health MedTech’s equity interests, such
individual Registered Shareholder’'s or Mr. Zhang’s successor,
transferee, creditor or any other person who obtains Fujian Health
Road and/or Fujian Health MedTech’s equity interests or related
rights due to such event (i) shall not interfere with or impede
the performance of the agreements under the Contractual
Arrangements, and (i) shall be regarded a signing party of, and be
bound by, those agreements.

Under the spouse consent, the spouse of Mr. Zhang has confirmed
that in the event of death, bankruptcy, divorce or any other
circumstances which may affect Mr. Zhang's shareholdings of
Fujian Health Road or Fujian Health MedTech’s, the spouse of Mr.
Zhang will not take any action that may interfere with or impede
the performance of her spouse’s obligations under the contractual
arrangements executed by Mr. Zhang under any circumstances.
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Conflict of Interest

As one Registered Shareholder (namely Mr. Zhang) is alsothe
Director of the Company, we have implemented measures to
protect against the potential conflicts of interest between our
Company and the Registered Shareholders. Under the Voting
Proxy Agreements, (i) in the event of any conflict of interest
among the Registered Shareholders, Mr. Zhang, Fujian Health
Road, Fujian Health MedTech and Health Road HealthTech, to the
extent permitted by the PRC laws, the Registered Shareholders
and Mr. Zhang shall protect, and shall not harm the interest of
Health Road HealthTech and our Company; and (i) in the event
that the Registered Shareholders are also our Directors or officers,
the Registered Shareholders shall appoint Health Road HealthTech
or its/his designee (excluding the Registered Shareholders who are
also our Directors or officers) to exercise all of the rights under the
Voting Proxy Agreements. See “— Summary of the Material Terms
of the Contractual Arrangements — Voting Proxy Agreements” in
the prospectus for more information.

Loss Sharing

Neither the agreements under the Contractual Arrangements nor
the PRC laws provide or require that our Company or Health Road
HealthTech be obligated to share the losses of the Consolidated
Affiliated Entities or provide financial assistance to the
Consolidated Affiliated Entities. Further, each of the Consolidated
Affiliated Entities is a separate legal entity and shall be solely liable
for its own debts and losses.

Despite the foregoing, our business, financial condition and results
of operations would be adversely affected if the Consolidated
Affiliated Entities suffer losses given that (i) our Group conducts
businesses in the PRC through the Consolidated Affiliated Entities
which hold the requisite PRC licenses and approvals, and (ii) the
Consolidated Affiliated Entities’ financial condition and results
of operations are consolidated into our Company’s financial
statements under the applicable accounting principles, therefore,
the provisions in the Contractual Arrangements are tailored so
as to limit, to the greatest extent possible, the potential adverse
effect on Health Road HealthTech and our Company that may be
suffered by any loss from the Consolidated Affiliated Entities.
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Liquidation

Pursuant to the Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreements, upon
winding-up of any Consolidated Affiliated Entity, the Consolidated
Affiliated Entity shall, to the extent permitted by the PRC laws,
procure the persons recommended by Health Road HealthTech to
establish the liquidation committee of the Consolidated Affiliated
Entity to manage the assets of the Consolidated Affiliated Entity.

Pursuant to the Voting Proxy Agreements, Health Road HealthTech
or its designee are entitled to exercise voting rights on behalf
of the shareholder(s) of the Consolidated Affiliated Entity upon
winding-up of such Consolidated Affiliated Entity, respectively.

Pursuant to the Exclusive Purchase Option Agreements, in the
event of liquidation of any Consolidated Affiliated Entity, the
assets and the equity interest obtained by any shareholder of the
Consolidated Affiliated Entity, shall be transferred to Health Road
HealthTech at nil consideration or the lowest price permitted
under the PRC laws.

Insurance

Our Company does not maintain an insurance policy to cover the
risks relating to the Contractual Arrangements.

Further details of the Structured Contracts are disclosed in the
section headed “Contractual Arrangements” in the Prospectus
published on HKEX and the Company’s website.

Material Change

During the Year, there was no material change in the Contractual
Arrangements and/or the circumstances under which they were
adopted, and none of the Contractual Arrangements has been
unwound as none of the restrictions that led to the adoption of
Contractual Arrangements has been removed.

Revenue and Assets in relation to the Contractual
Arrangement

During the Year, revenue attributable to the PRC Operating
Entities (before any inter-company eliminations) was approximately
RMB1,234.51 million. The total asset and net liabilities attributable
to the PRC Operating Entities (before any inter-company
eliminations) as at 31 December 2024 was approximately
RMB920.86 million and RMB102.31 million, respectively.
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The risks associated with the Contractual Arrangements
and actions taken by the Company to mitigate the risks

There are certain risks that are associated with the Contractual

Arrangements, including:

)

Our current corporate structure and business operations
may be affected by the Foreign Investment Law.

substantial uncertainties exist with respect to the
interpretation and implementation of the Foreign Investment
Law in the PRC which may impact the viability of the current
corporate structure, corporate governance and business
operations;

Contractual Arrangements may not be as effective in
providing operational control as direct ownership, and the
Consolidated Affiliated Entities or their respective registered
shareholders may fail to perform their obligations under
Contractual Arrangements;

Consolidated Affiliated Entities or their respective
shareholders may fail to perform their obligations under
Contractual Arrangements with them;

The Group may lose the ability to use and enjoy assets held
by the Consolidated Affiliated Entities that are material to
the business operations of the Croup if the Consolidated
Affiliated Entities declares bankruptcy or becomes subject to
a dissolution or liquidation proceeding;

The equity holders, directors, and executive officers of the
Consolidated Affiliated Entities may have potential conflicts
of interest with the Group.

Certain of the terms of the Contractual Arrangements may
not be enforceable under the PRC laws.

We principally rely on dividends and other distributions on
equity paid by our PRC subsidiaries to fund any cash and
financing requirements we may have. Any limitation on
the ability of our PRC subsidiaries to make payments to the
Company could have a material adverse effect on our ability
to conduct our business or financial condition.
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Contractual Arrangements may be subject to scrutiny by the
PRC tax authorities, and a finding that we owe additional
taxes could substantially reduce our consolidated net income
and the value of your investment.

The ownership or asset transfer may subject us to certain
limitations and substantial costs if we exercise the option
to acquire equity ownership and assets of our Consolidated
Affiliated Entities,

Further details of the risks associated with the Contractual

Arrangements are set out in the section headed “Risk factors —

Risks relating to our Contractual Arrangements” in the prospectus

of the Company.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CONTRACTUAL
ARRANGEMENTS

The Group has adopted the following measures to ensure the

effective operation of our Group with the implementation of

the Contractual Arrangements and our compliance with the

Contractual Arrangements:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

major issues arising from the implementation and
compliance with the Contractual Arrangements or any
regulatory enquiries from government authorities will
be submitted to our Board, if necessary, for review and
discussion on an occurrence basis;

our Board will review the overall performance of and
compliance with the Contractual Arrangements at least
once a year;

our Company will disclose the overall performance and
compliance with the Contractual Arrangements in our
annual reports to be published after the Listing; and

our Company will engage external legal advisors or
other professional advisors, if necessary, to assist the
Board to review the implementation of the Contractual
Arrangements, review the legal compliance of Health Road
HealthTech and our Consolidated Affiliated Entities to deal
with specific issues or matters arising from the Contractual
Arrangements.
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The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the
Contractual Arrangements set out above and have confirmed that
(i) the transactions carried out during the Year have been entered
into in accordance with the relevant provisions of the Contractual
Arrangements and that the profit generated by the PRC Operating
Entities has been substantially retained by the WFOE, (ii) no
dividends or other distributions have been made by the PRC
Operating Entities to the holders of its equity interests which are
not otherwise subsequently assigned or transferred to us, and (iii)
no new contracts have been entered into, renewed or reproduced
between the Group and our PRC Operating Entities during the
Year.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, the independent
non-executive Directors have reviewed the continuing connected
transactions including the Wellness Content Cooperation
Agreements and Contractual Arrangements set out above and
have confirmed that the these agreements were entered into
(i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group,
(ii) on normal commercial terms, and (iii) in accordance with
the respective agreement governing them on terms that are
fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Company and its
Shareholders as a whole.

KPMG, the Company’s external auditor, was engaged to report
on the Group’s continuing connected transactions in accordance
with the Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000
(Revised) Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews
of Historical Financial Information and with reference to Practice
Note 740 (Revised) Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected
Transactions under the Listing Rules issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The Company’s auditor
has issued their unqualified letter containing their findings and
conclusions in respect of the transactions disclosed above by the
Group in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A
copy of the auditor’s letter has been provided to the Company.
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INTERESTS OF THE COMPLIANCE ADVISER

As at 31 December 2024, as notified by the Company’s
compliance adviser, Giraffe Capital Limited (the “Compliance
Adviser"”) except for the compliance adviser agreement entered
into between the Company and the Compliance Adviser dated 30
May 2023, neither the Compliance Adviser nor any of its directors,
employees or close associates (as defined under the Listing Rules)
had any interest in the Group.

REVIEW BY AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2024 have been reviewed by the
Audit Committee. The Audit Committee is of the opinion that the
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2024 comply with applicable reporting standards,
the Listing Rules, and that adequate disclosures have been made.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Save as disclosed in this report, there were no other significant
events of the Group after the reporting period.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the
Company'’s total number of issued shares were held by the public
as at the latest practicable date prior to the date of this annual
report.

AUDITOR

The financial statements have been audited by KPMG who will
retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment at
the forthcoming annual general meeting.
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FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS

This report contains forward looking statements with respect
to the financial conditions, results of operations and business
of the Group. These forward looking statements represent the
Company’s expectations or beliefs concerning future events and
involve known and unknown risks and uncertainty that could
cause actual results, performance or events to differ materially
from those expressed or implied in such statements.

APPRECIATION

The Group’s continued success depends on all its staff's
commitment, dedication and professionalism. The Board
would like to thank every member of staff for their diligence
and dedication and to express its sincere appreciation to our
shareholders, clients and suppliers for their continuous and
valuable support.

On behalf of the Board

Zhang Wanneng
Chairman, chief executive officer and executive Director
28 March 2025
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

KPMG

Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of
HealthyWay Inc.
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
HealthyWay Inc. (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (“the
Group”) set out on pages 158 to 263, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December
2024, the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended and
notes, comprising material accounting policy information and
other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2024 and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards issued by
the International Accounting Standards Board (the “IASB”) and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (“the Code"”) together with any ethical
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated
financial statements in the Cayman Islands, and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these
requirements and the Code. We believe that the audit evidence
we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

BB S

KEY AUDIT MATTER

Key audit matter is the matter that, in our professional judgement,
was of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. This matter was addressed in
the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements

FARFZEE

PREZFRSRMRBEERALE - RASHAIME
REMBHRRERTRAERNER - ZFHCHE
BAEZEEFAMBRRMEABRRETR
2 B THZEREBERER

as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not

provide a separate opinion on this matter.

3R R B 7 S RIS Y A FERR

Revenue recognition for corporate and digital marketing services

A2 BB PSR AT A R B 2(n) P AT B AT

Refer to note 4 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 2(v).

Key audit matter
ARELEE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EERPNAEEZER

The Group mainly generates revenue of corporate and
digital marketing services by providing content services,
digital marketing services and information technology
services. Revenue of corporate and digital marketing services
with amount of RMB951 million was recognised during the
year, representing 79% of the Group's total revenue.
E5EEFZFBRENBIRY - BFLHRG RIS ERKM
PRAGEE £ (P E RIS R B F & SHIRISUN - FAMRNBE
MRis RIS HRBEUARARKIIBEET 16 E5E
I ARTI% °

Revenue was recognised when a performance obligation is
satisfied by transferring a promised service to a customer
(which is when the customer obtains control of that service).
When another party is involved in providing the services to
a customer, the Group assesses the nature of its promise
for each specified service promised to the customer.
Careful assessment of facts and circumstances is required in
determining whether the Group acts as a principal or as an
agent, and the Group considers itself a principal if it obtains
control of the services before they are transferred to the
customers.

BEBEEAHERE TEPMBTRAEE(ANEEFERG
RIS R HIRE) B - AIERMA - ERSZ—H2HERE PR
HIRTS - EEESRBIRME A 25 E RF T il H &
wE - EHE EERERIZEEAIREBAR - F
HEERBERETEERTME - E EEERRBEET
BEFRICRGHEEIE  AIRAFEREA -

Our audit procedures to assess revenue recognition for
corporate and digital marketing services included the
following:
BRI (B R AR K B & PR B B A R B AR AR 7
BREAT :

o assessing the design, implementation and operating
effectiveness of key internal controls over the revenue
recognition process;

o FHAWAMRBIET HEAEEHNR  BERE
1B

o inspecting, on a sample basis, customer contracts
to identify terms and conditions relating to
the acceptance of services and assessing the
appropriateness of the Group’s recognition of revenue
with reference to the requirements of the prevailing
accounting standards;

o  FBERWMESIAREEFAR  UHETEEEXRBER
B R B - WREZRITEHERINERTE &
SERERRANSEEIL

o inspecting contracts, on a sample basis, to identify
terms and conditions relating to the Group’s control
over the services and assessing the appropriateness
for presenting the related revenue on a gross basis
with reference to the requirements of prevailing
accounting standards;

o  FEBRMEAIARESR  LRTEHE BEEEURY
BRGNS & - W2 ERITEERNE
Kett EEEREEEEZIHBRANSIEN
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

KEY AUDIT MATTER (continued)

BB R

FAREZEE )

EERBERHFE HREHWARR

Revenue recognition for corporate and digital marketing services

A2 BIRR B SR AOMT AR B 2(v) P B TR

Refer to note 4 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 2(v).

Key audit matter

BRELSE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EER P MM EREZER

We identified revenue recognition for corporate and digital | e
marketing services as a key audit matter because revenue is
one of the key performance indicators and may be recorded
in an incorrect accounting period or improperly recognised
on gross basis to meet performance expectations, which | e
may have significant impact on the financial statements.
B EERBRBFLHRBORARE SEREZE
B RESKACHERERIERL — LTS EHRA | o
SR ARSIRABEEET I EERASKEERE
Bl ERReHUBHRREKNEATE -

inspecting, on a sample basis, acceptance certificates
issued by customers to assess whether revenue was
recognised in accordance with the Group’s revenue
recognition accounting policies; and

DA e E PR E L RUIE - LR AR
ERE ESEENKAEISTBRER &

inspecting, on a sample basis, acceptance certificates
acknowledged by customers for revenue transactions
recorded before and after the year end date to
determine whether the related revenue had been
recognised in the appropriate financial year.

A e BT Pt F4& B H 2 A R 2 B sa i
AR GERNBRWE - NEEHBRARCREEES
BB EHER ©

INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND AUDITOR’S REPORT THEREON

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information included in the annual
report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required
to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards issued by the IASB
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance and for such internal control as the directors determine
is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging
their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting
process.

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is
made solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group'’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BY AR E

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in @ manner that achieves fair presentation.

Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business units within the
Group as a basis for forming an opinion on the group
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and review of the audit work performed for
purposes of the group audit. We remain solely responsible
for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among

other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and

significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in

internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that

we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding

independence and communicate with them all relationships and

other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our

independence and, where applicable, actions taken to eliminate

threats or safeguards applied.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in
the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Liu Hin Pan.

KPMG

Certified Public Accountants
8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

28 March 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

meBEakEMaEElER

for the year ended 31 December 2024 #ZE2024F 12 A31HLFfE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (A AR#FI/R)

2024

20244
Note RMB’000
Kt ARET T

4 1,200,775
(834,864)

365,911

5 2,050
(203,221)
(54,017)
(96,981)

13,742
6(a) (4,483)
(286)

25 (272,772)

6 (263,799)
7(a) (5,359)

(269,158)

(268,456)
(702)

(269,158)

Revenue PN
Cost of sales SHEKAR
Grossprofit BN
Other net income HEMWAFEE
Selling expenses HERX
Administrative expenses TR
Research and developmentcosts  ~~~~~ Bf&seAx
Profit from operations KERE
Finance cost A& KR
Share of profits less losses of associates &L A R FE R 18
Changes in carrying amount of the EL g ERAEE
redemption liabilities
Loss before taxation BB AT AR
Income tax Frig %t
Loss for the year FREE
Attributable to: BT AL :
Equity shareholders of the Company RATIHERRE
Non-controlling interests R
Loss for the year FAEE
Loss per share BREE 10
Basic and diluted (RMB) ERREEARET)

HealthyWay Inc. i E 2R B ERAF

2023
20234
RMB’000
ARETTT

1,244,458
(846,222)

398,236

3,855
(211,751)
(79,780)
(103,400)

7,160
(3,254)
(72)

(324,779)

(320,945)
7,063

(313,882)

(310,079)

(3,803)

(313,882)

0.44



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

meBmkHMEEKER

for the year ended 31 December 2024 #(%E2024F 12 A31H IEFE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (A AER#FI/R)

2024 2023
20245 2023%F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARETTT
Loss for the year FAEE (269,158) (313,882)
Other comprehensive income FREMEZERKRE
for the year
Item that is or may be reclassified HZEH 7 e EF 5
subsequently to profit or loss: YEEEmAIER
Exchange differences on translation BINE BRI mERRER
of financial statements of overseas fEH =5
entities 1,227
Total comprehensive income FREZHEKRERE
for the year (268,137) (312,655)
Attributable to: AR ALTHEE :
Equity shareholders of the Company ARAR)ERILE (267,435) (308,852)
Non-controlling interests FEFERR (702) (3,803)
Total comprehensive income FRZHEWREE
for the year (268,137) (312,655)

The notes on pages 165 to 263 form part of these financial

statements.

F£165E 263 A MM B AT HIRKM—HED o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e PR R

as at 31 December 2024 A2024512A31H
(Expressed in Renminbi)  (JAARE%I/R)

Note

Kt
Non-current assets FERENEE
Property, plant and equipment M - R MR 11
Intangible assets B EE 12
Goodwill EES 13
Interests in associates REEE QA RS 15
Deferred tax assets RIEFIBEE = 26(b)
Current assets RENEE
Inventories FE 16
Contract assets BHEE 17(a)
Other financial assets Hith SpEE 18
Trade and other receivables B 5 Rk H M FEWEIE 19
Prepayments TETFIE
Restricted deposits PR HIFER 20
Cash and cash equivalents ReRREEEY 21
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade and other payables B 5 R EAME FRIE 22
Contract liabilities ERaE 17(b)
Loans and borrowings BERRERK 23
Lease liabilities HEBE 24
Redemption liabilities fBEAaE 25
Current taxation BNHEARLIE 26(a)
Net current assets/(liabilities) RBEE (BB FHE

HealthyWay Inc. i E 2R B ERAF

2024
20244
RMB’000
ARET T

8,660
81,272
8,605
3,208
20,300

122,045

7,096
111
5,549
144,208
27,450
10,138
260,229

454,781

208,562
58,015
55,502

3,267

15,063

340,409

114,372

2023
20234
RMB’000
ARETTT

9,430
39,268
8,605
3,494
13,941

132,625
23,429
135
168,693

193,885
57,347
88,479

3,211

1,713,253

4,649

2,060,824

(1,721,874)



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e TBIRR R

as at 31 December 2024 72024128318
(Expressed in Renminbi) (A ARKEZITR)

Non-current liabilities
Loans and borrowings
Lease liabilities

2024

20244

Note RMB’000
Kt AR¥T T

23 905
24 3,724

4,629

NET ASSETS/(LIABILITIES)

EEFE(AFERH)

231,788

CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Share capital
Reserves

27(c) 96
27 226,669

Total equity attributable to equity
shareholders of the Company

Non-controlling interests

RAFEERREGES

226,765
5,023

TOTAL EQUITY

231,788

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 28

March 2025.

2023
20234
RMB’000
ARETTT

(1,652,052)

93
(1,657,870)

(1,657,777)
5,725

(1,652,052)

FEEN2025F3 A28 B #HEIN R o

Zhang Wanneng
RERE
Chairman

FE

The notes on pages 165 to 263 form part of these financial

statements.

Chen lJing
PR &
Director

EF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
REERSBR

for the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024F 12 A31H ILF/E
(Expressed in Renminbi)  (JAARE%I/R)

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

RATRRRFEL
Non-
Share Share Other ~ Exchange  Statutory Accumulated controlling Total
capital Premium reserve reserve reserve losses Total interests equity

BE  RGRE  RbfE  ERRE  iERE  RHER @i FERER  EREE
Note RVMBOO0  RMB'0OO  RVB'O00  RMBOOO  RMBO00  RMBOO0  RMB000  RMB'000  RMB'000
Hit  ARETR ARETT ARETR ARETT ARETR ARETR ARETRE ARETR ARET:
Note 27(c) Note 27(d)iv) ~ Note 27(d)i)  Note 27(d)ii) Note 27(dii)
W27 MRG0 BEER7Q)G)  ME27W)  FER27()

Balance at 1 January 2023 R2023F1 A 1R KGR 76 = 564,720 21,555 565 (2,035,855  (1,448,939) 8,149 (1,440,790)

Changes in equity for 2023: 2023 HEHEH

Loss for the year FRER - - - - - (310079 (310,079 (3803)  (313882)
Other comprehensive income Hip2AEkE = = = 1,227 = = 1,227 = 1,227
Total comprehensive income 2ENGLE - - - 1,227 - (310,079) (308,852 (3.803)  (312,655)
Appropriation to statutory reserve  EEZEETHE - - - - 148 (148) = = =
Issuance of new shares BTER 14 - - - = = 14 = 14
Capital injection from equity REEERENTE

shareholders 3 99,997 - - - - 100,000 - 100,000
Capital contribution from REFERERNTE

non-controlling interests - - - - - - - 1,379 1,379

Balance at 31 December 2023 120235128310 K
and 1 January 2024 2024F1 1R 93 99,997 564,720 22,782 713 (2,346,082)  (1,657,777) 5725  (1,652,052)

Changes in equity for 2024: ~ 2024EVEHEEE :
Loss for the year FRER (268,456)  (268,456)
Other comprehensive income Hib2ENE - 1,021

Total comprehensive income 2ENEEE (268,456)  (267,435)

Appropriation to statutory reserve  ERZEETHE (704)
Issuance of ordinary sharesby  ERE R ARBERTE
initial public offering, net of BRI ETRR)

listing expenses 165,949 165,952 165,952
Reclassification of redemption ~ EEREEHNHE
liabilities 1,986,025 1,986,025 1,986,025

mE

Balance at 31 December 2024 R2024%12531R K& 265,946 2,550,745 23,803 (2,615,242) 226,765 231,788

The notes on pages 165 to 263 form part of these financial 516522638 M @A AP EHEN—E5 o
statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

mERTRER

for the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024F 12 A31H LFE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LA ARKEZITR)

2024 2023
20245 20234

Note RMB’'000 RMB'000
Kt AR¥ET T ARETTT

Operating activities BT
Cash generated from operations LEBIRE 21(b) 3,816
Tax paid SRR (225)
Net cash generated from RETHRBREFHE

operating activites ~  EEEEIEN 3,591
Investing activities REZH
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant HE&EME - E MKRES

and equipment A 95
Purchase of wealth management BEEYER

products (17,535) (2,000)
Redemption of wealth management FERIEH Em

products 12,061 2,013
Placement of structured deposits TFALBMER - (30,500)
Redemption of structured deposits BRI &R MR - 30,594
Payment for purchase of property, plant BEE¥% - BE REENR

and equipment (925) (1,193)
Payment for purchase of intangible assets B8 B 2 & E {3 (75,317) (37,874)
Acquisition of subsidiary, net of cash WEEHT B A A (F0BRET1SIEE)

acquired (6,647)
Proceeds from disposal of certain HEMBARE TS

interests in subsidiaries 8 7,541
Advance to related parties [ R 7 BN (1,100)
Repayments from related parties KB B 7 HE K 1,360
Net cash used in investing activities REFBFTARESFEE (37,711)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

n _\éiﬁﬁﬁiﬁ

for the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024F 12 A31HILF/E

(Expressed in Renminbi)  (JAARE%I/R)

Note
Kt

Financing activities B R
Proceeds from bank loans RITERATERUA 21(c)
Repayments of bank loans BEIRITER 21(c)
Capital element of lease rentals paid BRI NG 1 21(c)
Interests paid on bank loans and BRRITER R E M ER

other borrowings 2 21(c)
Interest element of lease rentals paid BEfHEE RS 21(c)
Increase in restricted bank balance PR ISR TAEERIG AN
Capital injections from equity REE=RREATE

shareholders
Capital contribution from SEERERR T E

non-controlling interests
Gross proceeds from initial public BRARBEERFSHIE

offering HazE
Payment of listing expenses XA EmRX
Proceeds from related parties IR B R 5 R FT1S 3RIR 21(c)
Repayments to related parties ) BB H 77 18 5K 21(c)
Advance to a related party Bl VaEE 21(c)
Advances from related parties R B RAEE 5 R B 21(c)
Net cash generated from financing  BEEB ISR SBE
_activites
Net increase in cash and cash RERBSESEWEMFE

equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents REINRERBELEEY

at the beginning of the year 21(a)
Cash and cash equivalents RERNRERESEEY

at the end of the year 21(a)

The notes on pages 165 to 263 form part of these financial

statements.

HealthyWay Inc. @R Z R HBRA A

2024
20244
RMB’000
ARET T

73,455
(106,068)

(3,774)

(4,162)

(321)
(10,000)

180,471
(12,653)
454

116,552

91,536

168,693

260,229

2023
20234
RMB’000
ARETTT

123,830
(84,348)
(4,236)

(2,950)
(304)

100,000

1,380

98,974

69,719

168,693

1652263 A MM B AT B HmARN —7ED



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P HRAR MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) ([ R2A AN - AAREFIR)

GENERAL INFORMATION

HealthyWay Inc. (the “Company”) was incorporated in
the Cayman Islands on 18 November 2014 as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Companies Law,
Cap22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the
Cayman Islands.

Since 30 December 2024 (the “Listing Date”), the
Company’s shares has been listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”).

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(a) Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable International Financial
Reporting Standards, International Accounting
Standards (“1ASs”) and Interpretations (hereinafter
collectively referred to as the (“IFRS Accounting
Standards”) issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (“IASB”) and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. These financial statements also comply
with the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Material accounting
policies adopted by the Company and its subsidiaries
(together, “the Group”) are disclosed below.

The IASB has issued certain amendments to IFRS
Accounting Standards that are first effective or
available for early adoption for the current accounting
period of the Group. Note 2(c) provides information
on any changes in accounting policies resulting
from initial application of these developments to the
extent that they are relevant to the Group for the
current accounting periods reflected in these financial
statements.

—REF

R B AR AR (AT ])R201445F
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(b) Basis of preparation of the financial

statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2024 comprise the Company
and the entities controlled by the Company and the
Group’s interest in associates.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the
financial statements is the historical cost basis except
for other financial assets (see Note 2(g)).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with IFRS Accounting Standards requires management
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the application of policies and reported
amounts of assets and liabilities, income and
expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions
are based on historical experience and various other
factors that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the basis of
making the judgements about carrying values of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and the underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting
estimates are recognised in the period in which the
estimate is revised if the revision affects only that
period, or in the period of the revision and future
periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

Judgements made by management in the application
of IFRS Accounting Standards that have significant
effect on the financial statements and major sources
of estimation uncertainty are discussed in Note 3.

HealthyWay Inc. {2 BB HERAT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(c)

(d)

Changes in accounting policies

The Group has applied the following new and
amended IFRS Accounting Standards issued by the
IAS to these financial statements for the current
accounting period:

° Amendments to IAS 1, Presentation of financial
statements — Classification of liabilities as
current or non-current (“2020 amendments”)
and amendments to IAS 1, Presentation of

financial statements — Non-current liabilities with

covenants (“2022 amendments”)

o Amendments to IFRS 16, Leases — Lease liability
in a sale and leaseback

. Amendments to IAS 7, Statement of cash flows
and IFRS 7, Financial instruments: Disclosures —
Supplier finance arrangements

The new and amended IFRS Accounting Standards
applied for the year has had no material impact on
the Group's consolidated financial statements for the
current and prior periods.

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The
Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with
the entity and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the entity. When assessing
whether the Group has power, only substantive rights
(held by the Group and other parties) are considered.

e I RAR MR

(BrBAEHBIN - UARETR)
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(d) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

(Continued)

An investment in a subsidiary is included into the
financial statements from the date that control
commences until the date that control ceases. Intra-
group balances, transactions and cash flows and any
unrealised profits arising from intra-group transactions
are eliminated in full in preparing the financial
statements. Unrealised losses resulting from intra-
group transactions are eliminated in the same way as
unrealised gains but only to the extent that there is no
evidence of impairment.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a
subsidiary not attributable directly or indirectly to the
Company, and in respect of which the Group has
not agreed any additional terms with the holders of
those interests which would result in the Group as a
whole having a contractual obligation in respect of
those interests that meets the definition of a financial
liability. For each business combination, the Group
can elect to measure any non-controlling interests
either at fair value or at the non-controlling interests’
proportionate share of the subsidiary’s net identifiable
assets.

Non-controlling interests are presented in the
consolidated statement of financial position within
equity, separately from equity attributable to the
equity shareholders of the Company. Non-controlling
interests in the results of the Group are presented on
the face of the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income as an allocation of
the total profit or loss and total comprehensive income
for the year between non-controlling interests and the
equity shareholders of the Company.
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e MBHERME
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(d)

(e)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
(Continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is
accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in
that subsidiary, with a resulting gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained in
that former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is
recognised at fair value and this amount is regarded as
the fair value on initial recognition of a financial asset
or, when appropriate, the cost on initial recognition of
an investment in an associate (see Note 2(e)).

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
an investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less
impairment losses (see Note 2(k)(ii)).

Associates

An associate is an entity in which the Group has
significant influence, but not control or joint control,
over its management, including participation in the
financial and operating policy decisions.

An investment in an associate is accounted for in the
financial statements under the equity method, unless
it is classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal
group that is classified as held for sale). Under the
equity method, the investment is initially recorded
at cost, adjusted for any excess of the Group’s share
of the acquisition-date fair values of the investee’s
identifiable net assets over the cost of the investment
(if any). Thereafter, the investment is adjusted for the
post acquisition change in the Group’s share of the
investee’s net assets and any impairment loss relating
to the investment (see Note 2(k)(ii)).

e I RAR MR

(BB EHBIN - RARKETIR)

2 FESBE®)

(d)

(e)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e T ERAR MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BHIEAIN © AAREFIR)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(f) Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of

(i) the aggregate of the fair value of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any
non- controlling interest in the acquiree and the
fair value of the Group’s previously held equity
interest in the acquiree; over

(i) the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable
assets and liabilities measured as at the
acquisition date

When (ii) is greater than (i), then this excess is
recognised immediately in profit or loss as a gain on a
bargain purchase.

Goodwill is stated at cost less accumulated impairment
losses. Goodwill arising on a business combination
is allocated to each cash-generating unit, or groups
of cash generating units, that is expected to benefit
from the synergies of the combination and is tested
annually for impairment (see Note 2(k)(ii)).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(9)

(h)

Other financial assets

Other financial assets mainly represent wealth
management products and structured deposits
invested by the Group, which are recognised/
derecognised on the date the Group commits to
purchase/sell the investment. The investments are
initially stated at fair value plus directly attributable
transaction costs, except for those investments
measured at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL")
for which transaction costs are recognised directly
in profit or loss. These investments are subsequently
accounted for as follows, depending on their
classification.

- Amortised cost, if the investment is held for

the collection of contractual cash flows which
represent solely payments of principal and
interest. Interest income from the investment is
calculated using the effective interest method
(see Note 2(v)(ii)(b)).

- FVTPL if the investment does not meet the

criteria for being measured at amortised cost or
fair value through other comprehensive income
(“FVOCI") (recycling). Changes in the fair
value of the investment (including interest) are
recognised in profit or loss.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses (see
Note 2(k)(ii)):

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal
of an item of property, plant and equipment are
determined as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the item and are
recognised in profit or loss on the date of retirement
or disposal.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHERME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BR=BHHAIN -

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(h)

0]

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost or
valuation of items of property, plant and equipment,
less their estimated residual value, if any, using the
straight-line method over their estimated useful lives as
follows:

— Electronic and other 3 -5 years
equipment

— Motor vehicles 5-10 years

— Leasehold improvements 3 -5 years

— Buildings leased for Over the unexpired

own use lease terms
Both the useful life of an asset and its residual value, if
any, are reviewed annually.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as
an expense in the period in which it is incurred.
Expenditure on development activities is capitalised if
the product or process is technically and commercially
feasible and the Group has sufficient resources
and the intention to complete development. The
expenditure capitalised mainly includes the purchase
costs of software, data, direct labour and an
appropriate proportion of overheads. Capitalised
development costs are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment losses (see Note 2(k)).
Other development expenditure is recognised as an
expense in the period in which it is incurred.

Other intangible assets that are acquired by the Group
(including datasets acquired for training artificial
intelligence tools) are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation (where the estimated useful life is finite)
and impairment losses (see Note 2(k)(ii)). Expenditure
on internally generated goodwill and brands is
recognised as an expense in the period in which it is
incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

()

()

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)
(Continued)

Amortisation of intangible assets with finite useful lives
is charged to profit or loss. The following intangible
assets with finite useful lives are amortised from the
date they are available for use and their estimated/
contracted useful lives are as follows:
— Software 2-5 years
— Dataset estimated period of training artificial

intelligence tools not exceeding

3 years (see also Note 3(ii))

Both the period and method of amortisation are
reviewed annually.

Leased assets

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses
whether the contract is, or contains, a lease. A
contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys
the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration. Control
is conveyed where the customer has both the right
to direct the use of the identified asset and to obtain
substantially all of the economic benefits from that use.

(i) Asalessee

Where the contract contains lease component(s)
and non-lease component(s), the Group has
elected not to separate non-lease components
and accounts for each lease component and any
associated non-lease components as a single
lease component for all leases.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHERME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(j) Leased assets (Continued)

(i)

As a lessee (Continued)

At the lease commencement date, the Group
recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease
liability, except for short-term leases that have
a lease term of 12 months or less and leases
of low-value assets which, for the Group are
primarily laptops and office furniture. When
the Group enters into a lease in respect of a
low-value asset, the Group decides whether to
capitalise the lease on a lease-by-lease basis.
The lease payments associated with those leases
which are not capitalised are recognised as an
expense on a systematic basis over the lease
term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability
is initially recognised at the present value of
the lease payments payable over the lease
term, discounted using the interest rate implicit
in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily
determined, using a relevant incremental
borrowing rate. After initial recognition, the
lease liability is measured at amortised cost and
interest expense is calculated using the effective
interest method. Variable lease payments that
do not depend on an index or rate are not
included in the measurement of the lease liability
and hence are charged to profit or loss in the
accounting period in which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(j) Leased assets (Continued)

(i)

As a lessee (Continued)

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease
is capitalised is initially measured at cost, which
comprises the initial amount of the lease liability
plus any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, and any initial direct costs
incurred. Where applicable, the cost of the right-
of-use assets also includes an estimate of costs
to dismantle and remove the underlying asset
or to restore the underlying asset or the site on
which it is located, discounted to their present
value, less any lease incentives received. The
right-of-use asset is subsequently stated at cost
less accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses (see Notes 2(h) and 2(k)(ii)).

The lease liability is remeasured when there
is a change in future lease payments arising
from a change in an index or rate, or there is a
change in the Group’s estimate of the amount
expected to be payable under a residual value
guarantee, or there is a change arising from
the reassessment of whether the Group will
be reasonably certain to exercise a purchase,
extension or termination option. When the
lease liability is remeasured in this way, a
corresponding adjustment is made to the
carrying amount of the right-of-use asset, or is
recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount
of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to
zero.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHERME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(j) Leased assets (Continued)

(i)

As a lessee (Continued)

The lease liability is also remeasured when
there is a change in the scope of a lease or the
consideration for a lease that is not originally
provided for in the lease contract (“lease
modification”) that is not accounted for as a
separate lease. In this case the lease liability is
remeasured based on the revised lease payments
and lease term using a revised discount rate at
the effective date of the modification. The only
exceptions are rent concessions that occurred as
a direct consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic
and met the conditions set out in paragraph
46B of IFRS 16 Leases. In such cases, the Group
has taken advantage of the practical expedient
not to assess whether the rent concessions are
lease modifications, and recognised the change
in consideration as negative variable lease
payments in profit or loss in the period in which
the event or condition that triggers the rent
concessions occurred.

The Group presents right-of-use assets in
“Property, plant and equipment” and presents
lease liabilities separately in the consolidated
statement of financial position. The current
portion of long-term lease liabilities is
determined as the present value of contractual
payments that are due to be settled within
twelve months after the reporting period.

HealthyWay Inc. {2 BB HERAT

(AR - UARKETITR)

2

FESTTEHER®)
HESE®)

()

(i)

ERFEBEAE)

EHEEREEASHBESYD
RETEATHHREREHLY
{b([HEBHR]) BRIEAER
WEEARE - AN EHEES
EHEITEHE - EHBRT -
HEBBEREBELCEINHEER
FREEHRR - FRLSETRIR,
RREERERBPEHNE ©
M — &9 51l 5N 2 A COVID-19 % 18
MEEREEMNBESRE BFE
B EHREEAFE1657EE
SEAGBERFTH IR 14 o TELL1E MR
T AEEEFAERERS
x AHEEeEREL ATRE
B2 WARBEHESR RS
AR IR B RN E
BEAAMEREMNK -

AREBR[E - B k& T
2IEREEE - WRNERE I
FAKRFPEBZIHEHERARE - K
HHEREMAHEOREE S
ARG R T @A RFEN
BHRBRE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(j) Leased assets (Continued)

(ii)

As a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines at
lease inception whether each lease is a finance
lease or an operating lease. A lease is classified as
a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the
risks and rewards incidental to the ownership of
an underlying assets to the lessee. If this is not
the case, the lease is classified as an operating
lease.

When a contract contains lease and non-
lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each component
on a relative stand-alone selling price basis.

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, the
sub-leases are classified as a finance lease or as
an operating lease with reference to the right-
of-use asset arising from the head lease. If the
head lease is a short-term lease to which the
Group applies the exemption described in Note
2(k)(i), then the Group classifies the sub-lease as
an operating lease.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHERME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BR=BHHAIN -

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments

The Group recognises a loss allowance for
expected credit losses (“ECLs"”) on the following
items:

- financial assets measured at amortised
cost (including cash and cash equivalents,
restricted cash, trade receivables and other
receivables); and

- contract assets as defined in IFRS 15.

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of
credit losses. Credit losses are measured as the
present value of all expected cash shortfalls
(i.e. the difference between the cash flows due
to the Group in accordance with the contract
and the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive).

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted using
the following discount rates where the effect of
discounting is material:

- Fixed-rate financial assets and trade and
other receivables: effective interest rate
determined at initial recognition or an
approximation thereof; and

- Variable-rate financial assets: current
effective interest rate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments
(Continued)

Measurement of ECLs (Continued)

The maximum period considered when
estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual
period over which the Group is exposed to credit
risk.

In measuring ECLs, the Group takes into account
reasonable and supportable information that
is available without undue cost or effort. This
includes information about past events, current
conditions and forecasts of future economic
conditions.

ECLs are measured on either of the following
bases:

- 12-month ECLs: these are losses that
are expected to result from possible
default events within 12 months after the
reporting date; and

- Lifetime ECLs: these are losses that are
expected to result from all possible default
events over the expected lives of the items
to which the ECL model applies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHERME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments
(Continued)

Measurement of ECLs (Continued)

Loss allowances for trade receivables and
contract assets are always measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs. ECLs on these
financial assets are estimated using a provision
matrix based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific
to the debtors and an assessment of both
the current and forecasted general economic
conditions at the reporting date.

For all other financial instruments, the Group
recognises a loss allowance equal to 12-month
ECLs unless there has been a significant
increase in the financial instrument’s credit risk
since initial recognition, in which case the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs.

Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of a financial
instrument has increased significantly since
initial recognition, the Group compares the risk
of default occurring on the financial instrument
assessed at the reporting date with that assessed
at the date of initial recognition. In making this
reassessment, the Group considers that a default
event occurs when (i) the borrower is unlikely
to pay its credit obligations to the Group in full,
without recourse by the Group to actions such
as realising security (if any is held); or (ii) the
financial asset is 30 days past due. The Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward-
looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments
(Continued)

Significant increases in credit risk (Continued)

In particular, the following information is taken
into account when assessing whether credit
risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition:

- Failure to make payments of principal or
interest on their contractually due dates;

- An actual or expected significant
deterioration in a financial instrument’s
external or internal credit rating (if
available);

- An actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results of
the debtor; and

- Existing or forecast changes in the
technological, market, economic or
legal environment that have a significant
adverse effect on the debtor’s ability to
meet its obligation to the Group.

Depending on the nature of the financial
instruments, the assessment of a significant
increase in credit risk is performed on either an
individual basis or a collective basis. When the
assessment is performed on a collective basis,
the financial instruments are grouped based on
shared credit risk characteristics, such as past
due status and credit risk ratings.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHERME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments
(Continued)

Significant increases in credit risk (Continued)

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to
reflect changes in the financial instruments credit
risk since initial recognition. Any change in the
ECL amount is recognised as an impairment gain
or loss in profit or loss. The Group recognises
an impairment gain or loss for all financial
instruments with a corresponding adjustment to
their carrying amount through a loss allowance
account.

At each reporting date, the Group assesses
whether a financial asset is credit-impaired. A
financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on
the estimated future cash flows of the financial
asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes the following observable events:

- Significant financial difficulties of the
debtor;

- A breach of contract, such as a default
or delinquency in interest or principal
payments;

- It becoming probable that the borrower
will enter into bankruptcy or other
financial reorganisation;

- Significant changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment
that have an adverse effect on the debtor;
or
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Credit losses from financial instruments
(Continued)

Significant increases in credit risk (Continued)

- The disappearance of an active market for
a security because of financial difficulties
of the issuer.

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset
is written off (either partially or in full) to the
extent that there is no realistic prospect of
recovery. This is generally the case when the
Group determines that the debtor does not have
assets or sources of income that could generate
sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts
subject to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was
previously written off are recognised as a
reversal of impairment in profit or loss in the
period in which the recovery occurs.

Impairment of other assets

Internal and external sources of information are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period to
identify indications that the following assets may
be impaired or, except in the case of goodwill,
an impairment loss previously recognised no
longer exists or may have decreased:

- property, plant and equipment, including
right-of-use assets;

- intangible assets (other than goodwill);

- goodwill;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e T ERAR MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BHIEAIN © AAREFIR)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(ii) Impairment of other assets (Continued)

- investments in associates; and

- investment in a subsidiary in the
Company’s statement of financial position.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated. In addition, for
goodwill, the recoverable amount is estimated
annually whether or not there is any indication
of impairment.

- Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is
the greater of its fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the
asset. Where an asset does not generate
cash inflows largely independent of those
from other assets, the recoverable amount
is determined for the smallest group
of assets that generates cash inflows
independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(ii) Impairment of other assets (Continued)

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit
or loss if the carrying amount of an asset,
or the cash-generating unit to which it
belongs, exceeds its recoverable amount.
Impairment losses recognised in respect
of cash-generating units are allocated
first to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill allocated to the cash-generating
unit (or group of units) and then, to
reduce the carrying amount of the other
assets in the unit (or group of units) on
a pro rata basis, except that the carrying
value of an asset will not be reduced
below its individual fair value less costs of
disposal (if measurable) or value in use (if
determinable).

Reversals of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than goodwill,
an impairment loss is reversed if there has
been a favourable change in the estimates
used to determine the recoverable
amount. An impairment loss in respect of
goodwill is not reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited
to the asset’s carrying amount that would
have been determined had no impairment
loss been recognised in prior periods.
Reversals of impairment losses are credited
to profit or loss in the period in which the
reversals are recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHERME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

)

(m)

Inventories

Inventories are assets which are held for sale in
the ordinary course of business, in the process of
production for such sale or in the form of materials or
supplies to be consumed in the production process or
in the rendering of services.

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net
realisable value.

Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost
formula and comprises all costs of purchase, costs of
conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the
inventories to their present location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make
the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of
those inventories is recognised as an expense in the
period in which the related revenue is recognised.
The amount of any write- down of inventories to
net realisable value and all losses of inventories are
recognised as an expense in the period the write-down
or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any
write-down of inventories is recognised as a reduction
in the amount of inventories recognised as an expense
in the period in which the reversal occurs.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when the customer
pays non-refundable consideration before the
Group recognises the related revenue. A contract
liability would also be recognised if the Group has
an unconditional right to receive non-refundable
consideration before the Group recognises the related
revenue. In such cases, a corresponding receivable
would also be recognised (see Note 2(n)).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(n)

(o)

(p)

(a)

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration. A right
to receive consideration is unconditional if only the
passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the
effective interest method less allowance for credit
losses (see Note 2(k)(i)).

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank
and on hand, demand deposits with banks and
other financial institutions, and short-term, highly
liquid investments that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, having been
within three months of maturity at acquisition. Cash
and cash equivalents are assessed for expected credit
losses (ECL) in accordance with the policy set out in
Note 2(k)(i).

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair
value and are subsequently stated at amortised cost
unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial,
in which case they are stated at cost.

Redemption liability

The Group’s obligation to redeem its shares for cash
upon the occurrence of events that are beyond the
control of both the Group and the holders give rise
to a financial liability. The financial liability is initially
measured at the present value of the redemption
amount and subsequently measured at amortised cost.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHERME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(r)

(s)

(®

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are measured initially at
fair value less transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits and contributions to
defined contribution retirement plans.

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave,
contributions to defined contribution retirement plans
and the cost of non-monetary benefits are accrued
in the period in which the associated services are
rendered by employees. Where payment or settlement
is deferred and the effect would be material, these
amounts are stated at their present values.

Contributions to the PRC local retirement schemes
pursuant to the relevant labour rules and regulations
in the PRC are recognised as an expense in profit or
loss as incurred.

Income tax

Income tax expense comprises current tax and
deferred tax. It is recognised in profit or loss except to
the extent that it relates to a business combination,
or items recognised directly in equity or in other
comprehensive income.

Current tax comprises the estimated tax payable or
receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year
and any adjustments to the tax payable or receivable
in respect of previous years. The amount of current tax
payable or receivable is the best estimate of the tax
amount expected to be paid or received that reflects
any uncertainty related to income taxes It is measured
using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at
the reporting date. Current tax also includes any tax
arising from dividends.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e I RAR MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) ([ 2A A - AAREFIR)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(®

Income tax (Continued)

Current tax assets and liabilities are offset only if
certain criteria are met.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the
amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is
not recognised for:

- temporary differences on the initial recognition
of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not
a business combination and that affects neither
accounting nor taxable profit or loss and does
not give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences;

- temporary differences related to investment
in subsidiaries, associates and joint venture to
the extent that the group is able to control
the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that they will not
reverse in the foreseeable future;

- taxable temporary differences arising on the
initial recognition of goodwill; and

- those related to the income taxes arising from
tax laws enacted or substantively enacted to
implement the Pillar Two model rules published
by the Organisation for Economic Co-operation
and Development.

The Group recognised deferred tax assets and deferred
tax liabilities separately in relation to its lease liabilities
and right-of-use assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHERME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BR=BHHAIN -

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(®

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax
losses, unused tax credits and deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that future
taxable profits will be available against which they
can be used. Future taxable profits are determined
based on the reversal of relevant taxable temporary
differences. If the amount of taxable temporary
differences is insufficient to recognise a deferred tax
asset in full, then future taxable profits, adjusted
for reversals of existing temporary differences, are
considered, based on the business plans for individual
subsidiaries in the group. Deferred tax assets are
reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced
to the extent that it is no longer probable that the
related tax benefit will be realised; such reductions are
reversed when the probability of future taxable profits
improves.

The measurement of deferred tax reflects the tax
consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the reporting date, to
recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only if
certain criteria are met.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(u)

(v)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group or the
Company has a legal or constructive obligation arising
as a result of a past event, it is probable that an
outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle
the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made.
Where the time value of money is material, provisions
are stated at the present value of the expenditure
expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow
of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations,
whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless
the probability of outflow of economic benefits is
remote.

Revenue and other income recognition

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when
it arises from the sale of goods, and the provision of
services in the ordinary course of the Group’s business.

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other
income recognition policies are as follows:

(i) Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue is recognised when control over a
product or service is transferred to the customer,
at the amount of promised consideration to
which the Group is expected to be entitled,
excluding those amounts collected on behalf of
third parties such as value added tax.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHERME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(v) Revenue and other income recognition
(Continued)

(i)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

When another party is involved in providing
goods or services to a customer, the Group
assesses the nature of its promise for each
specified good or service promised to the
customer. The specified good or service may be
a physical product that is sourced externally or
a right to the underlying service that is provided
by a third party. In determining whether the
Group acts as a principal or as an agent, it
considers whether it obtains control of the
goods or services before they are transferred
to the customers. Control refers to the
Group's ability to direct the use of and obtain
substantially all of the remaining benefits from
the goods or services. The Group recognises the
corresponding revenue on a gross basis when it
acts a principal and on a net basis when it acts
an agent.

For physical products, the Group considers itself
a principal when it has physical possession or
the right to direct the use of the products and
substantive risk and rewards associated with the
ownership before the products are delivered to
the customers.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(v) Revenue and other income recognition
(Continued)

(i)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

For services rendered, the Group considers itself
a principal when it controls the right to the
specified service to be performed by another
party before the Group directs that party to
provide the service to the customer on its behalf.
Relevant indicators considered by the Group
include: taking the primary responsibility for
fulfilling the promise to provide the specified
service, being exposed to the customer
complaints about service quality issues, having
its own discretion to appoint service providers
and being able to establish service fees with
customers and the procurement cost charged by
suppliers separately.

(a) Health and medical services and
health care related products

The Group provides medical support
services and healthcare related products to
customers. It usually offers to customers
health membership schemes containing
entitlements to multiple services (the
schemes), and healthcare service packages
of the schemes bundled with physical
products (the packages), where applicable.

The customer’s entitlements to services
included in the schemes usually have a
fixed valid usage period. During the valid
period, the customer has unlimited access
to some services and specified quantities
of access to other services.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHERME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BR=BHHAIN -

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(v) Revenue and other income recognition
(Continued)

(i) Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

(a)

Health and medical services and health
care related products (Continued)

Each of the (series of) services and
products within the schemes/packages is a
separate performance obligation as it has
a stand-alone benefit to the customer and
not highly interrelated or interdependent
with each other. The transaction price is
allocated based on their relative stand-
alone selling prices. Generally, the Group
establishes stand-alone selling prices
with reference to the observable prices
of products or services sold separately
in comparable circumstances to similar
customers.

For the sale of service entitlements
in schemes and packages, the Group
collects up- front payments that are non-
refundable upon receipt or become non-
refundable at the expiry of a refund
period. The amount received is recognised
as a contract liability when the customers
no longer have the right to cancel the
purchases. The customers have one to
twelve months to activate the service
entitlements in various schemes and
packages, followed by a valid usage period
commencing from the activation date.
The customers’ outstanding entitlements
would expire if the schemes are not
activated or utilised within the respective
period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(v) Revenue and other income recognition
(Continued)

(i) Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

(a)

Health and medical services and health
care related products (Continued)

During the valid usage period, each time
when the customer utilises one entitlement
to access the service of a specified quantity
in the schemes, the Group recognises
the corresponding revenue as the service
is rendered to the customer. The Group
recognises the revenue associated with
the customers’ entitlements to unlimited
services in the schemes on a straight-line
basis over the valid usage period.

Due to the current lack of adequate
historical experience over the wide range
of service packaged in the schemes
offerings to form a reasonable basis for
estimating the amount of customers’
unexercised rights (breakage), the Group
does not recognise any breakage revenue
until the likelihood of customers exercising
their rights becomes remote (i.e. upon
contract expiry or being after the Healthy
Way mobile application accounts are
identified as an inactive status for thirty-six
consecutive months).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHERME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BR=BHHAIN -

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(v) Revenue and other income recognition
(Continued)

(i) Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

(a)

Health and medical services and health
care related products (Continued)

For the health care related products
sold separately or in the packages, the
Group collects the consideration when
receiving the customer order and revenue
is recognised when the customer takes
possession of and accepts the products.
The Group typically offers customers a
right of return for a period of seven days
upon customer acceptance, and records
the product sales revenue based on the
estimated variable consideration after
constraint, which is updated at the end of
each reporting period.

In limited cases, the Group acts as an
agent to arrange the underlying service to
be rendered by a third-party provider that
is specified by the customers. The Group
recognises the commission revenue upon
completion of the arrangement.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRERME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(v) Revenue and other income recognition
(Continued)

(i) Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

(b) Corporate and digital marketing
services

The Group mainly generates revenue of
corporate and digital marketing services
by providing content services, digital
marketing services, and information
technology services.

Content services primarily consists of three
categories as follows:

o The Group provides web-article-
based advertising services with
precision marketing content ordered
by pharmaceutical companies.
Service fee is generally charged at a
fixed unit price for each eligible web
article on display which has attracted
a required minimum number of
user browses or clicks during the
period specified by the customer,
and revenue is recognised when the
customer’s specification is met.

o The Group provides general
wellness content ordered by internet
companies. Service fee is primarily
charged on a CPM (cost per mille-
impression) basis to the customer
and revenue is recognised when the
relevant impressions are delivered.

2

(BB EHBIN - RARKETIR)

FESTTEHER®)
(v) WAREAKRA TSR (&)

(i)

REEFEHNHRA(E)

(b)

ERIRFHREFE R

AEEF2EBEEAR
R~ BB HRERE
BT AR 75 EE A 1 5 AR S
KRBT EHRIBHN o

NERBEEBENUT=

A

s AFEERHBHELHE
AR EES
o

BHAR - RBE—
BRARTHEREE
RBBXEREEE
BUER - EREFPE
ERHRARS TR
R &K P2 2 s
RBRE O WRED
P E KRR U
A °

o AKERHEBMER
AR B —RBE
NE - RBEETE
BCPM (B T RER

) EEREF W
B - M AR AR R

TNERX SRR o

Annual Report 20245 &3

1oy



198

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e T ERAR MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BR=BHHAIN -

IAARETITR)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2

(v) Revenue and other income recognition

(Continued)

(i) Revenue from contracts with customers

(Continued)

(b) Corporate and digital marketing

services (Continued)

o The Group provides real-world

study (RWS) support services to

pharmaceutical companies regarding

clinical case studies for drug

development and drug effectiveness

and safety studies. A common

RWS project contains a number of

surveys that are usually conducted

and completed on a monthly basis.

Service fee is generally charged

at a fixed price for each survey in

the RWS project and revenue is

recognised when the related survey

and study results are delivered to

and accepted by the customer.

Digital marketing services mainly includes

content display and sponsored story

delivered on the Group’s various media

channels and other third-party advertising
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space sourced by the Group. Service fee
is generally charged at a fixed unit price
on the number of specific actions (such
as clicks or effective activations) taken by
the users, or on a pro-rata basis over the
display period agreed with the customer.
Revenue is recognised when the specific
user actions occur or as the display
continues.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(v) Revenue and other income recognition
(Continued)

(i) Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

(b) Corporate and digital marketing
services (Continued)

Information technology services primarily
consist of two categories as follows:

o The Group develops and transfers
digital infrastructure systems, such
as online applications and onsite
software (which is occasionally
bundled with supplies of hardware
equipment), to medical institutions,
local health authorities and other
corporates. The Group generally
identifies the system development,
hardware equipment and/or post-
sales maintenance (if any) as
separate performance obligations
in the contract with customer and
allocates the fixed transaction
price based on their relative stand-
alone selling prices. Revenue for the
system development and hardware
equipment is recognised when the
related deliverables are transferred
to and accepted by the customer.
Revenue for post-sales maintenance is
recognised as the services is provided
during the contractual period.

o The Group provides data analytical
services to customers regarding
the market insights and customer
behaviour portraits in the healthcare
sector. The Group usually charges
a fixed amount for the consulting
project and recognises revenue when
the result is reported to the customer.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e T ERAR MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BR=BHHAIN -

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(v) Revenue and other income recognition
(Continued)

(ii) Revenue from other sources and other
income

(a) Dividends

Dividend income from unlisted investments
is recognised when the equity shareholder’s
right to receive payment is established.

(b) Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues
under the effective interest method. For
financial assets measured at amortised cost
that are not credit-impaired, the effective
interest rate is applied to the gross carrying
amount of the asset. For credit-impaired
financial assets, the effective interest rate
is applied to the amortised cost (i.e. gross
carrying amount net of loss allowance) of
the asset (see Note 2(k)(i)).

(c) Government grants

IAARETITR)

2

Government grants are recognised in the

statement of financial position initially

when there is reasonable assurance that

they will be received and that the Group

will comply with the conditions attaching

to them. Grants that compensate
the Group for expenses incurred are
recognised as income in profit or loss on
a systematic basis in the same periods in
which the expenses are incurred. Grants
that compensate the Group for the cost of
an asset are recognised initially as deferred
income and amortised to profit or loss on
a straight-line basis over the useful life of
the asset by way of recognition in other
revenue.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e I RAR MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) ([ 2A A - AAREFIR)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(w) Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the period are
translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at
the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated
at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of
the reporting period. Exchange gains and losses are
recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at
the transaction dates. The transaction date is the date
on which the Company initially recognises such non-
monetary assets or liabilities. Non-monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are
stated at fair value are translated using the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the dates the fair value was
measured.

The results of foreign operations are translated into
RMB at the exchange rates approximating the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the dates of the transactions.
Statement of financial position items are translated
into RMB at the closing foreign exchange rates at the
end of the reporting period. The resulting exchange
differences are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated separately in equity in the
exchange reserve.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative
amount of the exchange differences relating to that
foreign operation is reclassified from equity to profit or
loss when the profit or loss on disposal is recognised.

FESTTEHER®)
(w) M

HIRETMINER IR HE AMER
BE - NS ENEREERAED
BHRERROEXRRE - EXBENE

TR

AL AT ERINESFEEER A
BIRRZANERBE - 5B /A
RAEREREHIEREERABLZ
B - LAREESIRMNINEFFEREE
KB EDAEAREERBHERGR

H o
A

SNBI RIS RAETIE R 5 B B A FE &
BESARE - MBINKRIAR AIRH
SHRMEMEXRBESARE - At
ELESEZBEREMEE KT RER
W EIR R 25 Eas T RO L6 -

R ESNR TR - EZINEEE AR
B R EHRE 5 2= RR A PORERR 5 BB R -
HEREN D BERE

Annual Report 20245 &3

201



202

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHERME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

2

(BR=BHHAIN -

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(x) Related parties

(a)

A person, or a close member of that person’s

family, is related to the Group if that person:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group;
or

is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or the Group’s
parent.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the

following conditions applies:

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

The entity and the Group are members of
the same group (which means that each
parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is
related to the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which
the other entity is a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same
third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third
entity and the other entity is an associate
of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of employees of either
the Group or an entity related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled
by a person identified in (a).

HealthyWay Inc. {2 BB HERAT

IAARETITR)

2

FESHBE®)

(x) BAEER
(@ RATHEMBREKE [ER
SEBRE - WZAL

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

A NI R

BEEARKEZE S
(] 22 7

BAEBEAEKRE
%

87

REAEBERAEEET R A
WEEERASR °

ARER

A EAE EE R

0

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

ZEBMASERR—
KB QA (EFR
IRV EN )
NRBULEA B o

L
=

|
RB
el [}
@ﬁ] G
|
)
S

N
/1

i
30
|
m

& B

mf I

!

& X
0 Hi
» m N
o &
TR
o> 5 9w

ST TS
B m
ol

B

Z A
> =
il

i

b3

aF

i

=l

e

I

FJIF
ot
pi |

Ly

W o =
[l B> of

ot HE BB

\;
s

i

¥ op
Z 0 |

i}

e
TN

o o F H

e A M

o

AR T
,% t 7N & B R it
BRI R B AT & -

i)
‘n'ﬂa

ZN S
T

,I]]]I] o

o XY

w
m}
DIQ
><l\

2 (a) P st B RO A £
J‘JZ LREZH

o
g
E-H:

I



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(x)

(y)

Related parties (Continued)

(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies: (Continued)

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member
of the key management personnel of the
entity (or of a parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group
of which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to the
Group or to the Group's parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence,
or be influenced by, that person in their dealings with
the entity.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each
segment item reported in the financial statements,
are identified from the financial information provided
regularly to the Group’s most senior executive
management for the purposes of allocating resources
to, and assessing the performance of, the Group’s
various service lines.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and
are similar in respect of the nature of products and
services, the nature of production processes, the type
or class of customers, the methods used to distribute
the products or provide the services, and the nature
of the regulatory environment. Operating segments
which are not individually material may be aggregated
if they share a majority of these criteria.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHERME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BHIEAIN © AAREFIR)

2

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(y) Segment reporting (Continued)

No geographical segment analysis is shown as all of
the Group’s revenue are derived from activities in, and
from customers located in the PRC and almost all of
carrying values of the Group’s assets are situated in
the PRC.

ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are
based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty in the preparation of
the financial statements are as follows:

(i) Expected credit loss for trade and other
receivables

The Group estimates impairment losses for trade
and other receivables by using expected credit loss
models. Expected credit loss are estimated based on
the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for factors that are specific to the debtors and an
assessment of both the current and forecast general
economic conditions at the reporting date.

Where the expectation is different from the original
estimate, such difference will impact the carrying
amount of trade and other receivables and loss
allowance in the periods in which such estimate has
been changed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

3 ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (Continued)

(i)

(iii)

Amortisation of intangible assets

As disclosed in Note 2(i), datasets acquired for training
artificial intelligence tools have been amortised over
their estimated useful lives, which is the period such
datasets are expected to be used for such training
ending with the expected completion of development
of the artificial intelligence tools. In determining
the estimated useful lives, the management has
considered the nature and the intended use of the
datasets, and the expected development time for the
artificial intelligence tools.

Recognition of deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets in respect of tax losses carried
forward and deductible temporary differences are
recognised and measured based on the expected
manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying
amount of the relevant assets and liabilities, using
tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the end
of each reporting date. In determining the carrying
amounts of deferred tax assets, expected taxable
profits are estimated which involves a number of
assumptions relating to the operating environment of
the Group and require a significant level of judgement
exercised by the directors. Any change in such
assumptions and judgement would affect the carrying
amounts of deferred tax assets to be recognised and
hence the net profit in future periods.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (Fx 2A SN » UAREETIR)

4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING

(a) Revenue

The principal activities of the Group are providing

corporate and digital marketing services and health

and medical services.

(i) Disaggregation of revenue

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with

customers by products at major service line and

the timing of revenue recognition is as follows:

Revenue from contracts with
customers within
the scope of IFRS 15
Revenue recognised at a point

BB BT IS SR 25 2RI SE 1555
HEANEFAHIKRA

RE-BBMEZHERA

4 WARDHBRE
(@) WA

ZN QLIS E PV ristae 0958 24
FE IR K (R B B AR

(i)

in time

— corporate and digital marketing ~ — >R KR BT 2 8
services A%

— health and medical services — 2R B RS

— others —Hfth

Revenue recognised over time  BERFREREFZAIUA

— corporate and digital marketing ~ — (>R KM B 2 8
services PR 7%

— health and medical services — 2R B B RS

Total st
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2024
20244
RMB’000
AR¥ET T

881,247
213,800
240

1,095,287

69,619
35,869

105,488

1,200,775

2023
20234
RMB’000
ARET T

819,567
267,589
1,208

1,088,364

126,231
29,863

156,094
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e I RAR MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (& 2A AN » UAREFIR)

4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING

(Continued)

(a) Revenue (Continued)

(i)

Disaggregation of revenue (Continued)

The Group’s customer base is diversified and
revenue from a major customer which accounts
for 10% or more of the Group's revenue is set

4 WARDEHRE )

(@) WA

(i)

out below:
Customer A EPA
* Less than 10% of the Group’s revenue.

Revenues from the major customer above is
mainly included in provision of corporate and
digital marketing services.

Details of concentrations of credit risk arising
from this customer are set out in Note 28(a).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (Fx 2A SN » UAREETIR)

4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING

(Continued)

(a) Revenue (Continued)

4 WARDEHHRE )

(a) WA

RAETFPIYEHNREENK

(i) Revenue expected to be recognised in (i) FTEHAARRGHER NS HHIE
the future arising from contracts with
customers in existence at the reporting A e
date.

The following table includes revenue expected
to be recognised in the future related to
performance obligations that are unsatisfied (or

partially unsatisfied) at 31 December 2024 and A e

2023.

Within 1 year

1 year to 2 years
2 years to 3 years
More than 3 years

2024

20244

RMB’000

AR¥T T

1R 52,555
1226 2,690
2E3F 1,164
3FEME 3,694

60,103
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING
(Continued)

(b) Segment reporting

The Group manages its businesses by service lines. In a
manner consistent with the way in which information
is reported internally to the Group’s most senior
executive management for the purposes of resource
allocation and performance assessment, the Group
has presented three separate segments as follows:

- Provision of corporate and digital marketing
services (“Corporate and digital marketing
services”) which mainly consists of content
services, information technology services and
digital marketing services;

- Provision of health and medical services (“Health
and medical services”) which mainly consists
of (i) medical support services; and (ii) value-
based medical services; and

- Others.

For the purposes of assessing segment performance
and allocating resources between segments, the
Group’s senior executive management monitors the
results based on the revenue and gross profit of each
segment.

No geographical segment analysis is presented as
substantially all assets, liabilities, revenue and gross
profit of the Group are attributable to the operations
in the PRC.

e I RAR MR

(BB EHBIN - RARKETIR)

4 WARDHFEE

(b)

2EBEWE

REERRBHEBTIRELER - NEBIR
HAAEESKSTREIRERNZEHRA
DEBREFERANER —HOT
A 2T =EBL D

- RHEEERBEBEFLEHRS
([EXRBERBFEHRRE]) -
ETZRRARTRE - FEEEMR
B R FE IR

- RHEBREEERB(IREBR
R E2EFEODEEFR
% R(NBEBERSE : &

- Hf-

RTFHEDHRERDES HBEER

AEENBRTHERBIRES 5 H0
AR E ISR 24 -

N ARBEABAAE - B - WA
REFS BN 2T - Bl 1
S TR B EHH -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e T AR M

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (Fx 2A SN » UAREETIR)

4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 4 WARDEHHRE )

(Continued)
(b) Segment reporting (Continued) (b) ZEHEE)
() Reportable segment revenue and gross (i) TEHDIBLWAREF
profit
Corporate
and digital Health and
marketing medical
services services Others Total
ERER
BFEHERYE REEERK Hit #st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARET T AREFT ARET T

Year ended 31 December & Z20245127

2024 JMBLEFE
Revenue WA 950,866 249,669 1,200,775
Cost of sales HEMAR (654,999) (179,810) (834,864)
Reportable segment gross AT 2 A HBEF

profit 295,867 69,859 365,911
Year ended 31 December & Z2023%124

2023 JMBLEEE
Revenue WA 945,798 297,452 1,208 1,244,458
Cost of sales HEMAR (676,639) (169,322) (261) (846,222)
Reportable segment gross AT 2® A HBEF

profit 269,159 128,130 947 398,236

Substantially all of the Group’s revenue were REBBALS WA FEE R
Wih - ERAEESRITHEE
BUEERE@AERTEF 28
DEHRE - AEEWESRE
RFRIEERME - BERRE

management does not use the information to Y <P X

arising from Chinese Mainland. The Group does
not allocate any specific assets or expenditure for
property, plant and equipment to the operating
segments as the Group’s senior executive

measure the performance of the reportable
segments.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRERME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) ([& 578 & BAS -

4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 4 WARDEHRE )

(Continued)

(b) Segment reporting (Continued)

(ii)

(b) ZEE|E(E)

AARETIR)

Reconciliations of reportable segment (i) F2MoEBERNEIR

profit or loss

Reportable segment gross profit

Other net income

Selling expenses

Administrative expenses

Research and development costs

Finance costs

Share of profits less losses of
associates

Changes in carrying amount of
the redemption liabilities

Consolidated loss before taxation

2024
20245
RMB’000
AR%T T
A 2HHFEF 365,911
H A58 2,050
HERX (203,221)
THRFALZ (54,017)
2SR AR (96,981)
BB AR (4,483)
FE(R B &N B F R A 18
(286)
B a8 ERAESD
(272,772)
MR RIAR S E1E (263,799)

2023
20234
RMB’000
ARETTT

398,236
3,855
(211,751)
(79,780)
(103,400)
(3,254)

(72)

(324,779)

(320,945)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (Fx 2A SN » UAREETIR)
5 OTHER NET INCOME 5 HtWAFEEE
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREFIT
Government grants (Note (}) BRI Bh (M aE3)) 1,772 4,043
Net foreign exchange loss E R EEF5 (928) (1,248)
Interest income F B A 1,118 633
Net gain on sale of property, plant and HEWZ - HE RERERE
equipment R 10 361
Others Hih 78 16
3,855
Note: Bt -

(i) The government grants received by the Group for the years
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 were government
subsidies for research and development activities, staff
retention and weighted deduction of VAT.

6 LOSS BEFORE TAXATION

Loss before taxation is arrived at after charging:

(a) Finance costs

Interest on bank loans (Note 21)
Interest on lease liabilities

RITEFRHMB (HfeE21)
HERBEHNE

()  AZE2024% 20235128318 IEEE - &
EEWBINBT/HB AR - BEET
NIEER AN BR OB RS o

6 ERBiIAIEIR
BRI TR R -

(a) WMEHRA
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREFIT
4,162 2,950
321 304
4,483 3,254

HealthyWay Inc. i E 2R B ERAF



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRERME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) ([& 578 & BAS -

6 LOSS BEFORE TAXATION (Continued) 6 BR¥AIBE®
(b) Staff costs (b) BIEA

2024

20245

RMB’000

ARET T

Salaries, wages and other benefits e s TERHMET 61,884
Contributions to defined contribution AERFERIKRFIEIHFR

(c)

retirement plan 2,678

64,562

Employees of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries are AREBERF KB A RE
FHERAEE R EEN MRS -
&R B A BB B A B Ty iR 75 T BURE
RENEESH ©E TAD LA SIH

required to participate in a defined contribution
scheme administered and operated by the local
municipal governments. The Group’s PRC subsidiaries

AARETIR)

2023
20234
RMB’000
ARET T
62,018

2,109

64,127

SAZ A

contribute funds which are calculated on certain K B BIRIRER o

percentages of the employee salary as agreed by the
local municipal government to the scheme to fund the
retirement benefits of the employees.

The Group has no other material obligation for the Br Eatftsron - REESmEMEZE
Bff -

payment of retirement benefits associated with these
schemes beyond the contributions described above.

Other items (c) HfER
2024
20245
RMB’'000
AR¥T T
Depreciation charge (Note 11) wEBRAME)
— owned property, plant and equipment  —BEAYE - BE K RE 901
— right-of-use assets —EREEE 4,059
Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 12) #EfiZ & E# 35 (Hf7F12) 33,313
Auditors’ remuneration ZHEE S 2,500
Listing expenses X 19,150
Recognition of impairment losses on HERE 5 K E M FE IR
trade and other receivables and REHEERRERERE

contract assets

AR ERBNNRNERN

2023
20234
RMB’000
AREFIT

624
4,004
14,914
49
28,514

89
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (Bk 5B &iEASN -

IAARETITR)

7 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 7 HZEBRRRHMES
STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS
(a) Taxation in the consolidated statements of (a) HZEBHERWHELR
profit or loss represents:
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETFIT
Current tax BNER%1E
Provision for theyear  FWEE BESERRRAEE 3,883
Deferred tax IEFER I
Origination and reversal of temporary RN E S RED
i (6:359) (10,946)
(7,063)

(b) Reconciliation between tax expense/(credit)

and accounting loss at applicable tax rates:

Loss before taxation

B 15 A S 1R

Notional tax on loss before taxation,
calculated at the rates applicable to
profits in the countries concerned

Tax effect of PRC preferential tax
treatments (Notes (iv) (v))

Tax effect of non-deductible expenses

Tax effect of deductible temporary
differences or unused tax losses not
recognised

Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax
losses and other temporary differences

Tax effect of deduction for qualified
research and development costs
(Note (iv))

2 AR B S A RO R
K BRB BN S
EHIA

BN BB BB
FE(HE(vv)

TGRSR B T2

ARHER AT HNR D iy R K
REAHIAE BN
2

£/ 2 BIARRER B IR B 1R
R Bl =R

B BRI ERAHIRAT
B & (M)

Actual tax expense/(credit)

ERHIAEMS(E2)

HealthyWay Inc. i E 2R B ERAF

(b) BIEBIX (%) EEERAB R

HHET BRI

2024 2023
20244 20235
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT T ARETT
(263,799) (320,945)
8,925

(1,534)

1,333

3,012 4,454
(2,937) (17,972)
(2.902) (2,269)
5,359 (7,063)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS
(Continued)

(b) Reconciliation between tax expense/(credit)
and accounting loss at applicable tax rates:
(Continued)

U]

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman
Islands and the British Virgin Island, the Group is not
subject to any income tax in the Cayman Islands and
the British Virgin Island.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the provision
for Hong Kong Profits Tax during the year is calculated
at 16.5% (2023: 16.5%). No provision has been made
for Hong Kong Profits Tax as the Group did not have
assessable profits for the year ended 31 December
2024 (2023: Nil).

The Group’s PRC subsidiaries are subject to Corporate
Income Tax (“CIT") at a statutory rate of 25% on
their respective taxable income for the year ended
31 December 2024 and 2023 except for certain
subsidiaries mentioned in Notes (iv) and (v) below.

In accordance with the relevant PRC Corporate Income
Tax Laws, regulations and implementation guidance
notes, Fujian Health Road Information Technology Co.,
Ltd. (“Fujian Health Road”) (“ @R 2 &5 8%
fit 5 B2 A & ) was granted the Advanced and New
Technology Enterprise Status for a valid period of 3
years from 2023 to 2025 which entitles Fujian Health
Road to a reduced income tax rate at 15% during the
valid period.

According to the relevant tax rules in the PRC,
qualified research and development costs are allowed
for bonus deduction for income tax purpose, as a
result, an additional 100% of the qualified research
and development costs could be deemed as deductible
expenses for the years ended 31 December 2024 and
2023.

According to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law and
its implementation regulations, certain subsidiaries
were qualified as “Small Low-profit Enterprise”. These
subsidiaries enjoyed a reduced corporate income tax
rate of 20%.

e I RAR MR

(BB EHBIN - RARKETIR)

GEBRBERNWITEH®)

(b) BEFAX (ER)EREAB R
HHNETHERNHEE (&)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

REFRSHEMRBERRESNHH
AIRSER - AEBBAGMEIAHS
HENEBERRESAEN

HE2024F 128318 ILFE £
BEEFEBEAEIR16.5% (20234 :
16.5%) M EFHHE - ARAEER
HE2024F12A31BILEEL EF
I FERRRL A (20234F  48) - b
FHREARIGRIRE -

BR A TR SCB RE (iv) B (V) 3R B 9 & F
B AR - B ZE2024% %2023 12
A31BEFE  AEENTRBENEA
BIEMEZ BERTIAZ25%H)
EEMEBME SR ([ REMS
Bl o

REBABETELRAETOE - /IR
Bttt REREZREER
MARAR([EREEZE DERS
HMBMERED - AUHAR2023FE
2025 HAt35F - BEREZENE
MHEANZH15%HBIEFTEHRIRE o

RIEBEPEAEERERE - &R
PRI gt P15 HL B # R ETEAL R -
At - HE2024F 2023612 A31
HIEFE @ & EBFEKAREIN
100% AIRAVERT HIFFE o

Bl S HELAA BRI
BRI % | 2 520% BB R 12 32 i

REFECEABHREREBRE
F
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e T AR M

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (xS A I * UAREETIR)

8 DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS 8 EEHM
Directors’ emoluments are set out below: EEMSEFHIIOT ¢
Salaries,
allowances Retirement
Directors’ and benefits Discretionary scheme
fees in kind bonuses contributions Total
E - 1
EEHe REVAR MERAL BIRGTBIHR @t

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  ARMTR AREBTT ARBTT ARETR

Year ended 31 December 2024 #%20245128318

LEE
Executive directors HTES
Mr. Zhang Wanneng REREE
Mr. Chen Jing BRRtE
Non-executive directors FHITES

Mr. Chen Yong (Note (i) BB (A1)
Mr. Zhang Xiangming (Note (i) ~ ZmBB% A (B:2())

Independent non-executive  BUFHTES

directors
Mr. Xu Jing (Notes (ij)) e L)
Dr. Lu Tao (Notes (i) LuTaofB L (#172(i)

Ms. Deng Xiaolan (Notes (i)~ ES8& 21 (Afit(i)

Year ended 31 December 2023 #Z2023512H318

tEE
Executive directors BTEE
Mr. Zhang Wanneng REMELE - 614 - 8 622
Mr. Chen Jing BR&EE - 346 = 8 354
Non-executive directors FHTES

Mr. Chen Yong (Notes (j)) BRE L& (M) - = = = =
Mr. Zhang Xiangming (Note (i) ~ Z[mEA% & (Aa()) - = = = -

= 960 = 16 976
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e I RAR MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (& 2A AN » UAREFIR)

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

For the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, there
were no amounts paid or payable by the Group to the
directors or any of the highest paid individuals set out in
Note 9 below as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group or a compensation for loss of office.

Note (i)  For the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, these
directors did not receive any emoluments from the Group.

Note (i) Mr. Xu Jing, Dr. Lu Tao and Ms. Deng Xiaolan were
appointed as independent non-executive directors of the
Company on 30 December 2024.

INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST
EMOLUMENTS

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, two
(2023: one) are directors whose emoluments are disclosed in
Note 8. The aggregate of the emoluments in respect of the
other three individuals (2023: four) are as follows:

FeMEMME
BRI BIR

Salaries and other emoluments
Retirement scheme contributions

BEEEHMe)

HE2024F F2023F 12 A3 B IEFE » K
SEVERAESS TXHFIMSETAES
FA LTI EMERNESEE - (EAREIE
MMASIIAARER B8 ) SEE) L IE R RERA(E -

HfaE() EZE2024%F K£2023F 12 A31HIEEE -
ZEBEWERANEBUSREUTREH o

Bt % =% % - LuTaol® + R BB RE & 2 + 7
202412 A30 B B R T AR R RIBILIE
WITEE -

REFMA L

hEmxaHTMALTPEMA(2023F « —
B)VEEER  EHFMNANESHERE - Ef=%
(20234 : N ) &= E A TR F B 425E0
T

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREFIT
1,529 2,095

20 23

2,118

The emoluments of the three individuals (2023: four) with
the highest emoluments are within the following band:

HK$Nil — HK$1,000,000

T T2 1,000,00058 7T

=#(2023%F : MB)REFMALNOFMN
RUATEE -

2024 2023
20245 2023%F
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
A AE

4
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHERME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (Bk 5B &iEASN -

10 LOSS PER SHARE

(a)

(b)

Basic loss per share

The calculation of basic loss per share is based on
the loss attributable to ordinary equity shareholders
of the Company of RMB268,456,000 (2023:
RMB310,079,000) and the weighted average of
715,492,000 ordinary shares (2023: 699,783,000
shares) in issue during the year.

The weighted average number of ordinary shares
throughout the periods presented has been adjusted
retrospectively for the effects of shares issued at a
nominal value for reorganisation in 2023 and share
subdivision in 2024, calculated as follows:

Weighted average number of ordinary shares

Issued ordinary shares at 1 January

Effect of shares issued at a nominal value
for reorganisation 7

Effect of capital injection from equity
shareholders

Effect of share subdivision (Note 27(c)(i)

Effect of conversion of preferred shares

into ordinary shares (Note 27(c)(ii)) L (FfaE27(cNii))
Effect of shares issued by initial public BEERARBERITR
offering (Note 27(c)iii) TR (B aE27(c)ii))

IAARETITR)

10 BREE

(a)

M1ATBEZTE R
A SRR EEEITRD A

KEEERTENTE

Bt R & (HaE27(c)i))
BRREIR ST BT

BRELXERE

BREABEBERA QAL BESRE
JiE {5 /518 A R #5 268,456,000 7T (2023
& AR¥310,079,0007T) N FRE
%%17715,492,000% I @B AR (20234 :
699,783,000/ A% 17) It A8 E -

R AR B A B AR N 8 E Bt
2023 FHEAMIEEEZEITHRG X
2024 RN IF A EBIE L 2
B SERENT :

Weighted average number of ordinary

FHB

shares at 31 December

TMAREN 12 A31 B &y hnkE

AR RS I E
2023
20234
‘000
T 1% F %
142,920 119,201
19,559
= 1,197
571,678 559,826
757 =
137 =
715,492 699,783

Diluted loss per share

For the year ended 31 December 2024 and 2023,
the preferred shares (Note 25) were not included in
the calculation of diluted loss per share because their
effect would have been anti-dilutive. Accordingly,
diluted loss per share were the same as basic loss per
share for both years.

HealthyWay Inc. 5 Z SR BIRA H

(b)

BREBEEE

HZE2024F K2023F 12 A31HIEF
& BRI (KIE25) W ARG AT IS
SEBEENFTET  REREFEARR
BEEIER o Bt - A REE E R SRR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRERME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

11 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(BRAAEBI -

11 Y% - BEKRRE

AARETIR)

Electronic Buildings
and other Motor Leasehold leased for
equipment vehicles improvements own use Total
ETK HEYF BREE
Hithsk e AE £ B¥ @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETE ARETT ARETR
Cost; B :
At 1 January 2023 R2023F1A1H 7,265 811 479 7,059 15,614
Additions RE 942 - 251 9,268 10,461
Disposals k=S (940) - = (4,628) (5,568)
At 31 December 2023 and $2023F12A318 &

1 January 2024 2024F1R1H 7,267 811 730 11,699 20,507

Additions NE 663 - 262 3,351 4,276
Disposals k= (40) - - (2,973) (3,013)
At31December2024 72024612 4318 7,890 811 992 12,077 21,770
Accumulated depreciation: ~ RiHFE :
At 1 January 2023 ©®2023F1A1H 6,824 597 134 2,828 10,383
Charge for the year FRNER 309 107 208 4,004 4,628
Written back on disposals & (940) = = (2,994) (3,934)
At 31 December 2023 and M2023F12A318 %

1 January 2024 2024F1 718 6,193 704 342 3,838 11,077
Charge for the year FNER 581 107 213 4,059 4,960
Written back on disposals HE (40) = = (2,887) (2,927)
At31December2024 ~  M2024%12A31A 6734 o SURN U B
Net book value: ARERE :

At 31 December 2024 %2024 12A31H 1,156 - 437 7,067 8,660
At 31 December 2023 ®2023%124318 1,074 107 388 7,861 9,430
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e T ERAR MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (Fx 2A SN » UAREETIR)

11 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 11 ¥ BEKR®ZEZ)

(Continued)

Included in property, plant and equipment, the net book R - BEREZHEP - NEBER2024F
value of the Group’s right-of-use assets at 31 December NRANANEAEEENRIFERAR
2024 is RMB7,067,000 (2023: RMB7,861,000), which are #7,067,0007T (20234 : AR ¥7,861,000
mainly related to the capitalised lease payments under ) FEEBEHETHEMEBEERNK
tenancy agreements. The Group has obtained the right to B - AEEEBEERREIEAYEE
use properties as its office through tenancy agreements. BEWRAEHERN - MANTREBRBE A
The leases typically run for an initial period of 1 to 5 years 1254 - WERNBEREGNHEAREERE
and do not include an option to renew the lease for an EHRREE o

additional period after the end of the contract term.

in profit or loss is as follows:

The analysis of expense items in relation to leases recognised RiEEPEREEERENFRZIEE DT
W
2023
20245 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB'000

Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets
(Note 6(c))

Interests on lease liabilities (Note 6(a))

Expense relating to short-term leases

AR®TR ARETTT

FREEENREER
(K#£6(c)) 4,004
HEBENFE(HF6(a) 304
B EE MR 218
4,526
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

e I RAR MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (& 2A AN » UAREFIR)

12 BREE

Software Dataset Total
B4 2iEs et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREETFTT AREFTT AREFIT
Cost: AN
At 1 January 2023 M2023F1 818 1,368 16,027 17,395
Addition NE 561 37,313 37,874
At 31 December 2023 72023F12A31H 1,929 53,340 55,269
Addition NE 41,891 33,426 75,317
At31December2024 ~ M2024%12A31H 43,820 86,766 130,586
Accumulated amortisation: 5T .
At 1 January 2023 R2023F1H1H 1,087 = 1,087
Amortisation 5 629 14,285 14,914
At 31 December 2023 2023F12A31H 1,716 14,285 16,001
Amortisation b 2,415 30,898 33,313
At31December2024 ~ RM2024%12A31H 4131 45183 49,314
Net book value: BREEE .
At 31 December 2024 7R2024F12A31H 39,689 41,583 81,272
At 31 December 2023 7202312 A831H 213 39,055 39,268
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e T AR M

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (Fx 2A SN » UAREETIR)

12 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued) BREE®)
The amortisation charge for the year is included in the items NEFHEBERACT AGEBRRANIER -

in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETTT

Administrative expenses THFX 247 87
Research and development costs DI ®IN 33,066 14,827
33,313 14,914
13 GOODWILL 13 BHE
Goodwill is allocated to the Group’s CGU identified AESEEASERBEEBERNREES
according to the business as follows: BN :

2024 2023
202445 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T R ARETTT

ChokSend Communication CGU BIRIENER S EE SN 2,871 2,871
Jianmingtang CGU fRAAERSELEEN 5,734 5,734

8,605 8,605
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRERME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (& 2A AN » UAREFIR)

13 GOODWILL (continued) 13
Impairment test for goodwill

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, management
performed impairment testing.

The recoverable amounts of CGUs are determined by the
directors of the Group with reference to the valuation
performed by an independent valuer, Jones Lang LaSalle
Corporate Appraisal and Advisory Limited (“JLL”) and
have been determined on the basis of value in use (“VIU")
calculation. These calculations use cash flow projections
based on financial budgets approved by management
covering a five-year period. Cash flows beyond the five-year
period are extrapolated using an estimated terminal growth
rate as disclosed below. The growth rates used do not
exceed the long-term average growth rates for the related
industry in which CGUs operate. The discount rates used
are pre-tax and reflect specific risks relating to the relevant
industry, the CGU itself and macro-environment of the
relevant region. Key assumptions are set out as follows:

(S0 ))
AR AR

MR2024F 2023512 A31H » BIEB#TT
SRAEAIE -

ReEL Bl REeERArSEE=S
RBAEMPEMTERFEREABR
~E([HERETDETHHEEE - XER
EEAEE(EREEDFEEE - LEF
BERARSRIEN - LAEEEMAE  BE
hERRNPBEERSEE - REFHEE
ReREA T XRBEN G REIERTET
HEET - AR RRTNERR S ELEMM
RERBITENRYITFIGEER - AR
REROHAYRRERRETE ReELSE
A S MR RN EZBRERBNEER
B o TEMRHFIIMOT

31 December 2024 31 December 2023
2024%12831H 2023124310
ChokSend ChokSend

T ITTENT I TEN T Communication Jianmingtang

AIRRE feeE BIRE feeRE

Annual growth rate of revenue WAFERE 20% 2.0% ~42.6% 22%  22%~233%
Gross margin (% of revenue) EME(ERAR) 265% 13.3% ~ 16.3% 30.0% 10.9% ~ 16.0%
Long-term growth rate R R 2.0% 2.0% 2.2% 2.2%
Pre-tax discount rate BATTRX 23.7% 22.8% 24.1% 21.8%

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the amounts
of headroom calculated based on the recoverable
amounts deducting the carrying amount of ChokSend
Communication CGU are RMB778,000 and RMB5,561,000.
As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the amounts of
headroom calculated based on the recoverable amounts
deducting the carrying amount of Jianmingtang CGU are
RMB223,000 and RMB1,991,000.

720244 K 2023F 12 A318 » Ral ik @4
BHRAIRMER e EEEUMNEREER
B HeBEAARKT78,000T kAR
5,561,000 7T ° 722024 4F 2 20234 12 A 31
H BERAZReELSLNIKRESE
BEEAESENTENSZHESEAARE
223,0007T K A FR#1,991,0007T ©
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e T ERAR MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (Fx 2A SN » UAREETIR)

13 GOODWILL (continued)
Impairment test for goodwill (Continued)

Management have undertaken sensitivity analysis on the
impairment test of CGUs. The following table sets forth
the hypothetical changes to the percentage points of long-
term growth rate and pre-tax discount rate that would,
in isolation, have removed the remaining headroom
respectively as at 31 December 2024 and 2023:

Communication

Increase in pre-tax discount rate BAREER

The directors of the Company are of the view that, except
for the pre-tax discount rates of Jianmingtang CGU at 31
December 2024 and 2023, a reasonably possible change in
a key parameter will not cause the carrying amount of the
CGUs to exceed their respective recoverable amounts at 31
December 2024 and 2023.

HealthyWay Inc. 5 Z SR BIRA H
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ChokSend

BHE )
EEREARE)

EREEEHRSELEMMNRBENRETH
RRE DT o TREHIP 20244 K% 2023512
A3TBMRIAGRERFMAITIRET S EHN
BREy  ZSE¥DEBSERIAKLRES
ZE

31 December 2024 31 December 2023
2024%12A31A 20234124318
ChokSend
E e Communication Jianmingtang
AnmE feRE Bk oz
24 0.2 15.1 1.9

RAREERABRBAEZERSELEFMRN
20244 } 2023 12 A31 HW B ATITIR =
Hh - —EHERSENSENREEDKTEE
BUR & E A B 20244 K 2023412 A 31
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRERME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

The following list contains only the particulars of subsidiaries

14

which principally affected the results, assets or liabilities

of the Group. The class of shares held is ordinary unless

otherwise stated.

Company name

REEH

Ning Waa Limited

g

EEERAA

HealthyWay (Hong Kong)
Limited

RECH(ER)RHBRAT

Health Road (China) Information

Technology Co., Ltd.
(Notes (@) & (c))

REZB(PE)IEERIER

NAlMEEC)

Fujian Health Road Health

Technology Company Limited

(Notes (@) & (c))

BREFR BRENZAR

RAlHtELC)

Place of
incorporation

AL AR L 2

British Virgin
Island ("BV1")

AERBRES
([REEER
1)

Hong Kong

&b

Chinese
Mainland

i

Chinese
Mainland

TE

Place of
business

3 B

Hong Kong

&R

Hong Kong

B

Chinese
Mainland

TE

Chinese
Mainland

T

Particulars of
issued/registered
and paid-up capital
BRT/ERE
BRERFE

USD1/USD1

[EIVAE S

USD1/USD1

[EIVAE T

RMB300,000,000/
RMB300,000,000

AE300,000,0007T,/
AE#300,000,0007

RMB203,200,000/

RMB9,796,069

AE#203,200,0007T,/
AE9796,0697

(B RAHI - AAREIIR)
REE R RHNRE

TREESHAKENES  BEEXARA

BXERE

MM BARFEE - RIEZAMR

B - BRIPTREA D BRI S AR o

Proportion of

ownership interests
for both 2024 and 2023

2024F M2023EH FrEERER LA

Group's
effective
interest
%R
B

i

0%

100%

100%

100%

Held
bythe Heldbya
Company subsidiary
FRE WEAR
BE )

100% 0%

0% 100%

0% 100%

0% 100%

Principal activities

Investment holding

Investment holding

RARK

Investment holding

RERR

Corporate and digital
marketing services
and health and
medical services

PERBERAFEHER
BREEBRRY
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e MBHERME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (Fx 2A SN » UAREETIR)

14 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continved) 14 HAKMIBATINRE &)

Particulars of Proportion of
Place of Place of issued/registered ownership interests
Company name incorporation  business and paid-up capital for both 2024 and 2023 Principal activities
BR{T /AR
ARER EMmUE R BREARFE  04FMOBENFERERLH TEEH
Group's Held
effective by the Held bya
interest Company subsidiary
5B A2E  KWELR
B gL RE B"E
Zhejiang Health Road Chinese Chinese RMB203,200,000/ 100% 0% 100%  Investment holding
Technology Group Co., Ltd. Mainland Mainland RMB100,000,000
("Zhejiang Health Road")
(Notes (a) & (c))
MIREZANREBAR e i ARE203,200,0007, REAR
RAEIIREZE]) AR 100,000,00070
(H@k)
Fujian Health Road Chinese Chinese RMB166,381,403/ 100% 0% 100%  Corporate and digital
(Notes (b) & (d)) Mainland Mainland RMB27,381,403 marketing services
and health and
medical services
RERRB W LEW) e G AR166,381,4037/ PERBREAFEHER
AR#27,381,403C BREFRRRY
Fujian ChokSend Communication  Chinese Chinese RMB10,000,000/ 51% 0% 51%  Corporate and digital
Technology Co., Ltd. Mainland Mainland RMB10,000,000 marketing services
("ChokSend Communication”) and medical support
(Notes (a) & (d)) services
BREARMERERAER  HE i AR%10,000,0007t,/ PERBRETEHER
RE(AINARED ARH10,000,0007 BIARBESH R
(HrEta k()
Yinchuan Borderless Internet Chinese Chinese RMB10,000,000/ 100% 0% 100%  Health and medical
Hospital Co., Ltd. Mainland Mainland RMB10,000,000 services
(Notes (a) & (d)
BllEEREREERER & f AR#10,000,0007,/ REERRY
RAKEERW) AK10,000,0007C

HealthyWay Inc. 5 Z SR BIRA H
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e I RAR MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (& 2A AN » UAREFIR)

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continved) 14 KB ATIWIRE (&)

Particulars of

Place of Place of issued/registered

Company name incorporation  business and paid-up capital

BRfT/ERR

ARER EMmUE  ERE BRERFE

Hubei Health Zhilu Health Chinese Chinese RMB5,000,000/

Technology Co., Ltd. Mainland Mainland RMB5,000,000

("R R BRERR

BIRAE") (Notes (3) & (d)

AR R RER AR e i AR%5,000,0007T,

RA(HtaLb) ARH5,000,0007C

Notes:

All companies comprising the Group have adopted 31 December as
their financial year end date at the date of this report.

(@  The official names of these entities are in Chinese. The
English names are for identification purpose only.

(b) The Company does not have direct or indirect legal
ownership in the equity of this entity. Nevertheless, the
Company and its other legally owned subsidiaries control this
entity by way of entering into the Contractual Arrangements
with this entity and its registered owners.

(©)  These entities are wholly foreign-owned enterprises.

(d)  These entities are limited liability companies.

Management considers that none of the subsidiary of the
Group has a material NCI.

Proportion of
ownership interests

for both 2024 and 2023 Principal activities

04FMOBEHFEEERLH FTEEEK

Group's Held
effective by the Held bya
interest Company subsidiary

AR

B A7 WERAF

L1 3 ) ]

100% 0% 100%  Corporate and digital

marketing services

CRRBRATFEH
oy

Mt -

RAHE A ARSI TAA D DSE KM
12831 B ARATREERHEE -

(a)

()

(d)

T

ZEBRNIEABEAT N - AXAMEEHR
Bl

oy

RATINZE R A T I EIE A B
BOREFRARE - A - ARAIRARFHA
BEREMBAREBEZER ”&Eiﬂﬂ%
BARIL AN THHERIZE R

ZEERRIIEHEEDE -

ZEERSEREMERA

EEERR/ARENNE AR EE KA
NRBEERE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHERME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (Fx 2A SN » UAREETIR)

15 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 15 REEQRTNER
The following list contains associates of the Group, which NTEREBEAEENBE AR ARKLE
are unlisted corporate entities, whose quoted market price MHARERE  WEMSHRE :

are not available:

Form of Place of Particulars of Proportion
business incorporation issued and  of ownership
Name of associates structure and business paid-up capital interests  Principal activities
R A 3L BRTR FrE
BERNRER (naErl REKLE BRERFE @bl ETEEK
Beijing Huayi Lianhe Technology Incorporated  Chinese Mainland ~ RMB1,000,000 49.00% Digital information
Company Limited (Note (i)) services
TREBMSEERMERAR  EMKZ g AR¥ HFEERHG
(K1) 1,000,0007T
Suzhou Zhikang structure Incorporated  Chinese Mainland RMB391,500 22.50%  Medical services
Pharmaceutical Technology
company Limited (Note (i)
FNBREBBENRARA B AvA i AR¥ BRRY
(Hi0)) 391,5007C
Zhongjian Xinlian (Xiamen) Incorporated  Chinese Mainland ~ RMB10,000,000 39.80% Digital information
Technology Company Limited services
(“Zhongjian Xinlian (Xiamen)”)
(Note (1)
TRk ()RR BR AT iz avs H AR BHEERE
(IEMREER ) (H20) 10,000,0007T
Zhongjian Xinlian (Hangzhou) Incorporated  Chinese Mainland RMBnil 39.80% Digital information
Technology Company Limited services
(Note (1)
TR (M) BRHRER AR iz avs H ARBZT BHEERE
(B()
Note: Mt
(i) The English translation of the company name is for reference (i) ZAR LR EZEMHLRE - ZARH
only. The official name of the company is in Chinese. FRABARX -

HealthyWay Inc. {2 BB HERAT



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRERME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (& 2A AN » UAREFIR)

15 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 15 REE QRS
All of the above associates are accounted for using the LT E R E R BN E M SRR IIER
equity method in the consolidated financial statements. FEREANER ©

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETTT

Aggregate carrying amounts of individually 434 B RE T EBIFEAMN
immaterial associates in the consolidated B N EIM R RE

financial statements 3,494
Aggregate amounts of the Group's share ~ ANEEE(GZ B & QN RlHE
of those associates’ loss from continuing LETREIMETE R R s
operations and total comprehensive HERRAEEE
income (72)
The management considered none of the associate are BEEERR  MEMAEEAREAEER
financially material to the Group. MBLEMEBERK -
16 INVENTORIES 16 #E
2024 2023
2024%F 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARBTFT ARBTFIT
Finished goods e 7,096 13,770
(a) The analysis of the amount of inventories () BRABMIAFABRNEESHE
recognised as an expense and included in IR

profit or loss is as follows:

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETTT

Carrying amount of inventories sold EHEFENEREE CEN b) 86,854
Reversal of write-down of inventories FEMURE D (348) (222)

93,264 86,632
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e T ERAR MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (Bk 5B &iEASN -

17 CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT
LIABILITIES

(a) Contract assets

Contract assets arising from performance
under software and technology
development services

SABTTER M R i T R 35 AR
BMELNENEE

IAARETITR)

17 EHNEEREGHNARE

Receivables from contracts with
customers within the scope of IFRS15
which are included in “Trade and other
receivables” (Note 19)

BIBR B H5 ¥R 5 2 R 55 1555
BEANTFAHE
WHRAGIATEZ RE
i e WU SRIE 1) (ffE19)

(a) BHEE
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®F T ARETIT
298
119,771 113,586

The Group's software development contracts include
payment schedules which require stage payments over
the development period once milestones are reached.
Contract assets primarily relate to the Group’s rights
to consideration for work completed but not yet
reached the milestones for billing at the reporting
date. The Group also typically agrees to a retention
for 5% to 10% of the contract value. The retention
period normally ranges from one to two years upon
the completion of work. This amount is included in
contract assets until the end of the retention period
as the Group’s entitlement to this final payment is
conditional on the Group’s work satisfactorily passing
inspection.

As at 31 December 2024, the amount of contract
assets that was expected to be recovered after more

than one year were RMB70,000 (2023: RMB30,000).

Contract assets are transferred to trade receivables
when the rights become unconditional.

HealthyWay Inc. 5 Z SR BIRA H

AEENRHFRESOREN M
x o BR—BETBER - FRAEH
ADBEBNR - ANEEEZPRAE
EFnmE A s TEMAZRFA
R B TR ERRER - K
SEBEETRABRESNEENS%E
10%EREE - REHPBENFTIE
TRE—EMFIE - ZEREF AR
MEE BEERBEHER  ARAKE
ARAEENTIEIRFNBERE - HE
REWENRIRNS R

MR2024F 12 A31H » FEEt R BB —
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise

e I RAR MR

indicated) (BRBAHIAIN - UAREZITR)

BHNAE

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREBT T

47,735 47,784
10,032 9,377

17 CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT 17 EHEEREGHNERE®
LIABILITIES (cContinued)
(b) Contract liabilities (b)
Health and medical services EREERS
Digital marketing and corporate services 5 & 8RS K (> E RS
Others EA

248 186

58,015 57,347

When the Group receives a deposit before related
services are provided, this will give rise to contract
liabilities. The Group receives deposits on acceptance
of orders on a case-by-case basis with customers
before related service provided.

Movements in contract liabilities were as follows:

AR B HARRE AR AT B IR 2 1S
BRELANAE - AEEREERIE
N REIEPIERKEZE - T8
RAARRARTS

BRABNEFHNT -

2024 2023
202445 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT T AREF T

Balance at the beginning of the year FNHEER 57,347 90,254
Breakage revenue recognised that was ~ FHIA B EEHBT DR

included in the balance of contract REVAREE FAEFMA

liabilities at the beginning of the year (30,282) (74,298)
Revenue excluding breakage recognised ~FHIA KB BEBTDHE

that was included in the balance of REA (TR IERER

contract liabilities at the beginning of HER)

the year (21,318) (14,221)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result  FEI 78 5 U B 1D 2 AR 75 K2 &1

of receipt in advance arising from FE RS RIE R B E

corporate and digital marketing services RIS MELNAHEE

and health and medical services 0 55,612
Balance at the end of the year FREES 57,347
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHERME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (Fx 2A SN » UAREETIR)

17

18

19

CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT 17 EREEREGHNERE®)
LIABILITIES (continued)
(b) Contract liabilities (Continued) (b) &HNEEBE#E)
As at 31 December 2024, the amounts of contract M2024F 12 A31H » FEER BB —
liabilities expected to be recognised as income FRERBWANGHNEESER/A
after more than one year is RMB6,616,000 (2023: KR #6,616,000 7T (2023 F : AR
RMBS5,746,000). All of the other contract liabilities are 5,746,0007T) - BHIFTEEM AN AE
expected to be recognised as income within one year. R —F NHERRBIA °
OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS 18 HitemEE
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
ARET T ARBTFT
Wealth management products B Em 5,549 =
The wealth management products are non-principal BHEMRASTBREEBIREKER /I
guaranteed investments with floating rate of return and IRAIGE

redeemable on demand.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 19 B5
Trade receivables, net of loss allowance 2 ZEWGRIE - IBREERHE
— third parties —%=h

— related parties —EAEsE 7

Amounts due from related parties (Note (i)  FEUR Ba8E 5 F/IE (H1a#())
Deposits (Note (i) Be (Kati)

Other receivables (Note (iii)) EL Wk IE (A 72 (i)

K B fth FE W =R TE

2024 2023
202445 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETTT

118,585 112,121
1,186 1,465
1,000 136
3,997 3,374

19,440 15,529

144,208 132,625
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e I RAR MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (& 2A AN » UAREFIR)

19 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 19
(Continued)

As at 31 December 2024, deposits of the Group amounting
to RMB2,999,000 (2023: RMB2,624,000) were expected
to be recovered or recognised as expense after more than
one year. All of the other trade and other receivables are
expected to be recovered or recognised as expense within
one year or repayable on demand.

Notes:

(i) Amounts due from related parties are non-trade nature,
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand at the end
of each reporting period.

(i)~ The balances mainly represent those deposits for participating
in tender and bidding process for certain health service
project and deposits for office tenancy.

(i) The balances mainly represent VAT recoverable.

Ageing analysis

As at the end of each reporting period, the ageing analysis
of trade receivables based on the date of billing and net of
loss allowance, is as follows:

Within 1 month 1MEAR

More than 1 month but within 1 year MEA LA EERTER
More than 1 year but within 2 years 1A EER2FER
More than 2 years but within 3 years 2F LA EBR3FR

ESREMEWRE®)

202412 4318 + BAR2,999,0007T
(20234 : AR¥2,624,0007T) Hy AN &£ EH %
SR HRER—FRKIESERARXL
FrBEME 5 Rk H b EUGRIBTEFT KR —F
MU E s ER AR - SIREKER

it -

()  REBESHKR  RRERHFRLIFE S
B SRR RS RIREREE -

(i) HHRIERE2EETREREERBERER
BHRSEARRAEHENZE -

(i) AT ERAURCIEER -

il

R
REJREHR - ENERAHARINRERR
B E S RUGRIRRNRE DTN T -

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREF T

105,781 95,377
11,482 17,690
2,261 496
247 23

119,771 113,586

Further details on the Group’s credit policy and credit risk
arising from trade and other receivables are set out in Note
28(a).

BARAERENEEBRRE S M EMERGK
HELANEERROE —FTHBIRHNKHE
28(a) ©
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e T ERAR MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (Fx 2A SN » UAREETIR)

20 RESTRICTED DEPOSITS

As at 31 December 2024, the balance included a deposit
amounted to RMB10,000,000 was secured for certain bank
loan.

The remaining balance represents certain deposits in
the designated banks as guarantees for the execution
of development of online service platform, especially for
government and public facilities.

20 ZRHEFM

21 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 21
(@) Cash and cash equivalents comprise:
Cash at bank and on hand RITRFHERS

R2024F 12 A31H  Z&EBBEARE
10,000,000 THIZ S © EBES THRITER
FOHEHE o

RABERIERIEERITOE TR - 1EAH
TRZK LR FamER - LERHBUA
RAKEBEME °

ReERREEEY
@) RERALEB/UESE

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARET T

260,229 168,693

As at 31 December 2024, cash at bank that were
placed with banks in Chinese Mainland amounted
to RMB102,382,000 (2023: RMB168,326,000).
Remittance of funds out of the PRC is subject to the
exchange restrictions imposed by the PRC government.

HealthyWay Inc. 5 Z SR BIRA H
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRERME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (& 2A AN » UAREFIR)

21 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (continved) 21 BERBLEEW (&)

(b) Reconciliation of loss before taxation to (b) BRBAIBEEKSEMERSNY
cash generated from operations: B -
ppZ) 2023
20244 2023F
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
ffzE AR®T R ARBFT
Loss before taxation BRIRIEE (263,799) (320,945)
Adjustments for: BATIEE AR :
Depreciation e 6(c) 4,960 4,628
Amortisation of intangible assets BV EEEN 6(c) 33,313 14,914
Finance costs BEKAK 6(a) 4,483 3,254
Recognition of impairment losses on B 5 R E A EUGRIE
trade and other receivables and RENEERNRE
contract assets EEER 6(c) 786 391
Recognition of impairment loss on FEREBERER
inventories 16(a) (348) (222)
Net foreign exchange loss B i B59E 5 RR 5 928 1,248
Share of profits less losses of associates &/ B IR
B 286 72
Net gain on sale of property, plantand ~ HEHE - BEK&H&
equipment Bl 5 5 (10) (361)
Changes in carrying amount of BORBHREESS
the redemption obligations 272,772 324,779
Changes in working capital: KReEeEy
Decrease/(increase) in inventories FERD,/(38m) 7,022 (7,785)
Decrease/(increase) in contract assets BRBERD,/(BM) 246 (443)
Increase in trade and other receivables B 5 REMFEYGRIA
b (15,662) (71,391)
Increase in restricted bank balances IR HISRITAEERIE N (3) =
Increase in trade and other payables B 5 REMPERTIA
120 12,360 88,584
Increase/(decrease) in contract liabilites & #& &M, (Fd) 668 (32,907)
Cash generated from operations REMBHRS 58,002 3,816
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e T AR M

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (xS A I * UAREETIR)

21 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (continved) 21 BRERAESZEBEY (&)

(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from () REITBHEENEENHER:
financing activities:

Amounts

N due to Lease
Bank loans payable related parties liabilities Total
RITER ENAS EAEBATE HEEE st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARMTR AR¥TR ARTR ARETR

(Note 23) (Note 24)

(Hzt23) (Hiit24)

At 1 January 2024 R202451818 89,020 7,586 100,866

Changes from financing ~ BERSHELE

cash flows:
Proceeds from bank loans BRITEFFEHE 73,455 73,455
Repayments of bank loans ~ [EEF(TER (106,068) (106,068)
Interests paid on bank loans B FHRITEFFIE (4.162)
Capital element of lease ERBeASHH

rentals paid (3.774) (3.774)
Proceeds from related parties 3R 5@ 5 RFTEFUR = 454
Interest element of lease ERBEFSHD

rentals paid (321)
Total changes from RERSTRERDAR
_financing cash flows (32,613) (4,483) (3.774) (40,416)
Other changes: Hiv 2
Increase in lease liabilities from  FAHARYZT S #iH S8

entering into new leases MEaEEM

during the period

Interest expenses (Note 6(z) B FZ(Hit6()
Early termination of lease HERRBRRLL
liabilities

Total other changes EEees

At 31 December 2024 R2024%12A31A
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRERME

(BRAAEBI -

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

21 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (Continued)

() Reconciliation of liabilities arising from
financing activities: (Continued)

21 RERBEEEY &)

AARETIR)

() BMETBHELENEENHRER: (&)

Amounts
Interest due to Lease
Bank loans payable related parties liabilities Total
RITER FENFIS FE(ER A FUR HEAE st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETE ARETT ARETE ARET:
(Note 23) (Note 24)
(Hi23) (Hii24)
At 1 January 2023 72023F1R1A 49,538 - 2,040 4,454 56,032
Changes from financing ~ BMERSHELE
cash flows:
Proceeds from bank loans BTERMETA 123,830 = = = 123,830
Repayment of bank loans BERITER (84,348) = = = (84,348)
Interests paid on bank loans BN BTEFFIE - (2,950) = = (2,950)
Capital element of lease ENEeREE D
rentals paid - - - (4,236) (4,236)
Interest element of lease EREEMEED
rentals paid - (304) - - (304)
Advances from related parties 3K & B8R 7 Ry EA TR - - 5,180 = 5,180
Repayments to related parties 1B 77 B 5 - = (2,960) = (2,960)
Total changes from HERERESDAN
financing cash flows 39,482 (3,254) 2,220 (4,236) 34,212
Other changes: Hit 25
Increase in lease liabilities from AERETV I EEH
entering into new leases HEEREEM
during the year - - - 9,268 9,268
Interest expenses (Note 6(a) SR (Ait6() = 3,254 = = 3,254
Early termination of lease MEBBRERL
liabilities - - - (1,900) (1,900)
Towlotherchanges  AtR®E® e 3254 S 7368 1062
At 31 December 2023 R2023%12A31H 89,020 - 4,260 7,586 100,866
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (Bk 5B &iEASN -

21 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (Continued)

(d) Total cash outflow for leases

IAARETITR)

Amounts included in the consolidated statements of
cash flows for leases comprise the following:

Within operating cash flows
Within financing cash flows

AAARERGRE
AARERSRE

21 RERBEEEY#)

(d) HENRSRHAEHE

IINGERSREXRNHESHBREN

TS @

2024
20244
RMB’000
ARET T

236
3,767

4,003

These amounts relate to the following:

Lease rentals paid

EffiEE

FZECHEATHA

2024
20244
RMB’000
AR¥T T

4,003

22 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Trade creditors

Amounts due to related parties (Note (i)
Amounts due to shareholders (Note (i)
Salaries and bonus payables

Receipts in advance (Note(ii))

Other payables (Note(iii))

22

& BR3K

B K EAEARKIE

2024
20244
RMB’000
ARET T

121,901

&1~ BRESE 77 SRIR (A1) =

JE S SR SRIR (A1)
EN#HERES
TEMGRIR (M a2 i)

H At RS SR IR (a2 (i)

4,714
25,006
15,751
41,190

208,562

HealthyWay Inc. i E 2R B ERAF

2023
20234
RMB’000
ARETTT

218
4,236

4,454

2023
20234
RMB’000
AREFIT

4,454

2023
20234
RMB’000
ARET T

86,318
95
4,260
24,319
20,895
57,998

193,885
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e I RAR MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (& 2A AN » UAREFIR)

22 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued)

All of the trade and other payables are expected to be
settled or recognised as income within one year or are
repayable on demand.

Notes:

(i) The amounts are non-trade nature, unsecured, interest-free
and repayable on demand.

(i) The amount represents receipt in advance deposited by the
customers which is expected to be utilised in the health and
medical services in the future.

(i)~ The amount mainly represents retention deposits, bidding
deposits, other miscellaneous deposits received, technical and
outsourcing service fees and agency costs.

As at the end of each reporting year, the ageing analysis of
trade payables, based on invoice date is as follows:

22 BESNHMENSRER)

AR S REMENFIRRRIN —FRE
HYERBBA  BREREE -

(iii)

RE

ZEFERFES ML - BER 2B RA
RENREE -

ZLBRRPEMNRE - AHARKEANEE
B RE AR

ZTBEIERWPINRES BEFES
HiMRRES - RIRIMEREE KRR
BIRKAN ©

REFR  REZREH  BHEMNK

HHFREC DMTEAT

Within 1 year 15K

More than 1 year but within 2 years 1A EER2FER
More than 2 years but within 3 years 2F A HER3ER
More than 3 years 3FNE

2024 2023
202445 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREF T

121,545 85,421
109 375
103 32
144 490

121,901 86,318

Annual Report 20244 F 3§

239



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e T ERAR MR
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23 LOANS AND BORROWINGS

23 BEFRRER
REREMH - RITEROERT -

As at the end of each reporting period, the bank loans were

as follows:
2024 2023
202445 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREFIT
Current RE
Bank loans RITER
— Guaranteed (Note (ii)) —BER(M L)) 88,479
Non-current EFRE
Bank loans IRITER
— Guaranteed (Note (ii) — BER(H ) 905 541
56,407 89,020
The analysis of the repayment schedule of bank loans is as IRITERNEEREESTOT ¢
follows:
2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT T AREFIT
Within 1 year or on demand 1FREIREK 55,502 88,479
After 1 year but within 2 years ERIER2ER 905 500
After 2 years but within 3 years R2ERIERIFR - 41
56,407 89,020

Notes:

(i) As at 31 December 2024, all borrowings were denominated
in RMB and interest-bearing at 3.4% ~ 14.65% (2023:
3.35% ~ 11.70%) per annum.

(ii) As at 31 December 2024, bank loans of RMB3,407,000
(2023: RMB1,190,000) were guaranteed by a director
of ChokSend Communication for the loans borrowed by
ChokSend Communication.

As at 31 December 2024, bank loans of RMB53,000,000
(2023: RMB87,830,000) were secured by restricted deposits
and guaranteed by a shareholder of the Company.

240 HealthyWay Inc. 25 2 BRIRD AR T

M2024F12A318 * FIBEEZRKHEUARE
HE  FF R 53.4%-14.65% (20234 :
3.35%-11.70%) °

M20245 128318 fITERARY
3,407,0007t (20234 : A% 1,190,0007T)
A—ZAIREERER - BARGRLEEA
K EFRIER ©

MR2024F 12 A31H » fRITERARE
53,000,0007T (20234 : A R #87,830,000
T AFZ R FITFRERE - AAARBRE
AR o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (& 2A AN » UAREFIR)

24 LEASE LIABILITIES 24 FHESE
The following table shows the remaining contractual TREIAEEREREAANHEEERED
maturities of the Group’s lease liabilities at each reporting T A EIEE -
date:

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARET T

Within 1 year 1R 3,267 3,211

After 1 year but within 2 years M EIRBR2ENR 1,930 2,011

After 2 years but within 5 years R2F 1B ERSEFA 1,794 2,364

R 32 L2
6,991 7,586

25 REDEMPTION LIABILITY 25 BEAE

The Group issued financial instruments to investors for AEER ETRIRAREEZETTSRM T E/ER

financing purpose before listing. B -

In accordance with the agreements with the investors, the RIFEZEEN DR HEARSEEBELOE

holders have agreed that their redemption rights were REREERERAREESEESHEUY © 1

automatically cancelled upon completing a qualified IPO and B EENDE AR -

the related liabilities were re-classified to equity.
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IAARETITR)

25 REDEMPTION LIABILITY (Continued) 25
The movements of the financial liability arising from the
redemption option are set out below:

At 1 January 2023 2023417418

Changes in carrying amount

FRE{EE

Bo&&®)
BRI E L IS B EESHIIMT -

Total

#at
RMB’000
ARETTT

1,388,474
324,779

At 31 December 2023
Changes in carrying amount
Reclassification of preference shares

72023 12H31H
EREEE D)
BEBREFH LR

1,713,253
272,772

(1,986,025)

At 31 December 2024

72024512 A31H

The Group has applied the discounted cash flow (“DCF")
method to determine the underlying equity value as at 31
December 2023. The difference with the listing offer price of
HK$7.80 per share is accounted for as changes in carrying
amount in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

The DCF method involves applying an appropriate weighted
average cost of capital ("WACC") to discount the future
cash flows to present value. The WACC was determined
based on a consideration of factors including the risk-
free rate, comparative industry risk, equity risk premium,
company size and non-systematic risk factors. The Group
also applied a discount for lack of marketability (“DLOM")
to take into account that the shares of Fujian Health Road
are not publicly traded. DLOM was estimated by using the
Black-Scholes Option Pricing Model and the Finnerty Model,
which assumed that a put option is struck at the spot price
of the stock before the privately held shares can be sold.
WACC and DLOM adopted as at 31 December 2023 are
16.3% and 7.0% respectively.

HealthyWay Inc. 5 Z SR BIRA H

rEBEERESRENR((REREN
B |)AEETER2023F 12 A3 1 HMABERE
B - B TS ESR7 808 M EENER
BRERNVIEEREEEZS -

RensMBESRERBEENMETHE
AREA([REFIIEREA]) - BARRES
MEFHRABRE - MEFHERKATIIRE
ZHEEZEAERET  2REERRFAE L&
TERR - RARBREE - ARHRERIER
mRREE - ERIEERREZEORG L
ERERS  AEBENERGRZME KA
WR(TREHEREMEFTER]) - R=THER
38 M 47 28 B2 F Black-Scholes B # & B 1R 5 &2
anertyﬁ*”ﬁﬁg BRREHEFLAFT B
PR - AIREIR BB KR B © 702023
¢12ﬂ31 HERA B INHE T 9 E AR AR
TS mE MRS R 7%16.3%H7.0% °



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e TR

(B=EHAIN - UARKTIR)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

26 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 26 SZEMBRARTWIEH

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(@) Current taxation in the consolidated
statements of financial position represent:

(a) HEMBRRERPHNBHEAS

2024 2023

2024%F 2023%F

RMB’000 RMB’'000

AR¥T T ARETT

PRC corporate income tax payable FERT R B SFTS L 15,063 4,649

(b) BRRBLBIE :
EIRAEER A RS AR
HHED
RERARTERRE R BRI
BB 04 355 A B Py

(b) Deferred tax recognised:

(i) Movement of each component of deferred (i)
tax assets and liabilities

The components of deferred tax assets
recognised in the consolidated statements of

financial position and the movements during the HEBAT -
year are as follows:
Promotion
and
Creditloss Unusedtax  Deferred advertising Amortisation
allowance loss income  expenses of intangibles Others Total
Deferred tax HEFR R KER  BVEE
arising from: BENEELR B BEFR  BERN  EERX - Htr @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARBTT ARETT ARETT ARETR ARETR
At 1 January 2023 R2023%51R18 166 = 2,742 = = 87 2,99
Credited to profitor ~~ FMEZRETA
loss 82 2,469 2,841 4,008 1,529 17 10,946
At31 December 2023 120234123318 1,529 13,941
Credited/charged) to ~ REZREA/
profit or loss (408) 4,901 (28) 6,359
At31 Decernber 2024 12024412318 6,430 7 20300
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

26

(BR=BHHAIN -

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(Continued)

(c)

(d)

Deferred tax assets not recognised

In accordance with the accounting policy set out in
Note 2(t), the Group has not recognised deferred
tax assets in respect of cumulative tax losses of
RMB22,362,000 (2023: RMB26,996,000) as it is not
probable that future taxable profits against which the
losses can be utilised will be available in the relevant
tax jurisdiction and entity. The tax losses expire within
5 years under current tax legislation.

Deferred tax liabilities not recognised

At 31 December 2024, temporary differences relating
to the undistributed profits of the Group’s certain
subsidiaries in Chinese Mainland amounted to
RMB18,564,000 (2023: RMB4,700,000). Deferred
tax liabilities were not recognised in respect of
the withholding tax that would be payable on the
distribution of these retained profits as the Company
controls the dividend policy of these subsidiaries in
Chinese Mainland and the directors have determined
that these profits are not likely to be distributed in the
foreseeable future.

HealthyWay Inc. {2 BB HERAT

IAARETITR)

26 SEMBRRARBPOFAEH &)

(c)

(d)

RERELERAEE

RIEM 20 FTE 2 SFTBER - A5 E
WA RFT AR B A RK22,362,000
JL(20234F : AR ¥26,996,0007T ) i
REEHEEE - AAEHEBRESEE
BERRNEBTIAMRESASHALS
BEAOARRERTGEF - RIBRITH
7% HIBEBBRAFARIE -

AERIELERERE

M2024F12A318 - BEAEEET
R [ PR 21 B BB 2 B R 00T P 0 R
=8 A5 AR 18,564,0007T (20234 :
AR#4,700,00070) ° AR FHEH
ZEFPERHBARMREEER + &
EERBTARAERAI RARKDIRZE
FE - Bt st Rz SREFEM
ERNTENBERELEIEAE -
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (KRS AE&EIN * UAREETIR)

27 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS 27 EX - HERRE

(@) Movement in components of equity

The reconciliation between the opening and
closing balances of each component of the Group’s
consolidated equity is set out in the consolidated
statements of changes in equity. Details of the
changes in the Company’s individual components of
equity are set below:

Share Share
capital Premium
B& ROBE

RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETT  ARETR

Balance at 1 January 2023  W2023%1A1A

Changes in equity for 2023: 203 MRS :
Loss for the year FREE = =
Other comprehensive income  Ef2ERE - =

(a) EZARFONEE
REBGREER S HEKERD B ERF ELE]
NEMRHB RN G EEREEER - A
A EE R as AR A ER 9 B B EE IS D
T

Other  Exchange Accumulated

reserve reserve losses Total
Hivfd E e RitER @t

RMB'0O0  RMB'O00  RMB'O00  RMB'000
ARETT  ARBTT ARETT ARETR

787,819 50,99 (648,443) 190,448

= = (353,718) (353,718)
= 12,893 = 12,893

Total comprehensive income 2 EH - -

Shares issued at a nominal value R ERIKEERIT

for reorganisation iofii 14 =
Capital injection fromequity R EZBERA
shareholders A

Balance at 31 December 2023 2023512831
REe 99,997

Changes in equity for 2024:  204F fEREE
Loss for the year EREE
Other comprehensive income ~ Ef2E Kz

Total comprehensive income 2 E R4

Issurance of ordinary sharesby ~ BBERAREE
initial public offering, netof ~ B{TLER
listing expenses (N ETR %) 165,949

Reclassification of preference ~ BXREHHE
shares

Balance at 31 December 2024 74202451231
RM&e 265,946

- 12,893 (353,718) (340,825)

781,819 (1,002,161) (50,363)

- (293,231) (293,231)
14,140 = 14,140

14,140 (293,231) (279,091)

165,952

1,986,025 1,986,025

2,773,844 78,029  (1,295392) 1,822,523
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27 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS 27 EX - #EREBRE®)
(Continued)
(b) Dividends (b) RE
No dividend has been declared for the year ended 31 HZE2024F 12 A31HILFESESTIK
December 2024. f& S -
(c) Share capital () B
Authorised share capital EERA

2024 2023
202445 20234
Number of Share Number of Share
shares capital shares capital
RHEE R 2 anEE] R
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARETT

Ordinary shares, issued and Z&ER > E8#1TR

fully paid BE
At 1 January M1 A1H 142,919,560 119,200,600 76
Shares issued at a nominal value FEARREEZEITH)

for reorganisation dnl 19,559,400 14
Capital injection from equity ~ REEZBRATE

shareholders 4,159,560 3

Subdivision of ordinary shares & AT AR(HaE()

(note (i) 571,678,240 — -

Preferred shares converted into {850 AREEH A T EA%

ordinary shares (note (i) (BfaGi) 138,107,000 = =
Shares issued by initial public ~ 1RIEE R AFBE %
offering (note (iii)) ol 25,000,000 = =

At 31 December »12A318 877,704,800 142,919,560 93

Note: B -

() As approved by the shareholders’ general meeting (i) #2024 12 AN BRITHARRQF
of the Company on 11 December 2024, immediately BRERXGHE  BEARTERIR
upon the initial public offering of the Company, FME &% - §ARME(E0.0001 3 TH)
each of issued ordinary share of US$0.0001 were ERTEBREEHFARTRE
subdivided into five ordinary shares of US$0.00002 A& I {E0.00002 E LK) F @R o R
each. After the share subdivision, the number of the Ry 4E  EBRTEEREE R
issued ordinary shares was 714,597,800. 714,597,8000% °

(i) 138,107,000 preferred shares were converted into (i) 138,107,0000% /8 L A% 1A | R 4t
ordinary shares upon listing. REEAL
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

27 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(Continued)

(c)

Share capital (Continued)

Authorised share capital (Continued)

Note: (Continued)

(iii)

On 30 December 2024, the Company was listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, 25,000,000
ordinary shares with a par value of US$0.00002 per
share were issued at a price of HK$7.80 per ordinary
share. The gross proceeds raised from the offering
was HK$195,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB180,471,000). Net proceeds from the offering
were RMB165,952,000 (after offsetting costs directly
attributable to the issuance of shares of approximately
RMB14,519,000), of which RMB3,000 was credited
to the Company’s share capital account and the
remaining RMB165,949,000 was credited to the
Company'’s share premium account.

(d) Nature and purpose of reserves

(i)

Other reserves

Other reserves mainly comprise the following:

(1) the paid-in capital and capital reserve of
the PRC subsidiaries;

(2) adjustment of other reserve arising from
the process of reorganisation during initial
public offering;

(3) difference between the net identifiable
assets and the consideration paid for
acquisition of non-controlling interests;
and

(4) reserve arising from awarded shares
granted to certain employees of the
Group.

(5) re-classification of redemption liabilities as
set out in Note 25.

e I RAR MR

(BB EHBIN - RARKETIR)

27 BEX - #ERKRE#

() BAE)
EERA(E)
Hret - (&

(iii)

R2024% 12 A308 © AR FREER
FrE#R £ 0 25,000,0000% & M F &
0.00002 = /) & AR IZ T IR T i AR
7. 808 TTHIEIR AT - BHEZ LM
1S3 IB 458 5195,000,00058 7T (HEE
RHAR#180,471,0007T) « BHEF
Fr8 58 A AR 165,952,000t (3
HEERBRETROBKALA
R#14,519,0007L1%) + HR AR
3,0007CEt ARRAIIRASER - 2 T A
R # 165,949,000 7T 5T AR A 7 B 15
HER o

(d) RENEERAR

(i)

Hitvf#
HifmE R AT &IA -

(1) FENBLFACDHRHNK
ARERGHE

2 BRARBTHREZMABR
REENEMRBERHEE

() HBAIEEFERKEIE
2R NTREZEN
=8 Rk

@ MAKEETEERLE
BRI EE RO

(5) BHFE2MEMNEREE
BN -
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(BR=BHHAIN -

27 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(Continued)

(d) Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign
exchange differences arising from the translation
of the financial statements of operations outside
the PRC. The reserve is dealt with in accordance
with the accounting policies set out in Note
2(w).

Statutory reserves

Statutory reserves are established in accordance
with the relevant PRC rules and regulations
and the articles of association of the companies
comprising the Group which are incorporated in
the PRC until the reserve balance reaches 50%
of their registered capital. The transfer to this
reserve must be made before distribution of a
dividend to equity holders.

For the entities concerned, statutory reserves can
be used to cover previous years’ losses, if any,
and may be converted into capital in proportion
to the existing equity interests of equity holders,
provided that the balance of the reserve after
such conversion is not less than 25% of the
entity’s registered capital.

Share premium

Share premium represents difference between
the par value of shares issued and the
consideration received.

HealthyWay Inc. {2 BB HERAT

IAARETITR)

27 EX - RERKRE#)

(d) RENEERBRE)
(i) ERRHE
EXFEEEMERERPEE

INETER PR R MEERNE R
ER o ZHEBRENTE2wW) AT
FIEM S BRERE -

(i) EERE

VRTE W TR AR B R B AR Al S AR
1> DA R AR SR B R AR B R A L
MARMBERMARMERY B
EERRBEREINERARE
MEARES50% © 7 HI B 44
AR AR B A D IRILE A

1T °

HEUMNEEMS  ZERE
AARBEBEFENEBE
B) MAREBEERTEANSE
BRI PIERAEAR - AT
TERERE - FEER
& AR&925% °

RS

TROREEE

RADRE

RO aREEEZETRMOEERED
WREBZEHZEEE -
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27 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(Continued)

(e)

Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing
capital are to safeguard the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern, so that it can continue
to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for
other stakeholders, by pricing products and services
commensurately with the level of risk and by securing
access to finance at a reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages
its capital structure to maintain a balance between
the higher shareholder returns that might be possible
with higher levels of borrowings and the advantages
and security afforded by a sound capital position, and
makes adjustments to the capital structure in light of
changes in economic conditions.

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are
subject to externally imposed capital requirements.

28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS

Exposure to credit, liquidity and interest rate risks arise in

the normal course of the Group’s business. The Group

does not have significant financial instruments that are

denominated in foreign currencies, i.e. a currency other

than the functional currency of the operations to which the

transactions relate as at 31 December 2024 and 2023, and

consequently does not have significant exposure to foreign

currency risk.

27 BEX - #ERKRE#

(e) EXRERE

AEEEREANT R BRRRELAS
BB LML - BER KRB ER
BIKFAVENEERTE - AR BRI AIIG
A FABCRIEREOE  REMLF
siARE R M -

AEEEG L ERER R ERLERLE
B ERSEFUKTFA R RERERR
[B] 3 K FR 2 & AR A SR Y (B 2 SRS
Z RS - IR R 2
BEARLEE -

AR B EAEAAT B A R &SN
BB AR ZSKAAR

8 BXEREERESMIAEAARE

(=}

AEBREEEFBETFELEERR 7
FE @ LR ERE o 72024F K20234F
12A318  AEEWEAINE (AHERFHE
BN EBHTE BB AINIEE)FHENER
CHTAE - Bt WEmMEEEAINERR -
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28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

The Group’s exposure to these risks and the financial risk
management policies and practices used by the Group to
manage these risks are described below.

(a) Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will
default on its contractual obligations resulting in a
financial loss to the Group. The Group’s credit risk is
primarily attributable to trade and other receivables
and contract assets.

The Group's exposure to credit risk arising from cash
and cash equivalents, restricted deposits and other
financial assets is limited because the counterparties
are well-known banks, which the Group considers
representing low credit risk.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced
mainly by the individual characteristics of each
customer rather than the industry or country in which
the customers operate and therefore significant
concentrations of credit risk primarily arise when
the Group has significant exposure to individual
customers. At 31 December 2024, 18.0% (2023:
1.1%) and 35.6% (2023: 29.1%) of the total trade
receivables and contract assets were due from the
Group's largest customer and the Group's five largest
customers respectively.

Individual credit evaluations are performed on all
customers requiring credit over a certain amount.
These take into account the customer’s past payment
history, financial position and other factors. Trade
receivables are practically due within 1 to 30 days from
the issuance of invoice. Normally, the Group does not
obtain collateral from customers.

HealthyWay Inc. {2 BB HERAT

28

BRREERERMIAARE
B

AREBFASNZERRARASEEREE
% 35 [ Fa 1) B 755 R e T R K 18 451 e st 4
—F o

(a) EER

EERRRERSTERESNELM
BYAEEEZWHIEROER - A&
B EERREIEREE S REMER
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AEERERE MRSEHEY - ZRH
FREEMEREENEERBRAR -
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MERSFBNTE - MIEkERPEE
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28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

28 BIEREEREMIAEAAE
B

(a) Credit risk (Continued) (a) EERKE)
The Group measures loss allowances for trade REERESENERARERREFTEN S
receivables and contract assets at an amount equal TR R E EEEN ST 28 HEIGK

to lifetime ECLs, which is calculated using a provision
matrix. As the Group's historical credit loss experience
does not indicate significantly different loss patterns
for different customer segments, the loss allowance
is not further distinguished between the Group’s
different customer bases.

In respect to other receivables at 31 December 2024
and 2023, since the credit risk on other receivable has
not increased significantly since initial recognition,
the Group measures the loss allowance for other
receivable at an amount equal to 12-month expected
credit loss. The Group measures the loss allowance
for other receivables at an amount equal to the
lifetime expected credit loss if the credit risk on other
receivable has increased significantly since initial
recognition.

ARENEENERER - BRAKE
HBEEEERERYER RN TRES
DEHNERNBREAZR - BREMBL
ERARBTREFPEIME— TR

5 .

FR2024F 2202312 A3 1 HAyE A
FEWFIEME - R HEMERFIER(E
ER B VRERET EEEILN -
EEIRAER12EABHEEESED
SRR E At EUGRIER B R R o
HibEYWHIERNEERR 8 VBRI
AIBIGAN - AEEZEER 2 HTEEE
EEENeEI S EMmERFIENEE
B -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e T AR M

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (xS A I * UAREETIR)

28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 28 HKEMEERSMTIAAAE
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL B
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(a) Credit risk (Continued) (a) EERKE)
The following table provides information about the TRIBHN20245F 202312 A31H
Group's exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade REBNE ZRUGRIEREHNEENE
receivables and contract assets as at 31 December ERREEREESHEHER -

2024 and 2023.

As at 31 December 2024
#2024%12A31R
Expected Gross carrying Loss Carrying

loss rate amount allowance amount
BHEEE RHEAE EERE fREE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTRT AR¥TR AR¥ETR

Current (not past due) BNER(FKa ) 106,607 (715) 105,892
Less than 1 year past due BHLRE 11,629 (147) 11,482
1 -2 years past due BEE2E 2,687 (426) 2,261

2 - 3 years past due B E3F 595 (348) 247
More than 3 years past due AHBA3F 557 (557) =

122,075 (2,193) 119,882

As at 31 December 2023

20236124318
Expected  Gross carrying Loss Carrying
loss rate amount allowance amount
BHBEE REAE EERE fREE
% RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

% ARETT ARETE ARETRH

Current (not past due) BNER (K@) 0.6 96,120 (564) 95,556
Less than 1 year past due BEDRE 1.2 17,905 (215) 17,690
1 -2 years past due BENE2E 122 654 (80) 574
2 - 3 years past due B E3E 57.0 149 (85) 64
More than 3 years past due BHEA3F 100.0 579 (579) =

115,407 (1,523) 113,884
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRERME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (& 2A AN » UAREFIR)

28 HIEMREEREMIEAAE
ETE)

28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(a) Credit risk (Continued) (a) EERKE)

Expected loss rates are based on actual loss experience
over the past years. These rates are adjusted to reflect
differences between economic conditions during the
period over which the historic data has been collected,
current conditions and the Group’s view of economic
conditions over the expected lives of the receivables.

In addition to the credit risk management policy
stated above, the Group considers the probability of
default upon initial recognition of assets and considers
whether there has been a significant increase in
credit risk on an ongoing basis. To assess whether
there has been a significant increase in credit risk, the
Group compares the risk of default occurring on an
asset as at the end of each reporting period with the
risk of default as at the date of initial recognition. It
considers reasonable and supportive forward-looking
information that is available. Details of indicators are
disclosed in Note 2(k)(i).

The movement in the allowance for impairment of
trade and other receivables and contract assets during

the year is as follows:

Impairment of trade receivables and contract assets.

BEHERR HENEERFNERER
REERISH - R FL R RIS
JE 52 BB AR MR - BRI K
R 5 B R W SRR TR HR A B R0 AR
WBEEZEHNER -

B B EERBRERBRI - REER
VIREREERZRENHE - XEE
EERBREEFEARENM - REEE
ERBABAEEM  AEEHEHRSE
HIRE B HIRE QM B S 16 7ERR B
HHZ WRBEITH R - AR ERA &
BHAIE RIS ERATIEEER - B1R
BB M EE2(k) ()4 BE

RER - BHMAMERKFKARSNE
EHRERENESHINT -

B I RMFIRREKEERNRIE °

2024 2023

2024%F 20234

RMB’'000 RMB’'000

AR%ET T AREF T

Balance at the beginning of the year F4EH 1,523 1,284
Impairment losses reversed S EETE O (906) (712)
Amounts written off GGkt (116) (152)
Impairment losses recognised BRERRERBE 1,692 1,103
Balance at the end of the year FRERR 2,193 1,523
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e T AR M

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (xS A I * UAREETIR)

28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 28 BiEREEREMIAEAAE

AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL B
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(b) Liquidity risk (b) RBESRER

The Group's policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity
requirements and its compliance with lending
covenants, to ensure that it maintains sufficient
reserves of cash and adequate committed lines of
funding from major financial institutions to meet its
liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

The following tables show the remaining contractual
maturities at the end of each reporting period of
the Group’s financial liabilities, which are based
on contractual undiscounted cash flows (including
interest payments computed using contractual rates
or, if floating, based on rates current at the end of

AEENBRRSEHRERNERDESH
KEEHERZONETIEN - ARER
HRFRANESHBER T ESREE
EENTRESHEE  AneEERK
RHHRBDESER °

TRETASESRAENSREHR
MRIBEHZIHE - ZFEAHNEHAT
RESHAMBRASRE(RRERS
KT BRI BN - i AZEF
o ARBEHREMRORITA R
8]) RAKEANZNSRE BHED

each reporting period) and the earliest date the Group
can be required to pay:

As at 31 December 2024

R2024512A31H
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
BARRBRERER
More than  More than
Within 1yearbut 2 years but Carrying
1 year or less than less than amount at
on demand 2 years 5 years Total 31 December
MERZ 150 E 260k MM12A31H
RER  BR2FR  ERSER et HERE{E
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRT ARBTRT ARETR ARETR ARETR
Bank loans RITER 57,489 956 58,445 56,407
Lease liabilities HEAR 3,515 2,063 7432 6,991
Trade and other payables &5 RE b ENTUA 208,562 = 208,562 208,562

269,566

274,439 271,960
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (& 2A AN » UAREFIR)

28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

28 BIEREEREMIAEAAE

AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL B
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(b) Liquidity risk (Continued) (b) RBELEARE)
As at 31 December 2023
#2023F 128318
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
BORUBARER
More than More than
Within 1 year but 2 years but Carrying
1 year or less than less than amount at
on demand 2 years 5 years Total 31 December
INEARES 1 E 25 E B12A318
BER  ER2FA BRSER Bt HEEE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR
Bank loans BITER 91,615 619 43 92,277 89,020
Lease liabilities HEaRE 3,492 2,163 2,506 8,161 7,586
Trade and other payables &5 R EERZIA 193,885 = = 193,885 193,885
288,992 2,782 2,549 294,323 290,491
(c) Interest rate risk (o) FI=mEpx

Interest rate risk is the risk that future cash flows of a
financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes
in market interest rates. The Group’s interest-bearing
financial liabilities are at fixed interest rates at the end
of the year, including bank loans and lease liabilities,
and the change of market interest rate does not
expose the Group to interest rate risk. Overall, the
Group's exposure to interest rate risk is not significant.

HEERASRIANKIALRER
ATSHERDTRDORB - RF
- ARENE WA B(RERT
EHREERE) REEFEL L - T
TEHERHTE S AR BRI
% - MBS AREEEOTIEER
WREA -

Annual Report 2024 F 3§

255



256

28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL

INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(d) Fair value measurement

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHERME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BHIEAIN © AAREFIR)

28 BIEREEREMIAEAAE
B

(d) DAREEFE

(i) Financial assets and liabilities measured at (i) BRAAEBEITENEMEER
fair value =L
Fair value hierarchy NABEER

IFRS 13, Fair value measurement, requires the

KU IMEERF 135 - A

fair value of the Group’s financial instruments BEAEATISESCHTADN
measured at the end of the reporting period PAEE  ZETARRERR

on a recurring basis, categorised into the three-
level fair value hierarchy as defined in IFRS 13.

AR EMEETE - WIRRER
B RELENFEBROER=ME

The level into which a fair value measurement NABEER - BARBEITE

is classified is determined with reference to the
observability and significance of the inputs used
in the valuation technique as follows:

— Level 1 valuations:

B EARKME

— Level 2 valuations:

— ECERKME

— Level 3 valuations:

- EEERAE

HealthyWay Inc. {2 BB HERAT

HRMZRTESE U THES
R RBAREN T BRIERE
BB -

Fair value measured using only Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted prices in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities at the measurement date.
BEAE R AR GINGEAARREESE BRNERMISRER
BIRE)FENDAEE-

Fair value measured using Level 2 inputs i.e. observable inputs which fail to
meet Level 1, and not using significant unobservable inputs. Unobservable
inputs are inputs for which market data are not available.
ERFE_ERBAZE (AR ERE - ERNABERARE) B IEER
BEN TR BREABBTENANEE - TAIBERBARERETSEIE
B8 A\ BUE o

Fair value measured using significant unobservable inputs.

EREENTAERBABEENAAEE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRERME

(BB EHBIN - RARKETIR)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 28 BIEMEERESMIAEAARE

AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL B
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(d) Fair value measurement (Continued) (d) AREEEE)
(i)  Financial assets and liabilities measured at () BEAAEBEAEVNEREER
fair value (Continued) E%(ﬁ)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

Fair value measurements as at

31 December 2024 categorised into

Fair value measurements as at
31 December 2023 categorised into

20245128318 120235128318
AENARERETE PENALEETE
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
F-BR ETER  ESER Ol
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETZ ARBTT NS SRN S pUN:S S
Recurring fair value FEMEETE
measurements
Assets: EE:
- Wealth management ~ —EBBIER (#7718

products (Note 18)

At 31 December 2024 and 2023, there were
no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2, or
transfers into or out of Level 3. The Group’s
policy is to recognise transfers between levels
of fair value hierarchy as at the end of each
reporting year in which they occur.

F20244F % 202312 A318 -
WHRE-—BREZE_ER2ME
R TEEASELEE=E
B REERMBRE DR EBEE
REFERERAABEERZ
FEEJE"]L% °

Information about Level 3 fair value BFHEE=ERALEETEL
measurements BH

The wealth management products that are BRAABESEEEZHTHAE
measured at fair value through profit and loss, BV ES  EAAEERA

the fair value is determined by calculating
based on the discounted cash flow method
using risk-adjusted discount rates. The fair value
measurement is negatively correlated to the risk
adjusted discount rate. At 31 December 2024
and 2023,
variables held constant, changes in risk adjusted

it is estimated that, with all other

discount rate would not have any significant
financial impact.

& [, ﬂﬂ%%%ﬁ%'&%ﬁﬁ
SMEEFTEETE - AAEEE
EHLERARNNREZEE
ﬁ% 5A2024¢ &2023¢1ZH 31

&E’JI AN ﬁ‘«ﬂﬁ’*%ﬂ%ﬂﬁﬂﬁfﬁ

REPTEELTMNERAMHER
&,
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e T ERAR MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BHIEAIN © AAREFIR)

28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(d) Fair value measurement (Continued)

(ii) Fair value of financial assets and liabilities
carried at other than fair value

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial
assets and liabilities carried at cost or amortised
cost are not materially different from their fair
values at 31 December 2024 and 2023.

29 COMMITMENTS

There were no material capital commitments outstanding
not provided for in the consolidated financial statements.

30 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(@) Name of and relationship with related
parties

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023,
transactions with the following parties are considered
as significant related party transactions:

Name of party
BB SRS AR

Mr. Zhang Wanneng
REREEE

Baidu and its subsidiaries and other related companies
("Baidu Group”)
BEREMBARREMBFAAR(EESE])

Zhongjian Xinlian (Xiamen)

EF R 2SR

Affluent Base Limited
BEEBERATA

258 HealthyWay Inc. {2 BB HERAT

28 BIEREEREMIAEAAE

BE®)

(d) DAREEEE)

(i) AFBRAAEBEIRNEHE
EREBENQREE

720244 % 2023412 A318 -
AN ER B HR A AN S S AR AN B BR Y
THEERABBENREERAAD
AREBEZETESERESR -

29 JRIE

BRI ENAR & M IS MR TR B A RR
HIRERNEARALE -

30 BEALXRS

() BBAEMNE EBRABRR

HZE2024F 2023F 12 A31H IEF
[ EBTARF R SR AE NS
RS

Relationship

B#

Ultimate controlling shareholder of the Company

AR BB AR

A shareholder with significant influence over the
Company

HARRBERTZENHNBER

An associate of the Company

RNRREEE AT

The immediate controlling party of the Company

Z/NCIEOI=EE S Do)



30 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e I RAR MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (& 2A AN » UAREFIR)

(b) Key management personnel remuneration (b)

(c)

Remuneration for key management personnel of the
Group, including amounts paid to the Company’s
directors as disclosed in Note 8 and certain of the
highest paid employees as disclosed in Note 9, is as

follows:

Short-term employee benefits RS EN

Contributions to retirement benefit RIREFIFTBIHEER
scheme

30 BB &)

FAREEASNHMH

AT RASERREEABNEH - 2
hEEMESRENCNARRES
WL - ARMFIREENENET
REHMERNSE :

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETTT

1,038 1,261

22 20

1,281

Total remuneration is included in “staff costs” (see
Note 6(b)).

Significant related party transactions (0

The particulars of significant transactions between the
Group and the above related parties during the years
are as follows:

Fame st AT B IA J(RMEE
6(b)) °

EXBBAIRS

AEEE DRI RN ERANEAR S
BT

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T T AREF T

17,417

Provision of service to AT &7 IR AR 5
— Baidu Group —BELE
Advances to related parties: ) B EG 77 E K

— Zhongjian Xinlian (Xiamen) — EFI RS

All of the transactions above were carried out on
terms as agreed between the transacting parties.

B EIR SR 5% R e
7
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHERME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (Bk 5B &iEASN -

30 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

31

(d) Significant balances with related parties

Trade receivables from related parties FEUREREE S B 5 508

IAARETITR)

30 BEARRZE (&)

(d) ERBLTHEXRLGER

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT AREF T

— Baidu Group —HAEEE 1,465

Non-trade *ES

Amounts due from related parties FE Uit BE B 5 FRIE

— Zhongjian Xinlian (Xiamen) — EPIR R E -

— Baidu Group —BESE 27

27

Amounts due to shareholders FE{T R RARIE

— Mr. Zhang Wanneng —RERELLE 663

— Affluent Base Limited —BHEBERAF 3,597
4,260

All of the balances are unsecured, interest-free and
repayable on demand at the end of each reporting
year.

(e) Bank loans guaranteed by related parties

Guarantees provided by a shareholder relating to bank
loans were disclosed in Note 23(ii).

IMMEDIATE AND ULTIMATE
CONTROLLING PARTY

At 31 December 2024 and 2023, the directors consider the
immediate and ultimate controlling party is Affluent Base
Limited and Mr. Zhang Wanneng respectively.

HealthyWay Inc. @R Z R HBRA A

31

REBREFER  AAGHREREE
A RERIREREER -

(e) MBS ERAVBITER
PRI ERIRTT B AR R RO BRI MY E
23(i)# 57 -

BEERRKESTS

N20244F %2023 128318 - EERAH
BERSBREF DR ALEER AT NERS
RESTAE o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e TR

32 COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF

FINANCIAL POSITION

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

2024
20245
Note RMB’000
kA ARET T
Non-current asset ERBEE
Interests in subsidiaries  AWEAEES N 1723476
Current assets REEE
Other receivables H tib e W I8 32(a) 172
Prepayment TERTFRIA -
Cash and cash equivalents HeRREEEY 167,984
____________________________________________________________________________ 168,156
Current liabilities REBEE
Amounts due to a subsidiary FEAS — IR B A B 5RIE 32(b)
Amounts due to shareholders JEH IR SR FRIE 32(b)
Redemption liabilities BREE 25
____________________________________________________________________________ 69,109
NET CURRENT ASSETS/(LIABILITIES)  RBEE /(Rf)F#H 99,047
NET ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) EEFE(AETFH) 1,822,523
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BEERR#EE
Share capital [i&N 27(c) 96
Reserves it 27(a) 1,822,427
TOTAL EQUITY R 1,822,523

(BB -

AARETIR)

32 REIEENMHRRE

2023
20234
RMB’000
ARETTT

1,709,339

51,138
1,756
1,713,254

1,766,148

(1,759,702)

(50,363)

93
(50,456)

(50,363)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e T AR M

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (Fx 2A SN » UAREETIR)

32 COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF 32 AREEMNBBERREE)
FINANCIAL POSITION (continued)
(a) Other receivables: (a) HbpEurFiE :

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREBT T

Other receivables H fib e Iz I8 172 3,472
All of the other receivables are expected to be BT 78 EAth FE W R IR TE BR — S Rk el 5k
recovered or recognised as expense within one year or MR BRY  SBERERKERER -

repayable on demand.

(b) Other payables: (b) HENRIEA:

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBT T

Amounts due to a subsidiary (Note (i) FEAS —FEIFT B 2 Rl 5RIE

(B1aa) 51,138
Amounts due to shareholders (Note (i)  FETRRERZIB(A7aE()) 1,756
52,894
Notes: Bfat -
(i) The amounts are non-trade nature, unsecured, (i) UREAIEESME BmIEE 28
interest-free and repayable on demand. MERERKERER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRERME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (& 2A AN » UAREFIR)

33 POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, 33 RERCBEMHE R RERPE
NEW STANDARDS AND 7] FEARRENBERE

INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT NOT YET
EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR

Up to the date of this report, the IASB has issued a number BEEAHE A BReTEABEEEEHR
of amendments and a new standard, which have not been BT R —IENER - ERZETHR
adopted in these financial statements. These developments KPWERN - ZEEFHEEUTAE :

include the following:

Effective for accounting
periods beginning on or after
RUT Bz #%
R E RN

Amendments to IAS 21, The effects of changes in foreign exchange rates — 1 January 2025
Lack of exchangeability

B et ERE21 R (BTN EXEEH T E —h= il L R4 202551 A1H

Amendments to IFRS 9 Financial instruments and IFRS 7, Financial instruments: 1 January 2026

disclosures — Amendments to the classification and measurement of
financial instruments

BUFR B s AR 95 (18R] AR ) 4 LA R BIR B 5 a5 YE RSB 758 20261 A1H
ST A : #E-ReHTANSERGTEMEET

Annual Improvements to IFRS Accounting Standards — Volume 11 1 January 2026
BRI RS ER S ERIFEUE —F 111 20261 R1H
IFRS 18, Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements 1 January 2027
BUFR B ¥R 5 2RI B\ 8SR AT R K 2 H R 15 2B 20271 A1H
IFRS 19, Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: Disclosures 1 January 2027
BN B s i 5 LE RSB 195N R R AT & (LM B 2 AlAT R 55 20271 A1H
The Group is in the process of making an assessment of RNEE I FFETEZEEE N YA ER RN
what the impact of these developments is expected to be in JEHARZ c B HAIAIL - HiEmRm AN
the period of initial application. So far it has concluded that EERH A UG A ERERELEERY
the adoption of them is unlikely to have a significant impact 2,

on the consolidated financial statements.
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SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION
MBERBE

Year ended 31 December

BE12A31HLEE
2021 2022 2023 2024
20214F 20224 20234 20245
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T AREFTT ARETT BUNEEEET
Revenue A 431,305 569,068 1,244,458 1,200,775
Gross profit EF 173,473 245,795 398,236 365,911
(Loss)/profit from operations K (EsE),/
IE (66,441) 10,916 7,160 13,742
Loss for the year/period F/HNEE (155,307) (255,639) (313,882) (269,158)
Attributable to: AN ARG :
Equity shareholders of PN 20
our Company (157,223) (258,131) (310,079) (268,456)
Non-controlling interests FEPEAR AR 1,916 2,492 (3,803) (702)
Adjusted net profit R FEFE
(non-IFRS measure) (JEER PR BT 7S 3R
HEHFE) 486 23,919 39,411 22,764
As of 31 December
BE12A31HLEE
2021 2022 2023 2024
20214F 20224F 20234 20244
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBTIT AREFTT ARETT BUNEEEET
Total current assets MENEERE 117,094 165,944 338,950 454,781
Total current liabilities MEN BB 1,326,207 1,641,006 2,060,824 340,409

Net current assets/(liabilities)  REIEE,

(BE)FHE (1,209,113)  (1,475,062)  (1,721,874) 114,372
Total non-current asset JEmEEERE 13,534 36,705 74,738 122,045
Total non-current liabilities EmEIaERRE 3,647 2,433 4,916 4,629
Net non-current assets ERBEEFE 9,887 34,272 69,822 117,416
Net assets/(liabilities) BEFE

(BE)FHE (1,199,226)  (1,440,790)  (1,652,052) 231,788

Total equity attributable to AAREFERR

equity shareholders of our (L 4 EE
Company (1,205,725) (1,448,939) (1,657,777) 226,765
Non-controlling interests R R 6,499 8,149 5,725 5,023

Note: The Shares of the Company were listed on the Main Board of the  AfaF : ZRA A B 12024912 A30 B REE R AT E R
Stock Exchange on 30 December 2024. Fre
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